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City of Sidney

Letter of Transmittal for 2022 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

July 31, 2023
Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council and Citizens of the Sidney, Ohio:

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the City of Sidney, Ohio for the year
ended December 31, 2022, is hereby submitted for your review.

Ohio law requires that cities file their annual financial reports with the Ohio Auditor of State’s
office. Additionally, the Ohio Administrative Code requires that those reports be prepared pursuant to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of this
ACFR represents the commitment of the City of Sidney to adhere to nationally recognized standards
of excellence in financial reporting.

City of Sidney staff prepared all statements, schedules, and other presentations in this report.
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information
contained in this report, based on a comprehensive framework of internal control established for this
purpose. Since the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any
material misstatements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent
auditor’s report and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial
statements. MD&A complement this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

The independent accounting firm of Clark Schaefer Hackett audited the basic financial
statements of the City of Sidney that are included in this report. The financial statements have
received an unmodified (“clean) opinion. The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of
the financial section of this report. The audit was designed to meet the requirements of the Federal
Single Audit Act and the related Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). The auditors’ report on internal controls and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations can be found in a separately issued single audit report.
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PROFILE OF THE CITY

The City of Sidney contains approximately 12.1 square miles and is located in west central Ohio,
approximately 37 miles north of Dayton, 85 miles west of Columbus, 100 miles south of Toledo, and
120 miles east of Indianapolis. The City is serviced by Interstate 75 and State Routes 29 and 47, as
well as CSX and Conrail railroads. The City of Sidney is the county seat of Shelby County and is
the only city within the county.

The City’s population growth trend City of Sidney Population
averaged an 11.0% increase per decade from 1950-2020
1950 to 2010. The 2020 Census reported a total 25,000,
population of 20,589, a decrease of 3.0% over 20,000-
the 2010 census. This trend mirrors Shelby 15,0004
County’s 2020 census with a population of ’
48,230, which experienced a 2.4% decrease in 10,0001
population since 2010. 5,000+
0+

. . . 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020
Municipal Services and Facilities

Sidney is a total service community providing a broad range of services for the citizens of the
community, including: police and fire protection; emergency medical / ambulance services; water
treatment and distribution; sanitary sewer and waste water treatment services; storm water monitoring
and management; street construction and maintenance; refuse / garbage collection and disposal; parks
and recreation facilities and programs; operation and maintenance of a municipal cemetery; operation
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and maintenance of a municipal airport; and operation and maintenance of a county-wide transit
system.

Governmental Organization

In 1954, the voters of Sidney adopted a charter and approved a council-manager form of
government. Accordingly, the City may exercise all powers of local self-government under the Ohio
Constitution to the extent not in conflict with applicable general laws of the State. This form of
“home rule” provides a great measure of local administrative and legislative control and efficiencies
while maintaining direct participation by the residents of the community.

The legislative authority of the City is vested in a seven-member Council. Three members are
elected at large and four represent specific wards of the City. Council members are elected to over-
lapping four-year terms. The Council enacts legislation to provide for City services, adopts budgets,
levies taxes, borrows money, licenses and regulates businesses and trades, and performs such other
duties consistent with the Charter. The presiding officer of the Council is the Mayor, who is a
member of Council. The Mayor is elected to that position by a vote of the Council members. Council
positions, including the Mayor, are part-time positions. The chief executive and administrative
officer of the City is the City Manager, who is appointed for an indefinite term and serves at the
pleasure of Council.

Budgetary Controls

City Council adopts an annual budget for all funds and approves subsequent amendments to that
budget as needed. The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial control. The
“legal level of control” is the level of detail as approved by Council in its appropriation ordinances.
Total expenditures and encumbrances cannot exceed the amount approved by Council at the legal
level of control. Legal level of control for the City of Sidney is based on object of expenditure for
each department as follows: 1) Personal Services and 2) Contractual, Materials and Other.

As a budgetary control, a purchasing control system is maintained which generally requires that
an applicable appropriation be encumbered, or reserved, before a purchase may be made or a contract

executed.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK

Economic Environment - Historically

Sidney’s history as a strong industrial center is rooted in its strategic location. The construction
of the Miami-Erie Canal between 1825 and 1837 connected Sidney with the major trade centers in
Ohio to the north and south. The need for labor to construct the canals provided an influx of settlers
to the area. The opening of the canal in 1837 brought an increase in regional trade and the first
significant period of economic growth in Sidney. As the influence of the canal declined, railroads
emerged. East-west rail began to be laid in Sidney in 1851, followed by north-south rail in 1856. The
rail system offered a more rapid and economical means of transport for goods and passengers, further
enhancing growth in Sidney. Sidney is still served by these railroad lines today. The construction of
I-75 through Sidney in 1962 was another major event in the City’s development. Creating a
transportation link between Michigan and Florida, the interstate sparked an inflow of automobile-
related factories, as well as warehouse and distribution facilities. Today, Sidney has four interchanges
on Interstate 75, providing quick and convenient access for both commercial and industrial users.
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The local economy grew at a robust pace from 1962 through 1999, reflected by an average
growth rate in the City of Sidney income tax base of 8.0% per year. Average annual growth dropped
to an anemic 0.4% during the decade from 2000 to 2009 which the City lost nearly 20% of its tax
base over a two-year period from 2007 to 2009. During the last decade (2010-2019), Sidney’s tax
base recovered from the Great Recession and increased approximately 3.7% per year. The volatility
in tax base experienced in 2017 through 2019 can be traced to two large taxpayers changing their
estimated taxable income from one tax year to the next. At the start of the current decade (2020) the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic had a major impact on income taxes which decreased 10.8% from
2019. In 2021, the income taxes returned to above pre-pandemic levels reflecting a 6.9% over 2019
and 19.8% over 2020. Income taxes for 2022 continued to rebound another 15.2% over 2021.

City of Sidney Income Tax 1962-2022
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2022 Economic Activity and Outlook for the Future

Sidney is a City with fundamental strengths — interstate highway location, a large and diverse
industrial foundation, stable political environment, long-term close relationship between City
government and the private sector, developable land, and capacity to provide services as the City
Srows.

The City of Sidney has a strong industrial base that is diversified and not dependent upon one
sector of the economy. Shelby County has the highest percentage (38%) of manufacturing jobs per
capita of all counties in Ohio.



The ten largest employers operating within the City in 2022 were:

Average
number of
Employer Primary Business employees
Emerson Climate Technologies Air compressor manufacturing 1,414
Wilson Health Acute care facility 795
NK Parts Industries Test, assemble, and ship auto parts 555
Freshway Foods Processor of fresh foods 400
American Trim Auto and appliance stamping 325
Area Energy & Electric, Inc Electrical, heating & plumbing services 321
Advanced Composites Plastic supplier to automotive industry 301
Sidney City Board of Education Public education 305
Cargill Soybean crush and refined oils facility 305
Ferguson Construction Co General contracting, commercial, and industrial 292

construction services
Source: Sidney-Shelby Economic Partnership

In addition, a Honda of America Mfg., Inc. auto engine plant with approximately 3,000
employees is located just eight miles outside of the City. It is Honda’s largest engine plant in the
world and significantly benefits the City’s industrial, commercial, residential and income tax bases.
Honda is a major source of income tax revenue for the City because it employs a large number of
Sidney residents. Honda withholds City income tax on its employees who reside in the City.

The City utilizes, where appropriate, the creation of Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) areas
and related CRA tax abatements and Enterprise Zone abatements (EZ). Both EZ’s and CRA’s are
economic development tools designed to provide property tax abatement. Sidney has five CRA areas
that were created since 1994, one of which is the downtown area. The downtown area CRA boundary
has been expanded adding the ability to abate 100% of the increased property taxes for fifteen years
for remodeling or new construction of one- and two-family dwellings and increase the abatement of
new or existing commercial structures from ten years to fifteen years. Other development programs,
such as the Shelby County Land Reutilization Corporation, or land bank, and the City’s vacant
property registration program, have been designed to help to stop deterioration and stabilize
neighborhoods and preserve and protect the property values of existing properties. The establishment
of a Revitalization District is key to developing new dining options in the downtown area by allowing
additional liquor permits which led to a Designated Outdoor Refreshment Area (DORA) being
established in 2020.

The City works to promote and encourage economic development. The City makes available a
Municipal Job Creation Income Tax Credit program and a Municipal Job Retention Grant Program.
Where appropriate, the City utilizes tax increment financing (TIF) as an economic development tool
to help grow our community. The City’s first TIF arrangement, entered into during 2006, opened up
approximately 43 acres on the west end of the City for commercial development. The TIF
arrangement is an economic development tool that, in this case, financed the elimination of the sewer
pump station at the corner of Vandemark Road and Fair Road and the construction of a 24” extension
of the Southwest Sanitary Sewer Interceptor. In 2007, the City arranged its second TIF arrangement
to finance the construction of water and sewer infrastructure that not only allowed an area
manufacturer to relocate its operations within the City, but also opened up an additional 290 acres for
possible future industrial development. In 2009, another TIF arrangement was approved to finance
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future construction of public infrastructure to serve the Echo Business Center subdivision located on
Vandemark Road.

Sidney’s largest employer, Emerson Climate Technologies, is in the process of a four-year $100
million expansion and renovation of their labs and offices in Sidney. The first phase, completed in
2019, included the construction of a two-story 20,000 square foot office addition, a new main entry
and guard house, and exterior refacing of the building. Phase two of construction is underway which,
when complete, will add 110,000 square feet of engineering lab and testing space. Such space will
provide a cutting-edge environment to conduct advanced performance and refrigerants testing with
compressors, controls, electronics and other products. To ensure project success, the City provided
three types of economic development assistance — partnering with the Dayton-Montgomery County
Port Authority to essentially provide Emerson with sales tax relief on the materials purchased for the
renovation, granting a four-year Municipal Income Tax Job Retention Tax Credit, and awarding a
ten-year, 75% Enterprise Zone (EZ) property tax abatement on the increased value of the
improvements.

In 2019, Cargill, Inc. announced plans to invest approximately $225 million at their Sidney site,
increasing its integrated soybean crush capacity and modernizing its operations. When completed,
the Sidney facility will be the largest soybean crushing facility in North America. As a significant
water user, the City assisted Cargill by offering them the City’s Business Water Rate Rebate Program.
This new “tool” in the City’s economic development tool box offers a sliding discount on their
additional water usage over a 10-year period. This program is reserved for either existing businesses
that increase their water usage by at least 20% and use more than 100,000 ccf annually or new
businesses that use more than 100,000 ccf annually. The City also awarded Cargill a 10-year, 75%
Enterprise Zone (EZ) property tax abatement on the increased value of the property improvements.

According to 2020 United States Census Data, Shelby County realizes a net gain of 5,140
workers on a daily basis. While Sidney and Shelby County import a significant portion of their
workers, surrounding counties realize a net loss. Miami County sustains a net loss of 7,850 workers
per day, Darke County losses 6,925 workers, Champaign County losses 5,198 workers, Logan County
losses 2,011 workers, and Auglaize County losses a net 1,433 workers each day.

Another factor that contributes to the growth and stability in Sidney is a spirit of cooperation
between the public and private sectors. The Sidney-Shelby Economic Partnership (SSEP) is a non-
profit corporation organized to create more employment opportunities and retain the existing
employment base in the Sidney and Shelby County area. As a response to area employers seeking
qualified employees to fill positions, SSEP introduced and continues to develop the Workforce
Academy. The Academy works in the Sidney City School system to introduce students to the various
careers available teaching them the skills necessary to enter those careers. The program has grown
from 50 students to over 1,900 students.

To encourage further economic growth, the City has reserved vacant acreage considered choice
industrial sites in an Industrial Zoning Classification. These sites generally have all utilities within
connection distance. For six years now (2016 to 2021) the City of Sidney has been listed in the
prestigious Top 100 Micropolitan list by Site Selection magazine. Sidney was ranked 19" in 2021.
Site Selection’s award focuses on new corporate facility projects with significant impact, including
headquarters, manufacturing plants, research & development operations and logistics sites, among
others. The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has identified 551 micropolitans in the United
States. The OMB defines a micropolitan statistical area as one or more adjacent counties that has one
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urban core area (a city) of at least 10,000, but less than 50,000, plus adjacent territory that has a high
degree of social and economic integration with the core (measured by commuting ties).

The City had one such certified site — the Sidney Ohio Industrial Park. In May 2022, this site was
sold to SEMCorp. Sidney landed the biggest foreign commercial investment in Ohio history.
SEMCorp during the initial phase will establish an 850,000 square foot manufacturing facility to
produce lithium-ion battery separator film. This company plans to have 1,200 workers by the year
2025. This manufacturer will be primarily involved in the electric vehicle industry and energy storage
supply chains. To ensure project success, the City provided economic development assistance by
granting a ten-year Municipal Income Tax Job Creation Tax Credit, and awarding a ten-year, 75%
Enterprise Zone (EZ) property tax abatement on the increased value of the improvements.

A second certified site — the Amos Industrial Park — was sold to a MSGA development in late
2020. Ground breaking began in September 2021 for the new Burr Oak Subdivision. This site will
be comprised of 238 lots which includes 222 single family residential lots, two multi-family lots and
six commercial lots. This is the city’s first major residential subdivision development in
approximately 30 years. The City entered into a tax incremental financing (TIF) district for this
project to help with this economic development.

Another potential redevelopment site of 5.4 acres is - the Wagner Site. To clear this current
Wagner site a $2 million brownfield redevelopment funds has been awarded from the State of Ohio.
Once the site is demolished and environmental remediation is complete this will be available for
redevelopment.

Focuses on Long —Term Planning and Financial Policies

The City Council and staff of the City of Sidney are committed to making financial decisions
based on a long-term perspective and rooted in sound financial policies. City Council has adopted a
comprehensive set of financial policies covering subjects such as fund balance reserves, debt, user
charge coverage, and budget-balancing strategies. Council and staff review these policies each year.
Those policies act as guardrails around the decisions made by staff and Council. One very important
such policy is that the City will maintain a long-term focus in its financial planning activities. Toward
that end, City Council adopts an annual update to a five-year capital and operating financial plan.

The product of the five-year plan is a set of strategies for maintaining financial stability and
compliance with our financial policies. The City has used this planning process to make early
identification of financial trends and timely implementation of financial strategies to counteract the
impact of economic downturns. Mid-year updates of the five-year financial plan were first utilized
during the Great Recession and at various points since that time when faced with unanticipated
revenue declines. The goal is to make timely expenditure reductions as necessary to maintain fiscal
stability for now and the future.

Standard & Poor’s has acknowledged the City’s “strong financial management policies” and in
2009 upgraded the City’s bond rating to AA. Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed that rating in 2010, 2011,
2013, and 2014 and again in 2020. City staff and Council are committed to making the financial
adjustments necessary to maintain the strong financial position of the City.
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Major Initiatives
For the Year and the Future:

e In November 2019, Sidney’s voters approved a 0.15% five-year additional income tax
restricted for the construction, reconstruction, resurfacing and maintenance of streets, alleys,
bridges, and related curbs and gutters. This additional tax began with tax year 2020 and
sunsets with tax year 2024. During the same November 2019 ballot, Sidney voters did not
approve the requested 0.15% permanent additional income tax for the building and staffing
of a third fire station. Funding for such a third station is dependent upon voters’ approval of
a tax levy.

e The American Rescue Plan Act (ARP) passed in March of 2021 provides additional financial
relief to address the continued impact of COVID-19 on the economy. The City is expected
to receive approximately $2.15 million. These funds which will be paid in two payments are
restricted by the U.S Treasury guidelines the City received the first payment in mid-2021
and the second payment in mid-2022. These funds are required to be encumbered by
December 31, 2024.

At all times during this process, the financial planning is based upon a five-year future period
and maintenance of cash reserves in accordance with the City’s cash reserves policy over the
five-year planning period.

AWARDS

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting. The Government Finance
Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement
for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Sidney for its annual comprehensive financial
report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. In order to be awarded a Certificate of
Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized annual
comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy both accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for one year only. The City of Sidney has received the
Certificate of Achievement for twenty-four consecutive years. We believe that this annual
comprehensive financial report for the year ended December 31, 2022 continues to meet the
Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we will submit it to the GFOA to determine
its eligibility for another certificate.

Distinguished Budget Presentation Award. The City received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget
Presentation Award for its annual budget document for 2022, the twenty-third consecutive year the
City has received this award. In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award,
the City’s budget document was judged proficient in several categories, including as a policy
document, a financial plan, an operations guide, and a communications device.
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The preparation of this report was made possible by the efforts of the Finance Department staff,

including Jennifer Wagner, Purchasing Agent, and Lori Rittenhouse, Payroll Coordinator. Special
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of the financial statements. Our sincere appreciation is extended to all members of the City of Sidney
staff, whose efforts have made this report possible.

Finally, special thanks are extended to Mayor Martha Milligan and all City Council members
whose support enables the City of Sidney to strive for excellence in its financial reporting and to
maintain high standards of financial integrity.

Respectfully submitted,

Rerée DuLaney, CP

Finance Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

City Council

City of Sidney, Ohio
201 West Poplar Street
Sidney, Ohio 45365

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Sidney, Ohio (the “City”), as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of December 31, 2022, and the
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to
meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

cshco.com



Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we
e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control—related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison schedules and the required pension and OPEB
schedules, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.



Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying nonmajor combining statements and
individual fund schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the nonmajor combining statements and individual fund schedules
are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information
comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 31, 2023
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Clark, faéaafaﬁ; Hackett & O,

Springfield, Ohio
July 31, 2023



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Unaudited

The management of the City of Sidney provides the following information as an introduction,
overview and analysis of the City’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. Readers
should also review the basic financial statements on pages 16— 26 to further enhance their understanding of
the City’s financial performance.

Using this Annual Financial Report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements and notes to those statements. These
statements are organized so the reader can first understand the City of Sidney as a financial whole. The
statements then proceed to provide an increasingly detailed look at specific financial information.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities (referred to collectively as the
government-wide statements) provide information about the activities as an entire operating entity,
presenting both an aggregate view of the City’s finances and a longer-term view of those assets. Major
fund statements provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds, these statements tell how services
were financed in the short-term as well as what dollars remain for future spending. The proprietary funds’
statements are prepared on the same basis as the government-wide statements.

Reporting on the City of Sidney as a Whole

Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities

These government-wide statements answer the question, “How did the City as a whole do financially
during 2022?” They are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, much the same way as for a private
enterprise. This basis of accounting includes all assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources and takes into account all of the reporting year’s revenues and expenses
regardless of when the cash was received or paid.

o The Statement of Net Position. This statement (page 16) reports all assets and deferred outflows of
resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of the City as of December 31, 2022. The
difference between total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources is reported as “net position”. Over time, increases in net position generally
indicate an improvement in financial position while decreases may indicate a deterioration of financial
position.

o The Statement of Activities. This statement (page 17) serves the purpose of the traditional income
statement. It provides consolidated reporting of the results of all activities of the City for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Changes in net position are recorded in the period in which the underlying
event takes place, which may differ from the period in which cash is received or disbursed. The
Statement of Activities displays the expense of the City’s various programs net of related revenues, as
well as a separate presentation of revenues available for general purposes.

Both of the government-wide statements distinguish functions of the City of Sidney that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges
(business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, police, fire,
judicial, street repair and maintenance, community development and parks. The business-type activities of
the City include water, sewer, solid and yard waste collection, stormwater, public transportation, airport,
and swimming pool.

Reporting on the City of Sidney’s Most Significant Funds

Fund financial statements

These statements provide financial position and results of the City’s major funds. A fund is an
accounting entity created to account for a specific activity or purpose. Major funds of the City of Sidney
are the General Fund, Street Repair & Maintenance Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, Municipal Earned
Income Tax for Street Capital Fund, Water Fund, Sewer Fund, and Stormwater Fund. The creation of some
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funds is mandated by law and others are created by management to demonstrate financial compliance with
budgetary or legal requirements. Funds are classified into three broad categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for “governmental-type” activities.
Unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund statements use a “flow of
financial resources” measurement focus. That is to say, the operating statement of a governmental
fund attempts to answer the question “Are there more or less resources that can be spent in the near
future as a result of events and transactions of the reporting period?” Increases in spendable resources
are reported in the operating statement as “revenues” or “other financing sources.” Decreases in
spendable resources are reported as “expenditures” or “other financing uses.” We describe the
differences between governmental funds and governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net
Position and the Statement of Activities) in reconciliations presented beside the governmental fund
financial statements on pages 19 and 21.

The City of Sidney maintains 38 separate governmental funds. The governmental fund financial
statements on pages 18 and 20 separately display the governmental funds considered to be major
funds. All other governmental funds - the “non-major” funds - are combined into a single column.
Detailed financial data for each of the non-major governmental funds is provided in combining
statements in the supplementary information section of this report.

Proprietary funds. There are two types of proprietary funds: enterprise funds and internal service
funds.

o Enterprise funds — These funds are used to account for operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises for which either 1) the intent is
that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) be recovered primarily through user charges,
or 2) determination of net income is appropriate for management control, accountability or
other purposes.

The City of Sidney’s Water Fund, Sewer Fund, and Stormwater Fund are all considered to be
major funds and are displayed separately in the proprietary fund statements on pages 22
through 24. The City has five other proprietary funds, the activities of which are combined
into one column for non-major funds.

o Internal service funds — Often, governments wish to allocate the cost of providing certain
centralized services (e.g., fleet maintenance, revenue collections, information technology) to
the other departments of the government entity that use the services. An internal service fund
is the appropriate accounting mechanism when it is the intent of the government to recover
the full cost of providing the service through user charges to other departments.

The City of Sidney’s five internal service funds are combined into a single column in the
proprietary fund financial statements. Detailed financial data for those funds can be found in
the combining statements in the supplementary information section of this report.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the City government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs.
The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Of the City of Sidney’s six fiduciary funds, three are custodial funds and three are private-purpose trust
funds. The custodial funds are combined and shown as a single column as well as private-purpose
trust funds are combined into a single column in the fiduciary statement of net position, on page 25 of
this report. The statement of changes in fiduciary net position reported on page 26 includes the
custodial fund report in a separate column and the private-purpose trust funds reported in a single
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column. Detailed financial data for the custodial funds can be found in the combining statements in the
supplementary information section of this report.

Other Information

Notes to the basic financial statements.

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the
government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic financial statements can be found
on pages 27— 67 of this report.

Required supplementary information.

In addition to the basic financial statements and notes, this report also contains required supplementary
information (RSI). Included in the RSI is the proportionate share of net pension/OPEB asset or liability
and schedule of pension/OPEB payment amounts. RSI also contains the budgetary schedules for the
General Fund and major special revenue funds. This data is on pages 68 to 79 of this report.

The City of Sidney as a Whole

The following table presents condensed information on net position as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
Net Position
December 31, 2022 and 2021

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2022 2021 022 021 022 2021

Assets:
Current and other assets $ 39,980,814 $ 34,223,337 $§ 26,911,500 $§ 24,063,468 § 66,892,314 § 58,286,805
Capital assets 71,460,570 69,158,534 97,021,010 97,510,906 168,481,580 166,669,440

Total assets 111,441,384 103,381,871 123,932,510 121,574,374 235,373,894 224,956,245
Deferred outflows 7,551,283 5,220,766 674,969 579,079 8,226,252 5,799,845
Total assets and

deferred outflows 118,992,667 108,602,637 124,607,479 122,153,453 243,600,146 230,756,090
Liabilities:
Current and other liabilities 5,534,853 3,537,746 2,206,634 1,913,001 7,741,487 5,450,747
Long-term liabilities 3,532,650 4,119,886 44,136,147 46,523,262 47,668,797 50,643,148
Net pension liability 18,378,282 22,078,577 1,498,600 2,642,308 19,876,882 24,720,885
Net OPEB liability 2,675,925 2,623,283 - - 2,675,925 2,623,283

Total liabilities 30,121,710 32,359,492 47,841,381 51,078,571 77,963,091 83,438,063
Deferred inflows 13,666,936 9,790,321 2,531,547 2,102,181 16,198,483 11,892,502
Total liabilities

and deferred inflows 43,788,646 42,149,813 50,372,928 53,180,752 94,161,574 95,330,565
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 69,735,142 67,001,770 53,270,044 51,390,568 123,005,186 118,392,338
Restricted 6,447,348 6,949,833 - - 6,447,348 6,949,833
Unrestricted (978,469) (7,498,779) 20,964,507 17,582,133 19,986,038 10,083,354

Total net position $ 75,204,021 $ 66452824 $ 74234551 $ 68,972,701 $ 149,438,572 $ 135,425,525

The City’s assets and deferred outflows were greater than its liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources by about $149.4 million at the close of 2022, as compared to nearly $135.4 million at the close of
2021, an increase of about $14 million.
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The largest impact on the City’s financial statements in 2022 had absolutely no impact on the City’s
financial condition; GASB Statement 68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an
Amendment of GASB Statement 27” and GASB Statement 75, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions,” which significantly revised accounting for costs and
liabilities related to other postemployment benefits. Users of this financial statement will gain a clearer
understanding of the City’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to pension and
OPEB, the net pension liability and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and subtracting the
net OPEB asset and deferred outflows related to pension and OPEB.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards are national and apply to all
governmental financial reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior
accounting for pension (GASB 27) and postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding
approach, limited pension and OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which may or may
not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension liability or net OBEP liability. GASB 68 and GASB
75 take an earnings approach to pension and OPEB accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide
pension/OPEB plans and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation in order to
properly understand the information in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability and the net OPEB asset/liability equal the
City’s proportionate share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension benefits attributable to active and inactive employee’s
past service
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the
“employment exchange” —that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits,
and the promise of a future pension and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded
portion of this pension promise is a present obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to
the employee, and should accordingly be reported by the government as a liability since they received the
benefit of the exchange. However, the City is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance
of this liability. In Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer.
Both employer and employee contribution rates are capped by State statue. A change in these caps requires
action of both Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions are also
determined by State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require the retirement systems
to provide healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the
employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is
limited not by contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific,
legal limit to its contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the
unfunded liability of the pension/OPEB plan against the public employer. State law operates to
mitigate/lessen the moral obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the
employment exchange with notice as to the law. The retirement system is responsible for the administration
of the pension and OPEB plans.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.c.
sick and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no
repayment schedule for the net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in
pension benefits, contribution rates, and return of investments affect the balance of these liabilities, but are
outside the control of the local government. In the event that contributions, investment returns, and other
changes are insufficient to keep up with required pension payments, State statute does not assign/identify
the responsible party for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability
and net OPEB liability are satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-term liability
of the statement of net position.
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In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the City’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of
accounting include an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of
each plan’s change in net pension liability and net OPEB liability (asset), respectively, not accounted for as
deferred inflows/outflows.

The component, “Net investment in capital assets” increased almost $4.6 million, or 4%, from
approximately $118.4 million at December 31, 2021 to approximately $123 million at December 31, 2022.
Increases in this category of net position generally means that the sum of cash capital asset additions and
bond principal repayments were more than the sum of depreciation expense and additional debt now
associated with capital assets. During 2022 the City spent approximately $9.5 million for cash capital
additions and debt principal repayments of nearly $2.9 million. Total depreciation expense for capital assets
was approximately $7.8 million.

Restricted net position is subject to external restrictions as to their use. This category decreased
approximately $500,000, or 7%, from December 31, 2021 to December 31, 2022. This change is primarily
reflected by decreased revenues in restricted street repair and maintenance fund and increased expenditures
in restricted special revenue funds.

Unrestricted net position is available for future use as directed by City Council. Overall, this
category increased approximately $9.9 million from $10.1 million at December 31, 2021 to $20 million at
December 31, 2022. It is important to note that although the total unrestricted net position is almost $20
million, the unrestricted net position of the City’s business-type activities is positive $21 million, whereas
the governmental activities is negative $980,000. This increase in unrestricted net position indicates an
improvement in the financial position.

The majority of the City’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings,
infrastructure, machinery and equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding plus any significant unspent bond proceeds. The City uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; therefore, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s
investment in capital assets is calculated net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to
repay debt must be provided from other sources, since capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate
these liabilities. The following chart graphically illustrates the components of net position.

Net Position

2022 2021
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Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and
contributions
Capital grants and
contributions
General revenues:
Income taxes
Property taxes
Payments in lieu of taxes
Lodging taxes
Grants and other contributions
not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets

Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenses:
Basic utility services

Community development
Community environment
Fire

General government
Health

Judicial

Parks and recreation
Police

Street repair & maintenance
Interest on long-term debt
Airport

Concession Stand

Sewer

Sidney Water Park

Solid waste

Stormwater
Transportation

Water

Total expenses

Excess (deficiency) before transfers
Transfers

Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Unaudited
Changes in Net Position for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$2,278,049 $2,492,629  $17,820366  $17,462,728 $20,098,415 $19,955,357
2,939,645 2,916,971 658,616 623,902 3,598,261 3,540,873
2,547,786 3,836,967 770,456 540,572 3,318,242 4,377,539
21,810,525 20,120,128 - - 21,810,525 20,120,128
1,208,991 1,212,328 - - 1,208,991 1,212,328
205,333 195,251 - - 205,333 195,251
475,760 383,051 - - 475,760 383,051
833,993 747,989 - - 833,993 747,989
6,198 83,866 138,104 18,145 144,302 102,011
28,906 44214 9,225 2,665 38,131 46,879
837,193 544,762 213,290 207,536 1,050,483 752,298
33,172,379 32,578,156 19,610,057 18,855,548 52,782,436 51,433,704
65,636 61,050 . . 65,636 61,050
1,414,951 451,608 - - 1,414,951 451,608
461,533 391,600 - - 461,533 391,600
5,957,571 5,889,267 - - 5,957,571 5,889,267
1,262,028 142,689 - - 1,262,028 142,689
271,335 229,327 - - 271,335 229,327
1,763,387 1,315,652 - - 1,763,387 1,315,652
1,525,525 1,002,208 - - 1,525,525 1,002,208
6,585,891 6,299,447 - - 6,585,891 6,299,447
4,616,163 4,335,403 - - 4,616,163 4,335,403
14,663 25,812 - - 14,663 25,812
- - 761,787 715,396 761,787 715,396
. . 21,477 14,778 21,477 14,778
- - 4,842,944 3,970,268 4,842,944 3,970,268
- - 230,575 113,094 230,575 113,094
- - 1,975,043 1,806,380 1,975,043 1,806,380
- - 526,620 649,869 526,620 649,869
- - 824,444 493,557 824,444 493,557
- - 5,647,816 4,866,484 5,647,816 4,866,484
23,938,683 20,144,063 14,830,706 12,629,826 38,769,389 32,773,889
9,233,696 12,434,093 4,779,351 6,225,722 14,013,047 18,659,815
(482,499) (470,124) 482,499 470,124 - -
8,751,197 11,963,969 5,261,850 6,695,846 14,013,047 18,659,815
66,452,824 54,488,855 68,972,701 62,276,855 135,425,525 116,765,710
$ 75,204,021  $ 66,452,824 $§ 74234551 § 68,972,701 $§ 149,438,572 $ 135,425,525

Net position, end of year




CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Unaudited

The City’s net position increased approximately $14 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as
compared to an increase of almost $18.7 million for the prior year.

Total revenues increased approximately $1.3 million, or 2.6%. Income tax revenue increased
approximately $1.7 million or 8.4%, related to the bounce back from the 2020 pandemic as well as a large
upward swing in corporate estimate payments. Charges for services increased about $143,000, or .72%,
primarily from higher stormwater rates, airport fuel sales, water, sewer, and solid waste user charges.
Capital grants and contributions decreased nearly $1.1 million, which reflects the decrease of donated
streets of $1.5 million and an increase in other grants of about $400,000. Miscellaneous income increased
about $298,000 as a result of a finder’s fee the city received for $200,000. Operating grants and
contributions increased approximately $57,000 primarily due to receiving grant money not received in
2021. Investment earnings increased about $42,000 or 41%, primarily due to increasing interest rates.
Lodging tax revenue increased almost $93,000 or 24% as a result of increased travel after the pandemic.

Total expenses increased nearly $6 million, or 18%, from nearly $32.8 million in 2021 to $38.8
million in 2022. Approximately $3 million of this significant change in program expenses relates to
recognition of pension and OPEB expenses under GASB 68 & 75 which the City does not have authority to
regulate. Consequently, in order to compare other changes in program expenses without GASB 68 & 75
expenses, the following adjustments are needed:

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Total program expenses $ 23,938,683 $ 20,144,063 $ 14,830,706 $ 12,629,826 $ 38,769,389 $ 32,773,889

Pension & OPEB expense 348,141 2,134,472 807,553 1,903,292 1,155,694 4,037,764

Contractually required contribution 2,214,728 2,075,182 384,061 373,241 2,598,789 2,448,423
Adjusted program exp enses $ 26,501,552 $ 24,353,717 $ 16,022,320 $ 14,906,359 $ 42,523,872 $ 39,260,076
Increase (decrease) in program
expenses not related to Pension &

OPEB $ 2,147,835 $ 1,115,961 $ 3,263,796

As shown here, of the total $6 million increase in program expenses, about $3 million is not related to
Pension and OPEB.

Governmental activities

Governmental activities net position increased nearly $8.8 million from about $66.5 million at
December 31, 2021 to nearly $75.2 million at December 31, 2022. The category, net investment in capital
assets, increased about $3 million, or 4%, from nearly $67 million to about $70 million representing an
increase related to capital additions. Restricted net position decreased approximately $500,000. This
decrease is mainly due to the closing of the Menards TIF fund of about $570,000. Unrestricted increased
from a negative $7.5 million in 2021 to a negative $1 million in 2022.

Program expenses not related to pension and OPEB expenses for governmental activities increase of
about $2.1 million is comprised of the following changes. Fire & Police expenses increased nearly
$290,000 and $270,000, respectively, which is a result of increased wages from additional staff. General
government increased by about $420,000 due to increased costs for revenue collections, refunds to 3™
parties, and increased community service program expense. Community development increased by
approximately $860,000 due to timing of grant spending. Parks & recreation increased by about $310,000
due to increased cost of maintenance, capital outlay, and wages.

The Statement of Activities reports the expenses of each of the governmental activities programs and
the related program revenue that offsets the cost of each program. The amount by which the cost of a
particular program exceeds its program revenue represents the extent to which that program must be
subsidized by general revenues, such as income taxes, property taxes and unrestricted contributions.
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The following table and graph summarize the net cost of each program:

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities

Year Ended December 31,2022 Year Ended December 31,2021
Net Net
Program Revenue Program Revenue
Expense Revenue (Cost) Expense Revenue (Cost)
Community development $ 1,414,951 $ 546,638 $ (868,313) $ 451,608 $ 314,386 $ (137,222)
Community environment 461,533 205,558 (255,975) 391,600 151,947 (239,653)
Fire 5,957,571 705,918 (5,251,653) 5,889,267 939,834 (4,949.,433)
General government 1,262,028 38,512 (1,223,516) 142,689 - (142,689)
Judicial 1,763,387 985,653 (777,734) 1,315,652 1,065,237 (250,415)
Parks & recreation 1,525,525 378,846 (1,146,679) 1,002,208 278,506 (723,702)
Police 6,585,891 632,379 (5,953,512) 6,299,447 741,741 (5,557,706)
Street repair & maintenance 4,616,163 4,093,490 (522,673) 4,335,403 5,429,567 1,094,164
All others 351,634 178,486 (173,148) 316,189 325,349 9,160

Total governmental activities $ 23,938,683 $ 7,765,480 $ (16,173,203) $ 20,144,063 $ 9,246,567 $ (10,897,496)

Overall, the net program cost of governmental activities increased by nearly $5.3 million, or 48%,
from a net program cost of about $10.9 million in 2021 to $16.1 million in 2022. The most significant
change was street repair and maintenance of $1.6 million as a result of donated streets in 2021. General
government and community development net program cost increased approximately $1.1 million and
$730,000, respectively. Of the general government increase, about $700,000 was due to an increase in Ohio
Public Employees OPEB expense and about $100,000 for community development. Additionally, general
government net program cost increased due to increased reimbursement for revenue collections, increased
refunds to 3" parties, and increased community service program expense. Community Development net
program expense also increased due to the timing of grant related expenditures. Fire net program cost
increased by about $300,000 due to decrease in pension and OPEB expense of about $220,000 and a
$290,000 increase is primarily wages from additional staff. Fire also had a decrease in revenue of about
$230,000 due to decreased grant funding. Police net program cost increased by approximately $400,000 as
a result of increased personnel.

Net Program Revenue (Cost) - Governmental Activities

Street repair and

2.000 Fire—General maintenance
’ Comm env. government Parks & rec. ,_l
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2 (2,000) . 7
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~ (6,000)
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Business-type activities

Business-type activities’ net position increased nearly $5.2 million, or 8%, from approximately $69
million at December 31, 2021 to nearly $74.2 million at December 31, 2022. The category net investment
in capital assets increased almost $1.9 million, a result of cash capital purchases of approximately $2.7
million and principal debt repayments of nearly $2.3 million, reduced by depreciation expense of nearly
$3.2 million. Unrestricted portion of net position increased almost $3.4 million, or 19%, from about $17.6
million to nearly $21 million, which indicates an increase in financial position.

Program expenses not related to pension and OPEB expenses for business-type activities increased
about $1.1 million which is due to increased expense for sewer of nearly $440,000, water of $360,000,
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022
Unaudited

transportation of $120,000, and solid waste of $170,000.Water expenses increased due to multiple reasons
which include increased capital outlay, wages, and chemicals. Sewer expenses increased due to an increase
of $250,000 reimbursement to the sewer improvement and various other increases including salaries and
chemicals. Solid waste expenses increased due to increased cost of trash and recycling contractual costs.

It is the City’s policy that revenues of some of the City’s business-type activities (Water, Sewer,
Solid Waste and Stormwater Funds) are expected to cover all program costs over the long term. The
revenues of other business-type activities cover specified portions of program costs. The following table
summarizes the expenses and program revenues for business-type activities:

Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-Type Activities

Year Ended December 31,2022

Year Ended December 31,2021

Net Net
Program Revenue Program Revenue
Expense Revenue (Cost) Expense Revenue (Cost)
Airport $ 761,787 $ 879,432 $ 117,645 $ 715,396 $ 661,937 $ (53.459)
Concession Stand 21,477 20,983 $ “494) 14,778 27,403 12,625
Sewer 4,842,944 6,553,904 $ 1,710,960 3,970,268 6,494,533 2,524,265
Sidney W ater Park 230,575 66,545  $ (164,030) 113,094 73,009 (40,085)
Solid Waste 1,975,043 2,035,577 $ 60,534 1,806,380 1,937,852 131,472
Stormwater 526,620 983,132  $ 456,512 649,869 900,529 250,660
Transportation 824,444 948,077 $ 123,633 493,557 740,936 247,379
W ater 5,647,816 7,761,788 $ 2,113,972 4,866,484 7,791,003 2,924,519
Total business-type
activities $ 14,830,706 $ 19,249,438 $ 4,418,732  $ 12,629,826 $ 18,627,202 $ 5,997,376

Thousands

Overall, the net program cost of the City’s business-type activities changed from net program
revenue of nearly $6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to a net program revenue of nearly
$4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Program revenue for business-type activities increased
approximately $600,000, or 3%, and program expenses increased about $2.2 million, or 17%.

Net Program Revenue (Cost) - Business-type Activities

4,000
3,000 Sewer Water |
2.000 Stormwater 7 |
1,000 4 % 2 |
’ Airport i Transportation
0 | o= % L ST A e %
Concession Stand
(1,000) Sidney Water Park
| aNet 2022 ONet 2021 |
Key components of the changes in net program cost for each significant program change are as
follows:

e The City’s sewer program decreased from net program revenue of nearly $2.5 million in 2021 to
about $1.7 million in 2022. Sewer revenue increased by approximately $60,000, or 1%, as a result
of sewer user charges. Expenditures increased by roughly $870,000, or 22%, largely because of
GASB 75 OPERS OPEB expense.

e  Water net program revenue changed from net program revenue of approximately $2.9 million in
2021 to about $2.1 million in 2022. Revenue decreased by about $29,000, or .4%, due to reduction
in grant dollars received. Expenditures increased by approximately $780,000, or 16%.
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e The Shelby Public Transit program (Transportation fund) had net program revenue of about
$250,000 in 2021 to about $120,000 in 2022, an overall decrease of about $130,000. Revenue
increased by about $200,000 due to timing of grant reimbursements. The increase in expense of
$330,000 is mainly due to GASB 75 OPERS OPEB expense.

e Solid Waste fund went from net program revenue of approximately $130,000 in 2021 to $60,000
in 2022 which is a decrease of about $70,000. Revenue however increased nearly $100,000 from
solid waste user charges. This was more than offset by the additional expense of nearly $170,000
due to increased recycling and refuse pick up costs.

Individual governmental funds modified summary and analysis

Governmental funds, as stated earlier, focus on spendable resources and near-term inflows and
outflows of those resources. As such, fund balance measures net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year, subject to any stated restrictions on their use.

The combined fund balance of the City’s governmental funds at December 31, 2022 was nearly
$24.4 million. Nearly 45% of this total amount represents unassigned fund balances available for spending
at the City’s discretion. Roughly 21% of the combined fund balance is in a nonspendable, or restricted,
form. The portion of fund balance committed by City Council, the highest level of decision making
authority, is 7% and those balances assigned are 28%. Nearly $1.8 million of fund balance has already
been assigned to future budget commitments and about $4.6 million to capital projects.

Total fund balances of the City’s governmental funds increased about $2.1 million, or 9%, from
nearly $22.3 million at December 31, 2021 to about $24.4 million at December 31, 2022. (See the
governmental funds’ statement of revenue, expenditures & changes in fund balance on page 20.)

The components of governmental fund expenses are as follows:

Governmental Fund Expenses by Program
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The composition of expenses by function remained relatively stable from 2021 to 2022. The three
largest components of governmental fund expenses are capital outlay, police and fire services. Fire makes
up 20% to 21% of the total, while police contributes another 23% to 25%. Capital outlay comprises about
23% to 27% of governmental expenses. Judicial - consisting mainly of municipal court activities —
comprises 7% to 8% of governmental activities’ expenses. Street repair and maintenance (which includes
winter street clean-up) accounts for about 5% to 6% of expenses. The community development and
environment program expenditures, which includes such activities as community planning, engineering,
building inspection, and code enforcement, make up 5% of total governmental expenses. The parks and
recreation program is responsible for 5% of governmental expenses.

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City of Sidney, accounting for such activities
as police and fire protection, emergency medical services, and parks and recreation. Annually, twenty
percent of the budgeted net income tax proceeds are allocated out to the Capital improvement Fund. The
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General Fund balance increased by about $2.1 million, or 17%, from nearly $12.3 million at December 31,
2021 to about $14.4 million at December 31, 2022.

Revenue increased in the General Fund by $1.4 million, or 7%, from nearly $18.8 million in 2021 to
almost $20.2 million in 2022. Local tax revenue increased about $1.4 million from approximately $15.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to about $16.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2022, related to large swing in corporate estimate payments.

General Fund expenditures increased about $1.8 million, or 11%. This increase is primarily made up
of increased expense of around $490,000 for police, $690,000 increase for fire, $300,000 increase for
general government and $190,000 increase for leisure. Police and fire expense increase is mainly due to
fluctuation of personnel and increased wages. The general government increased expense is due to
increased revenue collections, refunds to 3" parties, professional services, and community service program
expense. Leisure increase in expenses is mainly due to increased maintenance cost, service center building
reimbursement, garage repairs, and fuel. General Fund transfers out to subsidize various funds, including
the street repair & maintenance, transportation services, airport, cemetery operations, swimming pool, and
the concession stand. In 2022 transfers out were nearly $490,000 compared to around $850,000 in 2021.
For 2022 this subsidy is comprised of the following Street Repair & Maintenance fund of $237,000,
Cemetery Fund of $45,000, Sidney Water Park & Concession Stand Fund of almost $143,000, and Airport
fund of $60,000.

The Street Repair & Maintenance Fund, used to account for the state-levied gasoline tax and motor
vehicle registration fees, is restricted by law for street maintenance and repair activities. The fund balance
decreased by nearly $342,000 in 2022. This decrease is primarily due to the decreased transfer from the
general fund. The decrease in revenue of nearly $45,000, or 3%, is primarily from intergovernmental
revenues received from state gas excise tax.

The Capital Improvement Fund is used to account for the income tax resources earmarked for capital
improvements used for the general improvement of all City facilities and operations. Annually, twenty
percent of the budgeted net income tax proceeds are allocated to this Fund. For the year ended December
31, 2022, this fund balance increased roughly $600,000 from nearly $4.0 million at December 31, 2021 to
approximately $4.6 million at December 31, 2022. In 2022, local tax, which is the allocation of income
taxes, increased $582,000, or 18%. Intergovernmental revenue decreased nearly $460,000 as a result of
timing of capital grants from the Ohio Department of Transportation for street projects. Capital-related
expenditures increased approximately $1.3 million from almost $3.7 million at December 31, 2021 to
approximately $5.0 million at December 31, 2022.

The Municipal Earned Income Tax for Street Capital Fund is used to account for the income tax
levy of the additional tax on earned income for street projects. This street levy fund is restricted for the
construction, reconstruction, resurfacing and maintenance of streets, alleys, bridges, curbs, and gutters and
cost incidental thereto. In 2022 nearly $1.4 million was spent for this purpose which decreased about
$100,000 from prior year expenditures. For 2022, the special levy generated revenues of nearly $1.9
million, an increase of about $200,000 over 2021. This increase in the special temporary tax levy was a
result of returning to pre-pandemic levels. The fund balance increased approximately $400,000 from nearly
$1.3 million at December 31, 2021 to around $1.7 million at December 31, 2022.

Budgetary Basis - Budget versus Actual

In 2022, the amount in the original budget and final budget for General Fund local tax revenues were
under actual receipts. Actual revenues were over budget expectations by $1/2 million, largely due to
fluctuations in taxes received by Sidney businesses based on their net profits. This portion of income tax
collections is the most volatile source and has been subject to upwards as well as downward swings, from
year to year. In addition, increased interest rates increased the investment income over expectations.
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Capital asset and debt administration

Capital asset activity
Significant capital activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 included:

v" Approximately $2 million of street resurfacing and curb and gutter replacements were completed
with approximately $1.2 paid with street levy revenue and about $100,000 paid with County Auto
License funds.

State Route 47 Phase IV was placed into general infrastructure at nearly $2 million.

Marilyn Dr and Ann Place sanitary sewer replacement was placed in construction in progress at
approximately $700,000.

In 2022, donated streets for the Burr Oak Phase I housing development of $430,000.

Court and West Traffic signal upgrade was completed and capitalized at nearly $370,000.
Campbell road water main replacement was completed and capitalized for about $320,000.

At the Sidney airport Taxiway A rehab and lighting improvement was capitalized at nearly
$280,000.

The senior center roof was replaced for approximately $230,000.

The industrial park development for Semcorp was placed into construction in progress for around
$170,000.

AN N N N

AN

Additional detail on the capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 is presented in the
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements in Note 7 on pages 40 — 41.

Debt

Ohio law restricts the amount of debt that a City may issue. The aggregate principal amount of
unvoted “net indebtedness” may not exceed 5.5% of the assessed valuation for property tax purposes of all
real and personal property located within the City. At December 31, 2022, that debt ceiling was
approximately $23.5 million. Certain debt with a repayment source other than general tax revenues is
excluded from the definition of net indebtedness. Under that definition, the City has about $1 million of net
indebtedness as of December 31, 2022, leaving a legal debt margin for unvoted debt of almost $22.5
million.

An additional statutory limitation restricts total indebtedness — both voted and unvoted — to 10.5% of
the real and personal property assessed valuation. That limitation would restrict total City net indebtedness

to approximately $44.1 million, leaving a total debt margin of about $43.1 million.

A summary of debt outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Governmental activities $ 1,427,296 $ 2,016,312
Business-type activities 43,635,182 46.032.560
Total $ 45,062,478 $ 48,048,872

See additional detailed data for all debt of the City of Sidney is presented in the Notes to the Basic
Financial Statements in Note 8 on pages 42 - 45 and in Schedules 7-9 in the Statistical Section of this
report.

Contacting the City’s management

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and
creditors with an overview of the City’s finances. If you have questions or need additional financial
information, please contact the Finance Officer, City of Sidney, 201 West Poplar Street, Sidney, Ohio
45365.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2022

ASSETS
Pooled cash and equivalents
Cash
Cash held by outside agent
Pooled investments
Receivables
Internal balances
Inventory
Prepaid items
Net OPEB asset
Capital assets:
Capital assets not subject to depreciation:
Land
Construction in progress
Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension
OPEB
Total deferred outflows of resources

Total assets and deferred outflows

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Salaries and benefits payable
Claims payable
Unearned revenue
Accrued interest payable
Refundable deposits
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
Other amounts due in more than one year
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred revenue
Lease
Pension
OPEB
Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Cemetery - Expendable
Cemetery - Nonexpendable
Community development projects
Judicial costs
Police
Street capital projects
Street repair and maintenance
Other purposes - externally imposed restrictions
Unrestricted

Total net position
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ 9,072,799 $ 7,512,365 16,585,164
1,026,208 - 1,026,208
554,217 - 554,217
18,345,424 15,230,590 33,576,014
9,614,143 3,020,771 12,634,914

(216,174) 216,174 -
259,270 378,621 637,891
224,162 25,300 249,462
1,100,765 527,679 1,628,444
8,605,209 7,403,192 16,008,401
1,039,349 1,360,192 2,399,541
61,816,012 88,257,626 150,073,638
111,441,384 123,932,510 235,373,894
6,086,727 669,739 6,756,466
1,464,556 5,230 1,469,786
7,551,283 674,969 8,226,252
$ 118,992,667 124,607,479 243,600,146
$ 2,509,857 698,755 3,208,612
961,036 169,014 1,130,050
193,982 - 193,982
1,867,862 535,469 2,403,331
2,116 500,669 502,785
- 302,727 302,727
736,819 1,892,922 2,629,741
18,378,282 1,498,600 19,876,882
2,675,925 - 2,675,925
2,795,831 42,243,225 45,039,056
30,121,710 47,841,381 77,963,091
1,821,519 - 1,821,519
60,666 168,480 229,146
9,529,080 1,815,401 11,344,481
2,255,671 547,666 2,803,337
13,666,936 2,531,547 16,198,483
69,735,142 53,270,044 123,005,186
1,087,546 - 1,087,546
30,376 - 30,376
457,370 - 457,370
562,182 - 562,182
447,999 - 447,999
2,435,740 - 2,435,740
1,220,424 - 1,220,424
205,711 - 205,711
(978.,469) 20,964,507 19,986,038
75,204,021 74,234,551 149,438,572
$ 118,992,667 124,607,479 243,600,146




CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Functions/Programs
Governmental Activities:

Basic utility services

Community development

Community environment

Fire

General government

Health

Judicial

Parks and recreation

Police

Street repair and maintenance
Interest on long-term debt

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Airport
Concession Stand
Sewer
Sidney Water Park
Solid Waste
Stormwater
Transportation
Water
Total business-type activities

Total

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Operating Grants ~ Capital Grants

Charges for and and Governmental Business-type
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
N 65,636 $ - N - $ - $ (65,636) $ (65,636)
1,414,951 57,862 488,776 - (868,313) (868,313)
461,533 205,558 - - (255,975) (255,975)
5,957,571 700,918 5,000 - (5,251,653) (5,251,653)
1,262,028 - 38,512 - (1,223,516) (1,223,516)
271,335 167,593 10,893 - (92,849) (92,849)
1,763,387 667,045 318,608 - (777,734) (777,734)
1,525,525 13,349 294,991 70,506 (1,146,679) (1,146,679)
6,585,891 329,216 213,745 89,418 (5,953,512) (5,953,512)
4,616,163 136,508 1,569,120 2,387,862 (522,673) (522,673)
14,663 - - - (14,663) (14,663)
23,938,683 2,278,049 2,939,645 2,547,786 (16,173,203) (16,173,203)
761,787 473,312 13,000 393,120 N 117,645 117,645
21,477 20,983 - - (494) (494)
4,842,944 6,553,904 - - 1,710,960 1,710,960
230,575 59,345 7,200 - (164,030) (164,030)
1,975,043 2,012,811 22,766 - 60,534 60,534
526,620 983,132 - - 456,512 456,512
824,444 89,312 615,650 243,115 123,633 123,633
5,647,816 7,627,567 - 134,221 2,113,972 2,113,972
14,830,706 17,820,366 658,616 770,456 4,418,732 4,418,732
$ 38,769,389 § 20,098/415 § 3,598,261  $ 3,318,242 (16,173,203) 4,418,732 (11,754,471)
General revenues:
Taxes:
Income taxes 19,835,151 - 19,835,151
Street levy income taxes 1,975,374 - 1,975,374
Property taxes 1,208,991 - 1,208,991
Payments in lieu of taxes 205,333 - 205,333
Lodging taxes 475,760 - 475,760
Grants and entitlements not restricted to specific programs 833,993 - 833,993
Investment earnings 6,198 138,104 144,302
Gain(loss) on sale of capital assets 28,906 9,225 38,131
Miscellaneous 837,193 213,290 1,050,483
Transfers (482,499) 482,499 -
Total general revenues and transfers 24,924,400 843,118 25,767,518
Change in net position 8,751,197 5,261,850 14,013,047
Net position - beginning 66,452,824 68,972,701 135,425,525
Net position - ending $ 75,204,021 § 74,234,551 § 149,438,572

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2022

Municipal
Street Repair Capital Earned Income Non-major Total
& Maintenance  Improvement Tax for Street Governmental Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Capital Fund Funds Funds
ASSETS
Pooled cash and equivalents $ 5,078,117  $ 64,834 $§ 1,452,340 $ 556,678  $ 1,693,427  $ 8,845,396
Cash held by outside agent 528,045 - - - 26,172 554,217
Pooled investments 10,119,969 131,281 2,996,596 1,148,587 3,479,794 17,876,227
Receivables:
Income taxes 4,667,562 - - 492,961 - 5,160,523
Property taxes 1,189,491 - - - 70,230 1,259,721
Other taxes 27,807 - - - 9,269 37,076
Interest 29,940 379 - - 2,082 32,401
Lease - - - - 62,672 62,672
Loans - - - - 561,799 561,799
Special assessments 231,610 - 42,350 - - 273,960
Other 191,258 - 51,286 - 41,768 284,312
Receivables from other governments 532,099 718,115 473,321 - 218,144 1,941,679
Due from other funds - - 341,315 - - 341,315
Advances to other funds 30,000 - - - - 30,000
Inventory 75,544 166,564 - - - 242,108
Prepaid items 35,024 1,551 15,004 - 9,426 61,005
Total assets $ 22,736,466 § 1,082,724 § 5372212 § 2,198226 § 6,174,783 § 37,564,411
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 1,356,543  $ 6,310 § 657,986 $ 118,536 $ 262,868 $ 2,402,243
Salaries and benefits payable 842,955 45,191 - - 19,695 907,841
Advances from other funds - - - - 30,000 30,000
Unearned revenue 106,032 - 13,660 - 1,748,170 1,867,862
Due to other funds 341,315 - - - - 341,315
Total liabilities 2,646,845 51,501 671,646 118,536 2,060,733 5,549,261
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Lease - - - - 60,666 60,666
Unavailable revenue 5,683,067 616,995 90,587 338,147 824,828 7,553,624
Total deferred inflows of resources 5,683,067 616,995 90,587 338,147 885,494 7,614,290
FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable 110,568 168,115 15,004 - 11,432 305,119
Restricted - 246,113 - 1,741,543 2,815,212 4,802,868
Committed 1,245,401 - - - 442,277 1,687,678
Assigned 2,149,640 - 4,594,975 - - 6,744,615
Unassigned 10,900,945 - - - (40,365) 10,860,580
Total fund balances 14,406,554 414,228 4,609,979 1,741,543 3,228,556 24,400,860
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balance $ 22,736,466 § 1,082,724 § 5372212 § 2,198226 § 6,174,783 § 37,564,411

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL
GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO NET
POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
DECEMBER 31, 2022

Total governmental fund balances $ 24,400,860

Amounts reported for governmental
activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Some assets used in governmental activities are not
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds:
Capital Assets 70,815,063

Other long-term assets and the net OPEB asset are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore the asset and related deferred inflows/outflows are not reported
in the governmental funds:

Income taxes receivable 3,461,830
Grant related receivables 963,387
Other receivables 1,306,888
Deferred Outflows - OPEB 9,140
Deferred Inflows - OPEB (957,555)
Net OPEB Asset 922,610

Internal service funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities, such as the
central garage and health insurance, to individual funds. The assets/deferred outflows
and liabilities/deferred inflows of the internal service funds are included in governmental
activities in the statement of net position.
Net position of Internal Service Funds 1,108,788
Internal service fund activity allocated to enterprise funds (216,174)

The net pension/OPEB liability is not due and payable in the current period; therefore the
liability and related deferred inflows/outflows are not reported in the governmental funds:

Deferred Outflows - Pension 5,860,610
Deferred Inflows - Pension (8,916,165)
Net Pension Liability (17,872,323)
Deferred Outflows - OPEB 1,453,653
Deferred Inflows - OPEB (1,113,215)
Net OPEB Liability (2,675,925)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore not reported in the funds:

Bonds and loan payable (1,379,900)
Premium on bond (47,396)
Compensated absences (1,918,039)
Accrued interest on long-term debt (2,116)
Net position of governmental activities $ 75,204,021

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Municipal
Street Repair Capital Earned Income Non-major Total
& Maintenance Improvement Tax for Street Governmental Governmental
General Fund Fund Fund Capital Fund Funds Funds
REVENUES:
Local taxes $ 16,699,680 $ - $ 3,810,717 $ 1,876,920 $ 431,366 $ 22,818,683
Intergovernmental revenues 896,601 1,250,739 2,155,050 - 1,410,648 5,713,038
Special assessments 363,750 - 131,976 - - 495,726
Charges for services 1,218,264 - 24,750 - 331,026 1,574,040
Fines, licenses and permits 417,732 - - - 78,601 496,333
Investment income (55,951) 1 - - 7,103 (48,847)
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 649,499 29,188 239,801 - 134,425 1,052,913
Total revenues 20,189,575 1,279,928 6,362,294 1,876,920 2,393,169 32,101,886
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Basic utility services 65,636 - - - - 65,636
Community development 396,493 - - - 356,631 753,124
Community environment 615,675 - - - 4,351 620,026
Fire 5,852,205 - - - 91,691 5,943,896
General government 1,467,054 - - - - 1,467,054
Health - - - - 288,923 288,923
Judicial 1,576,123 - - - 410,395 1,986,518
Parks and recreation 1,458,500 - - - - 1,458,500
Police 6,579,281 - - - 107,822 6,687,103
Street repair and maintenance - 1,479,859 - - 110,337 1,590,196
Capital outlay 45,712 379,084 5,036,061 1,401,187 1,208,418 8,070,462
Debt service:
Principal 35,000 - 472,850 - 60,000 567,850
Interest 875 - 28,800 - 7.100 36,775
Total expenditures 18,092,554 1,858,943 5,537,711 1,401,187 2,645,668 29,536,063
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures 2,097,021 (579,015) 824,583 475,733 (252,499) 2,565,823
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 441,262 237,000 - - 224,900 903,162
Sale of capital assets - - 28,906 - - 28,906
Transfers out (487,804) - (279,695) - (618,162) (1,385,661)
Total other financing sources (uses) (46,542) 237,000 (250,789) - (393,262) (453,593)
Net change in fund balances 2,050,479 (342,015) 573,794 475,733 (645,761) 2,112,230
Fund balances, beginning of year 12,356,075 756,243 4,036,185 1,265,810 3,874,317 22,288,630
Fund balances, end of year $ 14,406,554 $ 414,228 $ 4,609,979 $§ 1,741,543 $ 3,228,556 $ 24,400,860

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 2,112,230

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period:

Capital asset additions 6,274,150
Current year depreciation (4,441,285)
Proceeds from sale of assets (28,906)
Gain on sale of assets 28,906
Donated Capital Assets 432,812

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenues in the fund:

Income taxes 989,024
Intergovernmental revenue 104,639
Investment income 29,989
Other revenue (265,876)

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment
reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 567,850

Contractually required contributions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds; however,

the Statement of Activities reports these amounts as deferred outflows.
Pension 2,048,511
OPEB 36,489

Except for amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net pension/OPEB

liability/asset are reported as pension/OPEB expense in the Statement of Activities.
Pension (356,858)
OPEB 562,367

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Vacation and sick leave benefits 32,173
Interest payable 946
Amortization of bond premium 21,166

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as the
central garage, and health insurance to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal

service funds related to governmental activities is reported with governmental activities.

Change in Net Position 808,565
Add: Enterprise allocation (205,695)
Change in net position of governmental activities $ 8,751,197

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2022

ASSETS
Current assets:
Pooled cash and equivalents
Cash
Pooled investments
Receivables:
Accounts
Interest
Other
Receivables from other governments
Lease Receivable
Inventory
Prepaid items
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Lease Receivable
Net OPEB asset

Capital assets not subject to depreciation:

Land
Construction in progress

Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Pension
OPEB

Total deferred outflows of resources

Total assets & deferred outflows

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Salaries and benefits payable
Claims payable
Current portion of long term debt
Compensated absences
Unearned revenue
Refundable deposits
Accrued interest payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:

Noncurrent portion of long term debt

Net pension liability
Compensated absences
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Lease
Pension
OPEB

Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and net position

Business-type Activities Governmental

Non-major Activities -
Enterprise Internal Service

Sewer Stormwater Water Funds Totals Funds

$ 3,184887 § 574417 § 3255248 $ 497813 § 7,512,365 $ 227,403
- - - - - 1,026,208
6,448,939 1,163,111 6,591,409 1,027,131 15,230,590 469,197

880,267 54,246 1,276,237 131,840 2,342,590 -

17,904 3,229 18,299 - 39,432 -

53,542 - 119,470 - 173,012 -

- - - 295,224 295,224 -

- - - 8,559 8,559 -
79,437 29,511 223,121 46,552 378,621 17,162
4,549 - 16,262 4,489 25,300 163,157
10,669,525 1,824,514 11,500,046 2,011,608 26,005,693 1,903,127

- - - 161,954 161,954 -
213,697 27,009 203,474 83,499 527,679 178,155

126,320 14,126 6,203,394 1,059,352 7,403,192 -
539,018 15,370 316,241 489,563 1,360,192 18,596
38,051,243 4,918,806 39,217,558 6,070,019 88,257,626 626,911
38,930,278 4,975,311 45,940,667 7,864,387 97,710,643 823,662
49,599,803 6,799,825 57,440,713 9,875,995 123,716,336 2,726,789
271,229 34,280 258,252 105,978 669,739 226,117
2,118 268 2,015 829 5,230 1,763
273,347 34,548 260,267 106,807 674,969 227,880

$ 49,873,150 § 6,834,373 § 57,700,980 $ 9,982,802 $ 124,391,305 $ 2,954,669
$ 279,764  $ 8873  § 186,527 $ 223,591 § 698,755 $ 107,614
65,817 11,843 65,326 26,028 169,014 53,195

- - - - - 193,982

872,007 - 997,430 - 1,869,437 -
9,045 1,002 10,942 2,496 23,485 7,557

200,046 82,379 - 253,044 535,469 -

- - 302,582 145 302,727 -

136,482 - 364,187 - 500,669 -
1,563,161 104,097 1,926,994 505,304 4,099,556 362,348

15,093,150 - 26,672,595 - 41,765,745 -
606,896 76,706 577,863 237,135 1,498,600 505,959
230,192 33,940 166,584 46,764 477,480 179,758
15,930,238 110,646 27,417,042 283,899 43,741,825 685,717
17,493,399 214,743 29,344,036 789,203 47,841,381 1,048,065

- - - 168,480 168,480 -
735,193 92,921 700,021 287,266 1,815,401 612,915
221,792 28,033 211,181 86,660 547,666 184,901
956,985 120,954 911,202 542,406 2,531,547 797,816
22,675,728 4,945,277 18,053,813 7,595,226 53,270,044 637,090
8,747,038 1,553,399 9,391,929 1,055,967 20,748,333 471,698
31,422,766 6,498,676 27,445,742 8,651,193 74,018,377 1,108,788
$ 49,873,150 § 6,834,373 § 57,700,980 $ 9,982,802 $ 124,391,305 $ 2,954,669

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds

Total position from above

Net position of business-type activities

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES
IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Business-type Activities Governmental
Non-major Activities -
Enterprise Internal Service
Sewer Stormwater Water Funds Totals Funds
OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services $ 6,553,904 § 983,132 § 7,627,567 § 2,645,285 $ 17,809,888 $ 5,783,521
Other revenue 53,644 3,053 113,459 40,779 210,935 10,267
Total operating revenues 6,607,548 986,185 7,741,026 2,686,064 18,020,823 5,793,788
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal services 1,093,982 135,760 1,166,269 376,304 2,772,815 1,070,859
Operations and maintenance 2,038,203 175,075 2,667,444 3,040,790 7,921,512 2,050,556
Claims paid - - - - - 1,735,936
Depreciation & amortization 1,454,029 228,923 1,129,513 423,440 3,235,905 154,525
Total operating expenses 4,586,214 539,758 4,963,226 3,841,034 13,930,232 5,011,876
Operating income (loss) 2,021,334 446,427 2,777,800 (1,154,970) 4,090,591 781,912
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Investment income 69,129 10,633 58,342 - 138,104 6,475
Interest Income - - - 2,355 2,355 -
Intergovernmental - - - 651,416 651,416 1,582
Lease Income - - - 10,478 10,478 -
Contributions - - - 7,200 7,200 -
Gain on disposal of assets 7,200 - 2,025 - 9,225 -
Interest expense (335,246) - (770,923) - (1,106,169) -
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (258,917) 10,633 (710,556) 671,449 (287,391) 8,057
Income before capital grants, contributions and transfers 1,762,417 457,060 2,067,244 (483,521) 3,803,200 789,969
Capital grants & contributions - - 134,221 636,235 770,456 18,596
Transfers in - - - 482,499 482,499 -
Change in net position 1,762,417 457,060 2,201,465 635,213 5,056,155 808,565
Total net position - beginning 29,660,349 6,041,616 25244277 8,015,980 300,223
Total net position - ending $ 31422766 § 6,498,676 $§ 27,445,742 § 8,651,193 $ 1,108,788
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds 205,695
Change in net position of business-type activities $ 5,261,850

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users
Receipts from interfund services
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments for claims
Payments for interfund services used

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Transfers in
Intergovernmental
Contributions

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Principal paid on capital debt
Interest paid on capital debt
Interest Income
Lease payments received
Capital contributions

Net cash used for capital

and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Purchase of investments
Interest on investments

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Net increase in pooled cash and equivalents

Pooled cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Pooled cash and equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation & amortization
Change in assets and deferred outflows:
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Prepaid items
Inventory
Net OPEB asset
Deferred outflows - Pension
Deferred outflows - OPEB
Change in liabilities and deferred inflows:
Accounts & claims payable
Salaries and benefits payable and
compensated absences
Refundable deposits
Unearned revenue
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows - Pension
Deferred inflows - OPEB

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
Purchase of equipment on account
Prior year purchase of equipment on account
Debt principal paid by third party
Contributions of capital assets from governmental activities

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.

Business-type Activities Governmental
Non-major Activities -
Enterprise Internal Service
Sewer Stormwater Water Funds Totals Funds
$ 6573618 § 748,491 $§ 7,608,752 §  2,695472 $ 17,626,333 § 153,222
11,519 239,057 61,624 - 312,200 5,640,567
(1,043,638) (68,243) (1,797,339) (2,568,893) (5,478,113) (1,857,086)
(1,481,840) (321,618) (1,580,980) (543,301) (3,927,739) (1,300,553)
- - - - - (1,804,556)
(877,158) (114,829) (790,169) (452,301) (2,234.457) (121,093)
3,182,501 482,858 3,501,888 (869,023) 6,298,224 710,501

- - - 482,499 482,499 -

- - - 436,470 436,470 1,582

- - - 7,200 7,200 -

- - - 926,169 926,169 1,582

(928,600) (122,675) (1,050,376) (616,350) (2,718,001) (163,871)
7,200 - 2,025 - 9,225 -
(1,408,175) - (957,493) - (2,365,668) -
(355,159) - (785,105) - (1,140,264) -

- - - 2,355 2,355 -

- - - 8,445 8,445 -

- - 134,221 574,581 708,802 -
(2,684,734) (122,675) (2,656,728) (30,969) (5,495,106) (163,871)
(1,908,963) (544,367) (2,192,580) (239,681) (4,885,591) (149,068)

2,105,916 379,817 2,152,440 329,165 4,967,338 150,363
173,783 29,480 165,302 - 368,565 6,475
370,736 (135,070) 125,162 89,484 450,312 7,770
868,503 225,113 970,322 115,661 2,179,599 555,982

2,316,384 349,304 2,284,926 382,152 5,332,766 697,629

$ 3,184887 § 574,417 $§ 3255248 § 497813 $ 7512365 $ 1,253,611
$ 2,021,334 § 446,427 $ 2,777,800 $ (1,154969) $ 4,090,592 $ 781,912
1,454,029 228,923 1,129,513 423,440 3,235,905 154,525
(43,329) (5,205) (79,764) 5,333 (122,965) -
22,430 - (8,095) (479) 13,856 -
(2,458) - (949) (937) (4,344) 15,712
(7,859) (11,596) 5,580 (16,262) (30,137) (25)
(92,174) (1,195) (84,104) (35,474) (212,947) (82,522)
(112,891) (646) (102,720) (43,404) (259,661) (101,512)
63,136 13,594 62,081 24,960 163,771 49,587
127,724 3,599 75,305 37,467 244,095 (11,928)
22,116 (6,130) 20,432 319 36,737 42,619
- - 17,208 - 17,208 -
(1,513) 6,568 - 3,881 8,936 -
(413,342) (140,015) (424,298) (166,053) (1,143,708) (296,924)
294,808 (626) 267,441 113,229 674,852 266,353
(149,510) (50,840) (153,542) (60,074) (413,966) (107,296)
$§ 3,182,501 § 482,858 $ 3,501,888 § (869,023) $ 6,298224 § 710,501
$ 75,696 S 3,025 $ 13,355 $ 23,708 $ 115,784  § 8,417
N 399§ - N 48,562  $ 38,817  § 87,778  § -
$ - $ - $ 15,708 $ - $ 15,708  $ -
$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 18,596
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2022

ASSETS

Pooled cash and equivalents
Cash held by outside agent
Pooled investments
Receivable

Accounts

Interest
Prepaid expenses

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Payable to other governments

Total liabilities

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Individuals & organizations & other governments
Total Net position

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

Custodial Private-Purpose
Funds Trust Funds

12,698 10,584
364,180 -

26,200 21,432
10,185 -

- 60
898 -

414,161 32,076
5,528 -
306,539 -
312,067 -

102,094 32,076

102,094 32,076
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

ADDITIONS
Charges for services
Court costs & fines
Contributions
Investment income

DEDUCTIONS
Purchase of flowers
Judgement costs & bond reimbursements
Payments to other governments

Clean-up expenses

Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year

Net position, end of year

See Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

Custodial Private-Purpose
Funds Trust Funds
81,725 -
2,087,069 -
16,947 -
- 221
2,185,741 221
- 545
1,061,494 -
1,169,241 -
10,004 -
2,240,739 545
(54,998) (324)
157,092 32,400
102,094 32,076
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Sidney, Ohio (City) is a political unit incorporated and established for the purpose of
exercising the rights and privileges conveyed to it by the constitution and laws of the State of Ohio.

The City was incorporated in 1820, and has a Council-Manager form of government. The City provides
the following services: police, fire, judicial, highways and streets, water, sewer, sanitation, recreation,
public transportation, public improvements, planning and zoning and general administrative services.

For financial reporting purposes, the City includes in this report all funds, agencies, boards, commissions,
and departments in accordance with criteria established in Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statement No. 14, as amended by GASB Statement No. 39. Under the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 14 (as amended), the City of Sidney is the primary government, since it is a general
purpose government that has a separate elected governing body; functions as a separate legal entity; and
is fiscally independent of other state and local governments. As used in GASB Statement No. 14, fiscally
independent means that the City may, without the approval or consent of another governmental entity,
determine or modify its own budget, levy its own taxes or set rates or charges, and issue debt. As
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these basic
financial statements present the government and its component units, entities for which the government is
considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally separate entities,
are, in substance, part of the government’s operations and so data is combined with data of the primary
government. Each discretely presented component unit, on the other hand, is reported in a separate
column in the combined financial statements to emphasize it is legally separate from the government.
There are no blended or discretely presented component units at December 31, 2022.

Certain units of local governments, over which the City exercises no authority, such as the Shelby County
Library District, Shelby County Health District and Upper Valley Career Center, are other local
governmental and non-profit entities with independent elected officials and are excluded from the
accompanying basic financial statements. The City is not a component unit of any other entity and does
not have any component units, which require inclusion in the basic financial statements.

Other local governments and non-profit entities that overlap the City's boundaries are Shelby County and
the Sidney City School District. These entities do not meet the reporting entity criteria and, therefore, are
not included in the City's financial reports.

Basis of Presentation

Government-wide financial statements

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the City as a
whole. These statements distinguish between activities that are governmental in nature, which are
normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues; and business-type activities, which rely to
a significant extent upon fees and charges for support. During the course of operations, the government
has activity between funds for various purposes. Any residual balances outstanding at year-end are
reported as due from/to other funds and advances to/from other funds. While these balances are reported
in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide
financial statements. Balances between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so
that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the governmental activities column. Similarly,
balances between the funds included in the business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net
amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column. The activities of the
internal service funds are eliminated to avoid “doubling up” revenues and expenses.
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Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In fund
financial statements, these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out. While reported in
fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide
financial statements. Transfers are eliminated as well and are included in the internal balances on the
government-wide statement of activities. The government-wide financial statements do not include the
City’s fiduciary funds.

The government-wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of
related cash flows.

The government-wide statement of activities presents a comparison between expenses and program
revenues for each segment of the business-type activities of the City and for each governmental program.
Program revenues include charges paid by the recipients of the goods or services as well as grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program. Revenues not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues. The
comparison of program revenues and expenses identifies the extent to which each program or business-
type segment is self-supporting or relies upon general revenues of the City.

Fund Financial Statements

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds. Fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
governmental and enterprise funds are reported in separate columns in the fund financial statements. All
other funds are aggregated and reported as non-major governmental or non-major enterprise funds.

The accounting policies and financial reporting practices of the City conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America for local governments as prescribed by the GASB.
The accounts of the City are organized based on funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting
entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that
comprise its assets and deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows, fund equity, revenues and
expenditures (expenses). Fund accounting segregates funds according to the intended purpose and is
used to aid management in demonstrating compliance with financial-related legal and contractual
provisions.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. The
acquisition, use and balances of the City's expendable financial resources and the related current
liabilities (except those accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for through governmental
funds. The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for government resources not accounted for in
any other fund. The General Fund balance is available to the City for any purpose provided it is
expended or transferred according to the City Charter and/or the general laws of the State of Ohio. In
addition, it accounts for the collection, collection costs, and distribution of City-levied income tax.

Street Repair & Maintenance Fund — To account for state-levied and controlled gasoline tax and
motor vehicle registration fees restricted for street maintenance and repair.
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Capital Improvement Fund — To account for the income tax resources for capital improvements used
for general improvement of all City facilities and operations.

Municipal Earned Income Tax for Street Capital Fund — To account for the .15 percent levy and shall
be used entirely for the construction, reconstruction, resurfacing, or maintenance of streets, alley,
bridges, curbs and gutters in the City and the cost incidental thereto.

Proprietary (Business-type) Funds
The proprietary funds are used to account for the City's ongoing activities that are similar to those found
in the private sector where the intent of the governing body is that the cost (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges. The City reports the following major proprietary funds:
Water Fund — Accounts for the operation of the waterworks distribution system and related expenses,
including capital improvement and debt service. The operation is exclusively financed by customer
user charges.

Sewer Fund — Accounts for the operation of the sanitary sewer collection and treatment system and
related expenses, including capital improvement and debt service. The operation is exclusively
financed by customer user charges.

Stormwater Fund - Accounts for the operation and maintenance of the stormwater system, and
related expenses, including capital improvement. The operations are financed through customer user
charges.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:
Internal service funds — Account for services, such as information management, vehicle maintenance,
revenue collections, health care self-insurance and service center operations, provided to other
departments of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary funds — Generally are used to account for assets held in a fiduciary capacity on behalf of
others. The City holds assets in three custodial funds for other entities: (1) Municipal Court, (2)
Village of Port Jefferson’s sewer bills, and (3) the Great Miami River Watershed Protection Project.
The City also has three private-purpose trust funds: (1) B. Slonkosky Flower Trust Fund (2) C.
Truster Flower Trust Fund, and (3) Ike Mausoleum Family Trust Fund.

C. Basis of Accounting
Governmental Funds. The accounting and financial reporting treatment that applies to a fund is
determined by its measurement focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets or deferred outflows and
current liabilities or deferred inflows are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these
funds present increases (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures and
other financing uses) in current financial resources.

The modified accrual basis of accounting is used for all governmental fund types. Under the modified
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they become
both measurable and available). "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be reasonably
determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be
used to pay liabilities of the current period. The City considers revenues available if they are collected
within 30 days after year-end. Expenditures are recorded generally when the related fund liability is
incurred. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences,
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net pension liabilities, net OPEB liabilities, and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment
is due.

Those revenues susceptible to accrual are property taxes, income taxes, intergovernmental revenues,
franchise taxes, special assessments, licenses, interest revenue and charges for services. Fines, permits
and parking meter revenues are not susceptible to accrual because they are generally not measurable until
received in cash.

The City reports deferred outflows of resources the statement of net position as a separate section.
Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the City, deferred
outflows of resources are reported on the government-wide statement of net position for deferred charges
on pension and OPEB. The deferred outflows of resources related to pension and OPEB plans are
explained in Notes 19 and 20.

In addition to liabilities, deferred inflows of resources arise when potential revenue does not meet both
the "measurable" and "available" criteria for recognition in the current period. In subsequent periods,
when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the City has a legal claim to the resources, the
liability for deferred inflow of resources is removed from the balance sheet and revenue is recognized.
For the City, deferred inflows of resources include unavailable revenue, leases, pension, and OPEB.
These amounts have been recorded as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide statement of net
position and the governmental fund financial statements. Certain unavailable revenue is reported only on
the governmental funds balance sheet, and represents receivables which will not be collected within the
available period. For the City unavailable revenue includes property taxes, income taxes, special
assessments, forgivable loans and intergovernmental grants. These amounts are deferred and recognized
as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available. The details of these unavailable
revenues are identified on the reconciliation of total governmental fund balance to net position of
governmental activities found on page 19. Deferred inflows of resources related to pension and OPEB
plans are reported on the government-wide statement of net position. See Notes 19 and 20.

Because governmental funds’ financial statements use a different measurement focus and basis of
accounting than the government-wide statements, governmental funds’ financial statements include
reconciliations to the government-wide statements.

Proprietary Funds. All proprietary funds — enterprise funds and internal service funds - are accounted
for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and
deferred outflows and all liabilities and deferred inflows associated with the operation of these funds are
included on the balance sheet.

Proprietary fund-type operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e.,
expenses) in the net total position. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from
non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. All
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

The accrual basis of accounting is utilized by proprietary funds. Under this method, revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting.
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D. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting
The City follows procedures prescribed by State law in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the
financial statements as follows:
(1) The County Budget Commission has suspended the requirement to prepare a tax budget. In lieu of
the tax budget, about January 1 of each year, the City will submit to the Budget Commission a
report of estimated revenue and actual unencumbered cash balances by fund. Thereafter, the
County Budget Commission will issue an Official Certificate of Estimated Resources (OCER).

(2) Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year-end. No contract, agreement or other obligation
involving the expenditure of money shall be entered into unless the Finance Officer first certifies
that the money required for such contract, agreement, obligation or expenditure is in the treasury,
or is anticipated to come into the treasury, before the maturity of such contract.

(3) All funds of the City have annual budgets legally adopted by the City Council. The exception is
that when the City receives federal or state grant funds to aid in paying the cost of any program,
activity, or function of the City, the amount received may be deemed appropriated for such

purpose.

The City Manager acts as budget officer for the City and submits a proposed operating budget to the City
Council on an annual basis. Public hearings are held to obtain taxpayer comments. The Council enacts
the budget through passage of an ordinance. The appropriations ordinance controls expenditures at the
level of (1) personal services and (2) contractual, materials and other. Council can amend the budget at
the legal level of control, through the passage of supplemental ordinances. Management can amend
appropriations below this level without council approval. Supplemental appropriations to the original
appropriations ordinance were made during the year, but were not material in relation to the original
appropriations.

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the
expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is
employed as an extension of formal budgetary control in the governmental funds.

While reporting financial position, results of operations and changes in fund balances on the basis of
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), the budgetary basis, as
provided by law, is based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts and
disbursements.

Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual - Budget (Non-
GAAP) Basis for the General Fund and major special revenue funds are presented on the budgetary basis
in the Required Supplementary Information to provide a meaningful comparison of actual results with the
budget. The major differences between the budget basis and the GAAP basis are that:

(1) Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget) as opposed to when they are both measurable
and available (GAAP).

(2) Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget) as opposed to restricted, committed, or
assigned fund balance (GAAP).

(3) Encumbrances are recorded as the equivalent of expenditures (budget).

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents
To improve cash management, most of the cash received by the City is pooled. The exceptions to this
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F.

policy are as follows:

» Municipal Court, a custodial fund, maintains its deposits in a separate checking account.

» An outside agency, Shelby County, is holding cash deposits for the County Auto License Fund (a
nonmajor governmental fund).

» Miami Valley Risk Management Association, a joint insurance pool, is holding a cash reserve for
the City’s insurance purposes included in the General Fund.

» Insurance premiums collected and paid for on behalf of the City employees’ health insurance are
held in a separate checking account reported in the Self-Insurance Fund (an internal service fund).

Monies for all other funds, including proprietary funds, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund
integrity is maintained through City records. Each fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “Pooled
Cash & Equivalents” on the balance sheet.

For purposes of the statements of cash flows and for presentation on the statement of net position/balance
sheet, the SWEEP (money market) account and restricted cash are considered to be cash equivalents.

Pooled Investments

All investments of the City are recorded at fair value, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31,
“Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools.” The
statement established accounting and reporting guidelines for government investments and investment
pools. Interest earnings from investments are allocated to the General Fund except for funds derived
from contract, trust agreement, grant terms or City policy that requires crediting otherwise.

Inventory and Prepaid Items

Inventory is valued at cost using the first-in/first out (FIFO) method. The proprietary funds' inventories
are recorded as expenses when used. Inventory in governmental funds consists of expendable supplies
held for consumption. The cost is recorded as an expenditure at the time individual inventory items are
used. Inventory is accounted for using the consumption method. Reported inventories are included
within the nonspendable fund balance classification in the governmental funds category, which indicates
that it does not constitute available resources.

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond December 31, 2022 are recorded
as prepaid items using the consumption method by recording a current asset for the prepaid amount and
reflecting the expenditure/expense in the year in which it was consumed. Reported prepaid items are
included within the nonspendable fund balance classification in the governmental funds category, which
indicates that it does not constitute available resources.

Capital Assets
Capital assets include land, construction in progress, improvements to land, buildings, building

improvements, machinery, equipment, infrastructure and all other assets that are used in operations and
that have initial useful lives extending beyond a single reporting period. Infrastructure is defined as long-
lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature and normally can be preserved for a
significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. Examples of infrastructure include roads,
bridges, sidewalks, and similar items.

The City defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an
estimated useful life in excess of one year. All capital assets are valued at historical cost, or estimated
historical cost, if actual cost is not available. Donated capital assets are valued at their acquisition value
at the time received. Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type
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activities and proprietary funds is capitalized.

When capital assets are purchased, they are capitalized and depreciated in the government-wide
statements and the proprietary fund statements. Capital assets are recorded as expenditures of the current
period in the governmental fund financial statements.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Estimated useful lives of the various classes of depreciable capital assets are as follows:

Estimated Useful
Description Life (In Years)
Land improvements 10 to 26
Buildings and improvements 10 to 45
Machinery and equipment 3t020
Infrastructure 23 to 50

Compensated Absences

City employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts. In the event of termination, an
employee is reimbursed for accumulated vacation and sick leave at various rates. In conformity with
GASB Statement No. 16, “Accounting for Compensated Absences”, a liability for vacation leave is
accrued if: a) the employee’s rights to payment are attributable to services already rendered; and b) it is
probable that the employer will compensate the employees for the benefits through paid time off or other
means, such as cash payment at termination or retirement. A liability for sick leave is based on the sick
leave accumulated at the balance sheet date by those employees who are currently eligible to receive
termination payments, as well as those employees expected to become eligible in the future in accordance
with GASB Statement No. 16. Sick leave benefits are accrued using the “vesting” method in accordance
with GASB Statement No. 16."

Vested vacation and sick leave is recorded as an expense in the government-wide statements for the
period in which such leave was earned. For governmental fund financial statements, compensated
absences are recognized as liabilities in the general fund and expenditures as payments come due each
period upon the occurrence of employee resignations and retirements.

Payment of vacation and sick leave recorded in the government-wide financial statements is dependent
upon many factors; therefore, timing of future payments is not readily determinable. Management
believes that sufficient resources will be made available when payment is due.

Fund Balance

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54, Fund Balance
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the City classifies its fund balance based on the
purpose for which the resources were received and the level of constraint placed on the resources. The
following categories are used:

Nonspendable — resources that are not in spendable form (inventory, prepaid expenses, and the
difference between lease receivables and lease deferred inflows of resources) or have a legal or
contractual requirement to maintain the balance intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion
includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash. It also includes the long-term amount
of interfund loans.

Restricted — resources that have external purpose restraints imposed on them by providers, such as
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creditors, grantors, or other regulators, or through enabling legislation.

Committed — resources that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed on
them by the government by formal action (ordinance) at its highest level of decision-making
authority, City Council. These committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the
City Council changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed previously to
commit those amounts.

Assigned — resources that are intended to be used for specific purposes as approved by the City
Manager with authority given by City Charter. In governmental funds other than the general fund,
assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In the
general fund, assigned amounts represent intended uses established by City Council or a City
official delegated that authority by City Charter or ordinance, or by State Statute.

Unassigned — residual fund balance within the General Fund that is not restricted, committed, or
assigned. In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification is used only to report a deficit
balance resulting from incurred expenses for specific purposes exceeding amounts that had been
restricted, committed or assigned for said purposes.

The City applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes that both restricted
and unrestricted net position is available. The City considers committed, assigned, and unassigned fund
balances, respectively, to be spent when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which any of the
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

K. Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources. The caption “Net investment in capital assets” consists of capital
assets net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages,
notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets or related debt also should be included in this
component of net position.

Net position is reported as restricted when constraints placed upon their use are either: 1) externally
imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments, or 2) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The
net position is restricted for other purposes result from special revenue funds and the restrictions on their
intended use. When both restricted and non-restricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s
policy to use restricted resources first, and then non-restricted resources, as they are needed.

L. Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB assets, net pension and net OPEB liabilities, deferred outflows
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB, and pension and OPEB
expenses, information about the fiduciary net position of the pension and OPEB plans and addition
to/deductions from their fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the pension and OPEB plans. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The
pension and OPEB plans report investments at fair value.
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. Grants and Other Intergovernmental Revenues

Federal grants and assistance awards made on the basis of entitlement periods are recorded as
intergovernmental receivables and revenues when entitlement occurs. All other reimbursement-type
grants are recorded as intergovernmental receivables and revenues when the related expenditures are
incurred.

. Interfund Activity
Transfers between governmental and business-type activities on the government-wide statements are
reported in the same manner as general revenues.

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a
requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other
financing sources/uses in governmental funds and after nonoperating revenues/expenses in proprietary
funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to the funds that initially
paid for them are not presented on the financial statements.

. Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenditure/expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements, and all payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary funds
are reported on the proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely
manner and in full from current financial resources are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported
as a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the
current year. Net pension/OPEB liability should be recognized in the governmental funds, which include
the general fund, street repair and maintenance fund, and other non-major special revenue funds, to the
extent that benefit payments are due and payable and the pension/OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is
not sufficient for payment of those benefits.

. Interfund Balances

On fund financial statements, receivables and payables resulting from short-term interfund loans are
classified as “advances to/from other funds” and as “due from/to other funds”. These amounts are
eliminated in the governmental and business-type activities columns of the statement of net position,
except for any net residual amounts due between governmental and business-type activities, which are
presented as internal balances.

Contributions of Capital

Contributions of capital in proprietary fund financial statements arise from outside contributions of
capital assets or from grants or outside contributions of resources restricted to capital acquisition and
construction and from contributions from governmental funds.
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2.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
The City maintains a cash deposit and investment pool for all funds, except for the following:

»  Municipal Court, a custodial fund, maintains its deposits in a separate checking account in the amount
of $364,180 at December 31, 2022.

»  An outside agency, Shelby County, is holding cash deposits for the County Auto License Fund (a
nonmajor governmental fund) in the amount of $26,172 at December 31, 2022.

» Miami Valley Risk Management Association, a joint insurance pool, is holding a cash reserve for the
City’s insurance purposes included in the General Fund in the amount of $528,045 at December 31,
2022.

»  Insurance premiums collected and paid for on behalf of the City employees’ health insurance are held
in a separate checking account reported in the Self-Insurance Fund (an internal service fund) in the
amount of $1,026,208 at December 31, 2022.

»  Imprest cash held on hand was $3,000 at December 31, 2022.

At December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of the City's deposits was $16,605,446 and the bank cash
balance was $42,917 and the SWEEP bank balance was $17,014,017. Of the bank cash balance all was
covered by federal depository insurance.

Protection of the City's cash deposits is provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), by
eligible securities pledged by the financial institution as security for repayment, or by the financial
institutions participation in OPCS, a collateral pool of eligible securities deposited with a qualified trustee
and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment of all public monies deposited in the financial
institution.

The State of Ohio by statute has established collateral requirements for financial institutions acting as public
depositories. The public depositories must either pledge specific qualified securities through the Ohio Pooled
Collateral System with a market value of at least equal to 102% of the total amount of all public deposits to
be secured, or pledge a pool of collateral with a market value of at least 105% of the total amount of public
deposits secured. Pooled securities so pledged provide the equivalent of a deposit insurance fund. This
approach protects all public entities against a single public depository collapse. The state has implemented
collateral pools to minimize the interest penalty to public entities for protecting public deposits. For the year
ended December 31, 2022, the City’s financial institution was approved for a reduced collateral rate of 50%
through the Ohio Pooled Collateral System. Although all statutory requirements for the deposit of money had
been followed, noncompliance with Federal requirements could potentially subject the City to a successful
claim by the FDIC. All investments are reported at fair value, which is based on quoted market prices. The
City has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Since the SWEEP is a
money market investment those funds are not included in the City’s collateral funds.

Pooled Investments:
Each fund's share of investments is shown separately on the combined balance sheet as "pooled investments."
Income accrued on investments is shown collectively by fund on the balance sheet as "interest receivable."

The City’s pooled investments consisted of Negotiable Certificates of Deposit (CDs), U.S. Government-
Sponsored agencies, a money market mutual fund, and State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Ohio),
totaling $33,623,646 at December 31, 2022. These pooled investments have weighted average maturity of
approximately six months. The weighted average maturity was calculated using estimated maturity dates at
December 31, 2022 based on the City's Investment Advisor's estimate of when an investment will be called.
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Interest Rate Risk. To the extent possible, the City will attempt to match its investments with anticipated
cash flow requirements. In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines
in fair values by not directly investing in securities maturing more than five years from the date of purchase
unless matched to a specific cash flow requirement.

Credit Risk. As of December 31, 2022, the City’s investments in government-sponsored agencies, except
STAR Ohio, were rated AA+ by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service. STAR Ohio and
money market fund carry a rating of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. The CDs are covered by FDIC. The
City’s investment policy is silent regarding credit risk of investments.

Custodial Credit Risk. The ORC, the City's charter, and the City’s investment policy authorize the City to
invest in the STAR Ohio, certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, United States treasury bills and
notes, notes issued by United States agencies and government-sponsored corporations, bankers' acceptances
and commercial paper of the highest rating. The above legislative investment policy applies to all funds and
fund types. All deposits are made to authorized public depositories and contracts with such institutions that
are in accordance with the ORC and the City's charter.

Concentration of Credit Risk. To avoid over-concentration in securities from a specific issuer or business
sector (excluding securities of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. government-sponsored agencies), the City has
established the following maximum allocations based on investments valued at cost:

Certificates of Deposit 50%
Commercial Paper and Banker Acceptances 40%
STAR Ohio 50%
State and local government bonds or other obligations 20%

Investments in any issuer that represents 5% or more of the total investments (excluding cash and cash
equivalents) at December 31, 2022 include:

Issuer Fair Value Percent
U.S. Government-Sponsored agencies:

Federal Home Loan Bank $ 8,071,912 24%
Money Market Fund $ 2,535,486 8%
Star Ohio $ 16,624,295 * 49%
U.S. Treasury Notes $ 5,316,805 16%

*Valued at amortized cost

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value
of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 inputs are
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The table above
identifies the City’s recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2022.

The City's investments in Federal Home Loan Bank and CDs are valued using quoted prices in markets that
are not considered to be active dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources for similar assets or liabilities
for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly (Level 2 inputs). The City’s
investments in the money market fund are valued using quoted market prices in active markets (Level 1
inputs).
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STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’s Office which allows governments within
the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an
investment company, but has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Statement No.
79, “Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants.” The City measures its investment in STAR
Ohio at the net asset value (NAV) per share provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is calculated on an
amortized cost basis that provides an NAV per share that approximates fair value.

For 2022, there were no limitations or restrictions on any participant withdrawals due to redemption notice
periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates. However, notice must be given 24 hours in advance of all
deposits and withdrawals exceeding $100 million. STAR Ohio reserves the right to limit the transaction to
$250 million, requiring the excess amount to be transacted the following business day(s), but only to the $250
million limit. All accounts of the participant will be combined for these purposes.

Income Taxes:

Municipalities within the State of Ohio are permitted by state statute to levy an income tax up to a maximum
rate of 1% subject to the approval of the local legislative body. Any rate in excess of 1% requires the
approval of a majority of the eligible voters residing within the municipal corporation. The City of Sidney
levies a permanent 1.5% tax on all wages, salaries, commissions and other compensation paid by employers
and the net profits from a business or professional person earned within the City, excluding income from
intangible personal property. In addition, City residents pay City income tax on income earned outside the
City, net of a credit for income taxes paid to other municipalities.

In an election held during November 2019, voters approved an income tax levy of an additional annual tax on
income (.15%) commencing on and after January 1, 2020 and sunsetting December 31, 2024 to provide funds
for the construction, reconstruction, resurfacing and maintenance of streets, alleys, bridges, curbs and gutters
and cost incidental thereto.

Property Taxes:
Property taxes are levied against all real and public utility property located in the City. Revenues from

property taxes are used by the City pursuant to state statutes for General Fund operations and as a partial
provision for payment of accrued police and fire pension costs.

Ohio law prohibits taxation of property from all taxing authorities in excess of 1% (10 mills) of assessed
value without a vote of the people. Under current procedures, the City's share is 0.320% (3.2 mills) of
assessed value, including .6 mills to fund the police and fire unfunded pension liability.

Real property and public utility taxes collected during 2022 were levied on December 31, 2021 on assessed
values listed as of January 1, 2021, the lien date. One-half of these taxes were due on February 14, 2022 with
the remaining balance due on July 20, 2022.

Assessed values of real property are established by State law at 35% of appraised market value. A revaluation
of all property is required to be completed no less than every six years with equalization adjustments in the
third year following reappraisal. The last revaluation was completed in 2020. Public utility property taxes
are assessed on tangible personal property as well as land and improvements at true value (50% of cost). The
assessed value for 2021 upon which the 2022 levy was based was approximately $420,479,620. The assessed
value for 2022 upon which the 2023 levy will be based is approximately $427,332,820.

The Shelby County Treasurer collects property taxes on behalf of all taxing districts, including the City of
Sidney. The County Auditor periodically remits to the City its portion of taxes collected.
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6. Receivables:
Receivables at December 31, 2022, consisted of taxes, accounts, interest, leases, loans, special assessments,
other receivables, and intergovernmental receivables arising from grants, entitlements, and shared revenue.
All intergovernmental receivables have been classified as “Receivables from other governments” on the fund
financial statements. Receivables have been recorded to the extent that they are measurable at December 31,
2022. A summary of the principal items of receivables reported on the statement of net position follows:

Governmental Business-type
activities: activities:

Income taxes $ 5,160,523 $ -
Property taxes 1,259,721 -
Other taxes 37,076 -
Accounts - 2,342,590
Interest 32,401 39,432
Leases 62,672 170,513
Loans 561,799 -
Special assessments 273,960 -
Other 284,312 173,012
Receivables from other governments 1,941,679 295,224

Total Receivables $ 9,614,143  $ 3,020,771

Receivables have been aggregated on the face of the basic financial statements. The only receivables not
expected to be collected within the subsequent year are loans and leases receivable.

In previous years, the City entered into a lease as a Lessor for a building. An initial lease receivable was
recorded in the amount of $84,933. As of December 31, 2022 the lease receivable balance is $62,672. Below
are the annual rental amounts for the lease that the lessee must pay in equal monthly installments.

July 1, 2021-June 30,2022 : $25,469

July 1, 2022-June 30,2023 : $25,978

July 1, 2023-June 30,2024 : $26,498

July 1, 2024-June 30,2025 : $27,028
The lease has an implicit interest rate of 4.62%. The value of the deferred inflow of resources as of December
31, 2022 was $60,666. The City of Sidney recognized lease revenue of $24,268 and interest revenue of
$3,462 during the fiscal year.

The City of Sidney also previously entered into two leases to rent airport hangars. The first lease had a
beginning receivable balance of $58,855. As of December 31, 2022 the lease receivable balance was $56,001.
The lease term is for 120 months, but has an option of continuing the lease for an additional 120 months. It is
reasonably certain the lease will continue for the option. The lease rent is $300 per month for the first 120
months and then increases to $350 for the option period (120 months). The implicit interest rate is 1.3%. The
value of the deferred inflow of resources as of December 31, 2022 was $55,306. The City recognized lease
revenue of $3,549 and interest revenue of $746 during the fiscal year. The second lease had a beginning
receivable balance of $120,103 and as of December 31, 2022 the balance was $114,512. The lease had an
original term of 120 months, an option to extend for 120 months, and an additional option to extend for 108
months. The lessee is currently in the first option period. It is reasonably certain the lease will continue for
the second option. The lease calls for rent of $600 a month for the first option and $700 a month for the
second option. The implicit interest rate is 1.37%. The value of the deferred inflow of resources as of
December 31, 2022 was $113,174. Lease revenue recognized was $6,929 and interest revenue of $1,609 for
the fiscal year.
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7. Capital Assets:

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

Governmental activities:

Capital assets not being depreciated.:

Land
Construction in progress

Subtotal

Capital assets being depreciated.:

Buildings and land improvements
Machinery and equipment
General infrastructure

Subtotal

Totals at historical cost

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and land improvements
Machinery and equipment
General infrastructure
Total accumulated depreciation
Net capital assets

Depreciation was charged to governmental activities as follows:

Community development
Community environment

Fire

General government

Health

Judicial

Parks and recreation

Police

Street repairs and maintenance

Total governmental funds depreciation expense

Internal service funds’ depreciation

Total additions to accumulated depreciation of governmental activities
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Beginning Net Ending
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Balance

8,515392 $ 89,817 $ - - $ 8,605,209
441,293 743,564 - (145,508) 1,039,349
8,956,685 833,381 - (145,508) 9,644,558
20,216,185 505,592 - - 20,721,777
16,428,824 809,185 (303,940) - 16,934,069
86,833,798 4,895,196 - - 91,728,994
123,478,807 6,209,973 (303,940) - 129,384,840
132,435,492 7,043,354 (303,940) (145,508) 139,029,398
9,915,300 435,218 - - 10,350,518
11,458,761 1,136,014 (303,940) - 12,290,835
41,902,897 3,024,578 - - 44,927,475
63,276,958 4,595,810 (303,940) - 67,568,828
69,158,534 $ 2,447,544 $ - (145,508) $ 71,460,570

$ 5,536

4,262

469,952

54,293

47,902

121,252

211,754

427,928

_3.098.406

$4.441.285

154,525

$ 4,595,810
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Business-type activities:
Beginning Net Ending
Balance Additions Disposals Transfers Balance
Capital assets not being depreciated.
Land $ 7,403,192 $ - $ - - $ 7,403,192
Construction in progress 182,084 1,212,937 - (34,829) 1,360,192
Subtotal 7,585,276 1,212,937 - (34,829) 8,763,384
Capital assets being depreciated.:
Buildings, improvements and
Infrastructure 128,150,713 799,996 - - 128,950,709
Machinery and equipment 16,168,734 733,076 (98,808) 34,829 16,837,831
Subtotal 144,319,447 1,533,072 (98,808) 34,829 145,788,540
Totals at historical cost 151,904,723 2,746,009 (98,808) - 154,551,924
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings, improvements and
Infrastructure 41,369,383 2,553,413 - - 43,922,796
Machinery and equipment 13,024,434 682,492 (98,808) - 13,608,118
Total accumulated
depreciation 54,393,817 3,235,905 (98,808) - 57,530,914
Net capital assets $ 97,510,906 $ (489,896) $ - - $ 97,021,010
Depreciation was charged to business-type activities as follows:
Airport $ 236,526
Concession Stand 167
Sewer 1,454,029
Sidney Water Park 31,967
Stormwater 228,923
Transportation 154,780
Water 1,129,513
Total additions to accumulated depreciation of business-type activities $ 3,235,905

THIS SPACE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK
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8.

Noncurrent Liabilities:

The following is a summary of changes for noncurrent liabilities of the City for the year ended December 31,

2022:

Governmental activities:

Loan — direct borrowing

OPWC Loan, 2017-2037, 0%,
Fielding Road Reconstruction

General obligation bonds

Current Refunding G.O. bonds, 2020-
2024, 2.0%, Police Facility
Construction

G.O. bonds, 2011-2022, 2.0% to 2.5%,
Fire & Police Pension

Current Refunding G.O. bonds 2020-
2030, 2.0% , Kuther Road TIF, Water
& Sewer Infrastructure

Current Refunding G.O. bonds, 2020-
2025, 2.0%, Menards TIF, Sewer
Infrastructure

Other long-term liabilities

Premium on Bonds

Net Pension Liability

Ohio Public Employees Retirement
System (OPERS)

Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund
(OP&F)

Net OPEB Liability

Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund
(OP&F)

Accrued vacation and sick leave

Total

Balance Balance Due
January 1, December 31, Within
2022 Additions Reductions 2022 One Year
$ 117,750 §$ - 5 7,850 $ 109,900 $ 7,850
1,440,000 - 465,000 975,000 480,000
35,000 - 35,000 - -
135,000 - 10,000 125,000 10,000
220,000 - 50,000 170,000 55,000
68,562 - 21,165 47,396 -
5,199,959 - 2,073,797 3,126,162 -
16,878,618 - 1,626,498 15,252,120 -
2,623,283 52,642 - 2,675,925 -
2,103,574 733,995 732,215 2,105,354 183,969
$28,821,746 $ 786,637 $ 5,021,525 $24,586,857 $ 736,819
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Business-type activities:

Balance
January 1,
2022

Additions

Reductions

Balance
December 31,
2022

Due
Within
One Year

OWDA loans — direct borrowings:
Water fund:

O.W.D.A. loans, 2009-2029, 0% ARRA
—Distribution system upgrades,
Automated water meter reads system

O.W.D.A. loans, 2009-2029, 0% ARRA
— NMHP distribution system

O.W.D.A. Construction loan 2015-
2046, 3.3% Water transmission lines

O.W.D.A. Construction loan 2016-
2048, 2.2% Lime Sludge Lagoon
Reconstruction

WPCLF loans — direct borrowings:

Sewer fund:

W.P.C.L.F. Construction loan 2015-
2035, 2.18% Wastewater Phase |
Improvements

W.P.C.L.F. Design & Construction loan
2020-2040, 1.95% Wastewater Phase
1l Improvements

General obligation bonds:
Water fund:
Current Refunding G.O. bonds, 2020-

2040, 2.0% to 4.5% Water Source
testing

Current Refunding G.O. bonds, 2020-
2040, 2.0%, Water source property
acquisition and other water source
projects

Sewer fund:
G.O. bonds, 2011-2022, 2.0% to 2.5% -
Wastewater system improvements

Current Refunding G.O. bonds, 2020-
2037, 2.0%, Wastewater system and
plant improvements

Other long-term liabilities:

Proprietary funds:

Water - Premium on Bonds
Sewer - Premium on Bonds
Net pension liability - OPERS

§ 1,861,798

125,664

19,110,286

4,945,378

7,607,987

5,643,706

505,000

2,015,000

555,000

3,440,000

84,550
138,191
2,642,308
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$ 219,035

15,708

487,622

135,837

402,123

256,051

30,000

85,000

555,000

195,000

4,450
11,552
1,143,708

§ 1,642,763

109,956

18,622,664

4,809,541

7,205,864

5,387,655

475,000

1,930,000

3,245,000

80,100
126,639
1,498,600

$ 219,035

15,708

503,845

138,842

410,938

261,069

30,000

90,000

200,000
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Balance Balance Due
January 1, December 31, Within
Business-type activities: 2022 Additions Reductions 2022 One Year
Other long-term liabilities: (continued)
Proprietary funds: (continued)
Accrued vacation and sick leave 490,702 181,136 170.873 500.965 23.485
Total $49.165,570 $181,136 $3.711,959  $45,634,747 $1,892,922

The full faith and credit of the City are pledged as collateral for all general obligation bonds.

The Sewer Fund’s general obligation bonds are expected to be paid with sewer revenues generated from
sewer rates. The Water Fund’s general obligation bonds are expected to be paid with water revenues
generated from water rates. The Kuther Road TIF and Menards TIF general obligation bonds are expected to
be paid with payments-in-lieu of taxes received from property owners.

During fiscal year 2009 the City entered into two loans with the Ohio Water Development Authority
(OWDA). The first loan was issued for the purpose of making improvements to the water meter read and
distribution system. Water revenue, net of operating and maintenance expenses, is pledged as repayment for
this loan.

The second loan was issued on behalf of Northbrook Mobile Home Park to provide them with financing for
water system upgrades. Repayment of this loan is the responsibility of the Northbrook Mobile Home Park;
however, the loan is backed by water revenues of the City in the case of default. A receivable in the amount
of $109,956 at December 31, 2022 is recorded as a component of other receivables in the Water Fund on the
basic financial statements.

A 30-year construction loan from OWDA was entered into for the construction of wells at the new water
source and transmission lines back to the Water Treatment Plant. The interest rate is 3.30%. Accrued interest
of $268,889 has also been added to the principal balance. The City has been making loan payments since
2017; principal paid in the amount of $2,494,759 through December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, this
loan has an outstanding loan balance in the amount of $18,622,664.

During fiscal year 2016 the City entered into a 30-year construction loan with the OWDA for reconstruction
of the Water Treatment Plant’s lime sludge lagoon. The interest rate is 2.20%. Accrued interest of $38,002
has also been added to the principal balance. The City began making loan payments starting in 2019;
principal paid in the amount of $525,962 through December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022 the loan has
an outstanding loan balance in the amount of $4,809,541.

To repay these water loans issued by OWDA the City has pledged future water customer revenues, net of
specified operating expenses. The loans are payable solely from water customer net revenues and are payable
through 2048. Annual payments on the loans are expected to require 42% of net revenues. The total
principal payments to be paid on the loans as of December 31, 2022 are $25,184,924. Principal and interest
paid and total customer net revenues for 2022 were $1,592,905 and $3,793,854 respectively.

OWDA loans are direct borrowings that have terms negotiated directly between the City and the OWDA and
are not offered for public sale. In the event of default, the OWDA may declare the full amount of the then
unpaid original loan amount to be immediately due and payable and/or require the City to pay any fines,
penalties, interest, or late charges associated with the default.
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A 20-year loan from Water Pollution Control Loan Fund (WPCLF), which is administered jointly by the
Ohio Environmental & Finance Assistance (OEFA) and OWDA, was entered into in October 2015. This
loan provided funding for various sewer projects designed to achieve compliance with Ohio Environmental
Protection Agency mandates. The interest rate is 2.18%, and the City’s loan balance is $7,205,864 as of
December 31, 2022.

In 2018 the City received WPCLF loan for phase II of the wastewater treatment plant capital improvements.
The loan funded phase II of the various sewer projects designed to achieve compliance with Ohio
Environmental Protection Agency mandates. This loan is being paid back over a twenty-year period at an
interest rate of 1.95%. As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding loan balance was $5,387,655.

To repay these sewer loans issued by WPLCEF, the City has pledged future sewer revenues, net of specified
operating expenses. The loans are payable solely from sewer customer net revenues and are payable through
2040. Annual payments on the loans are expected to require 27% of net revenues. The total principal
payments to be paid on the loans as of December 31, 2022 are $12,593,519. Principal and interest paid and
total customer net revenues for 2022 were $930,660 and $3,421,719, respectively.

WPCLF loans are direct borrowings that have terms negotiated directly between the City and the WPCLF
and are not offered for public sale. In the event of default, the WPCLF may declare the full amount of the
then unpaid original loan amount to be immediately due and payable and/or require the City to pay any fines,
penalties, interest, or late charges associated with the default.

During 2016 the City entered into a grant/loan agreement with the Ohio Public Works Commission for the
reconstruction of Fielding Road. The amount of the loan agreement was $157,000 with a zero percent
interest rate and repayment over a 20-year term.

OPWC loans are direct borrowings that have terms negotiated directly between the City and the OPWC and
are not offered for public sale. In the event of default, the OPWC may declare the full amount of the then
unpaid original loan amount to be immediately due and payable and/or require the City to pay any fines,
penalties, interest, or late charges associated with the default.

Annual requirements to pay principal and interest on long-term debt at December 31, 2022 are:

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Principal Interest Principal Interest

2023 $ 552,850 § 25,400 $1,869,437 $ 1,087,129

2024 572,850 14,500 1,893,395 1,046,770
2025 82,850 3,200 1,933,276 1,005,689
2026 22,850 1,700 1,979,108 963,557
2027 22,850 1,400 2,010,916 920,249
2028-2032 94,250 2,300 10,168,188 3,913,626
2033-2037 31,400 - 10,838,015 2,651,295
2038-2042 - - 6,747,846 1,428,420
2043-2047 - - 5,748,336 485,340
2048 - - 239,926 3,966
Total _$ 1,379,900 $ 48,500 $43,428,443 $13,506,041
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9. Contingent Liabilities:

10.

The City is the defendant in various court actions, but either it is covered by insurance or the amount or

nature of the issue involved are not material in relation to the basic financial statements.

The City participates in several state and federally assisted programs (primarily Transportation and
Community Development Block Grants) which are subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or
their representatives. The grantor agencies, at their option, may perform economy and efficiency audits,
program results audits or conduct monitoring visits. Such audits and visits could lead to reimbursement to

the grantor agencies. Management believes such reimbursements, if any, would not be material.

Significant Commitments:

The encumbrances (amounts committed to liquidate purchase orders of the prior periods) at December 31,

2022 for governmental activities are as follows:

Fund
General

Capital Improvement

Municipal Income Tax for Street Capital Projects

Non-major governmental funds

Total

Contractual Commitment:

Significant contractual commitments outstanding as of December 31, 2022 are:

Total Encumbrances

$ 266,765
1,959,576
108,970
458,979

$2,794,290

Contracted Amount

Project/Product/Service Amounts Expended Amount Remaining
Housing Initiative Development $ 117,000 $ 71,500 $ 45,500
Schultz Battery Park Sculpture $ 90,000 $ 15,000 $ 75,000
HVAC Updates $ 128,483 $ 126,583 $ 1,900
CHIP HOME Grant $ 183,700 $ - $ 183,700
Medic $ 251,368 $ - $ 251,368
Wagner Building Raze/Repair $ 131,275 $ 31,763 $ 99,512
Sidewalk Program $ 195,942 $ 161,419 $ 34,523
St Rt 47 Safety Improvement Phase IV $ 2,195,427 $ 2,132,527 $ 62,900
Spruce Ave Bridge Replacement $ 467,937 $ 288,917 $ 179,020
Recreational Trail Development $ 1,254,875 $ - $ 1,254,875
Monumental Building Window Repair $ 261,580 $ 103,730 $ 157,850
Police Report Management $ 147,557 $ 133,349 $ 14,208
Marilyn/Ann Water Main Replacement $ 840,673 $ 728,758 $ 111,915
Sidney Industrial Park/Semcorp $ 240,400 $ 191,831 $ 48,569
Meter Replacements $ 1,020,000 $ 940,715 $ 79,285
Replace Valve Actuators $ 96,803 $ 75,000 $ 21,803
Three Well Replacements $ 621,486 $ 61,322 $ 560,164
4th Ave Serwer/Storm $ 214,564 $ 731 $ 213,833
Brooklyn Ave Sewer Diversion $ 106,175 $ 78,490 $ 27,685
Fairmont Drive Sewer Replacement $ 331,993 $ 25,000 $ 306,993
Taxiway A Rehab & Lighting $ 461,905 $ 391,874 $ 70,031
Partial Parallel Taxiway $ 205,000 $ 190,266 $ 14,734
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11.

Joint Venture:

The City has entered into a joint venture with Logan/Shelby County N911 in order to provide proper
management for the combined 911 system and the shared services for all affected members. The property
used with the 911 system will be equally owned by all of the initial departments regardless of physical
location. As of December 31, 2022 the City had spent a total of $96,702 for their vested interest in the
acquisition of the 911 system.

12. Interfund Activity:

13.

Interfund transfers in the basic financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 were:

Fund Transfer In Transfer Out

General $ 441,262 $ 487,804
Street Repair & Maintenance 237,000 -
Capital Improvement - 279,695
Non-major enterprise funds 482,499 -
Non-major governmental funds 224,900 618,162
$ 1,385,661 $ 1,385,661

All interfund transfers are routine in nature and are to subsidize the operations of the applicable funds. All
transfers were made in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Sections 5705.14, 5705.15 and 5705.16.
Transfers between governmental funds are eliminated on the government wide financial statements.
Transfers between governmental funds and proprietary funds (business-type activities) are reported as
transfers on the statement of activities. One cash advance is outstanding at December 31, 2022 for $30,000
from the General Fund to the Law Enforcement Diversion Grant Fund (a nonmajor governmental fund)
which is for a reimbursable grant. At December 31, 2022, the City also had amounts due from the General
Fund to the Capital Improvement Fund. The primary purpose of the amount due to the Capital Improvement
Fund from the General fund was to account for the Capital Improvement Fund's share of Income Taxes
available for transfer but were limited by appropriations.

Risk Management:

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, thefts of, damage to and destruction of assets,
errors and omissions, injuries to employees and natural disasters. The City has joined the Miami Valley Risk
Management Association, Inc. (MVRMA), a joint insurance pool. The pool consists of twenty-one
municipalities who pool risk for property, crime, liability, boiler and machinery and public official liability.

The City pays an annual premium to MVRMA for this coverage. The agreement provides that the MVRMA
will be self-sustaining through member premiums and the purchase of excess and stop-loss insurance. The
deductible per occurrence for all types of claims is $2,500. During 2022, the Association’s per-occurrence
retention limit for property was $250,000, with the exception of boiler and machinery for which there was
$25,000 to $500,000 per occurrence retention. Liability had a per-occurrence retention limit of $500,000.
After the retention limits are reached, excess insurance will cover up to the limits stated below.

General Liability (including law enforcement) $12,000,000 per occurrence
Automobile Liability $12,000,000 per occurrence
Public Officials Liability $12,000,000 per occurrence
Boiler and Machinery $100,000,000 per occurrence
Property $1,000,000,000 per occurrence
Earthquake $25,000,000 per occurrence
Flood $25,000,000 per occurrence
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14.

15.

16.

Cyber Liability $2,000,000 per occurrence
Pollution Liability $2,000,000 per occurrence

Except for property coverage, there were no significant reductions in insurance coverage during the year in
any category of risk. Settled claims did not exceed insurance coverage in each of the past three years.

Self-Insurance:

During 2015, the City chose to establish a risk financing fund for risks associated with the employees’
health insurance plan. The City is now a member of a Medical Purchasing Cooperative through Ohio
Benefits Cooperative where Jefferson Health Plan is the administrative party through which to purchase
insurance, stop loss insurance, and other benefit services including the use of Anthem as the third party
administrator processing claims. The risk financing fund is accounted for as an internal service fund where
assets are set aside for claim settlements. A premium is charged to each fund that accounts for part-time or
full-time employees. The total charge allocated to each of the funds is calculated using trends in actual
claims experience. Provisions are also made for unexpected and unusual claims.

Liabilities of the fund are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not
reported (IBNR). Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim
settlement trends including frequency and amount of pay-outs, and other economic and social factors.

Changes in the balances of claims liabilities during the past fiscal year are as follows:

2021 2022
Unpaid claims, beginning of the year $ 270,324 $ 262,602
Incurred claims (including IBNR's) 2,086,804 1,735,936
Claim payments (2,094,526) (1,804,556)
Unpaid claims, end of year $ 262,602 $ 193,982

Change in Accounting Principles:

For 2022, the City has implemented GASB Statement No. 87, “Leases” and guidance from and (GASB)
Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, which had no effect on beginning net position or fund balance.

Components of Fund Balance:

Fund balance is classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and/or unassigned based

primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the
resources in the governmental funds.
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The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental funds and all other governmental funds
are presented below:

Municipal
Street Repair Capital Earned Income Other Non -major
General & Maintenance Improvement Tax for Street Governmental
Fund balances: Fund Fund Fund Capital Fund Funds Total
Nons pendable
Inventory $ 75,544  $ 166,564 $ - $ - $ - $ 242,108
Prepaid Items 35,024 1,551 15,004 - 9,426 61,005
Leases - - - - 2,006 2,006
Restricted for:
Streets & Highway - 246,113 - 1,741,543 284,903 2,272,559
Law Enforcement - - - - 439,101 439,101
Municipal Court - - - - 541,288 541,288
Cemetery - - - - 1,057,247 1,057,247
Community
development - - - - 250,082 250,082
Tax incremental
financing - - - - 157,972 157,972
Other purposes - - - - 84,619 84,619
Committed to:
27th pay 404,983 - - - - 404,983
Community
development 35,075 - - - - 35,075
Fire - - - - 57,514 57,514
Health - - - - 97,427 97,427
Separation Pay 805,343 - - - - 805,343
Debt Service 176,900 176,900
Other purposes - - - - 110,436 110,436
Assigned to:
Capital projects - - 4,594,975 - - 4,594,975
Future
commitments 1,834,589 - - - - 1,834,589
Other purposes 315,051 - - - - 315,051
Unassigned: 10,900,945 - - - (40,365) 10,860,580
$ 14,406,554 $ 414228 $ 4,609,979 $ 1,741,543  $ 3,228,556  $ 24,400,860

17. Fund Deficits at December 31, 2022:
Law Enforcement Diversion Grant Fund (a nonmajor governmental fund) has a deficit fund balance of
$2,901 as a result of timing of receipts of grant funding on a modified accrual basis. Local Fiscal Recovery
(ARP) (a nonmajor governmental fund) has a deficit balance of $37,464 as a result of accounts payable.
Garage/Fleet Fund (an internal service fund) has a deficit ending net position of $183,923 and Revenue
Collections Fund (an internal service fund) has a deficit ending net position of $285,070, due to the accrual of
pension and OPEB under GASB 68 & 75, which is long term in nature.

18. Tax Abatement Disclosures
The City of Sidney currently provides tax incentives under two different programs: the Community
Reinvestment Area (CRA) and an Enterprise Zone.
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Real Estate Tax Abatements

Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5709, the City establishes Community Reinvestment Area. The City
authorizes incentives through a passage of public ordinances, based upon each property or businesses owner’s
investment criteria, and through a contractual application process with each property or businesses owner’s,
including proof that the improvement has been made. The abatement equals an agreed upon percentage of the
additional property tax resulting from the increase in assessed value as a result of the improvements. The
amount of the abatement is deducted from the recipient’s property tax bill. The establishment of these
Community Reinvestment Areas gave the City the ability to maintain and expand businesses located in the
City and created new jobs by abating or reducing assessed valuation of properties, resulting in abated taxes,
from new or improved business real estate and includes major housing improvements. The City of Sidney
also contracts with Sidney City Board of Education for payments in lieu of taxes when required by Section
5709.82 of the Ohio Revised Code.

The City also has several Enterprise Zone abatements made through a contractual application process based
upon certain criteria, in which the enterprise agrees to expand, renovate, or occupy a facility. The abatement
equals an agreed upon percentage up to seventy-five percent of assessed valuation of real property
constituting the project site subsequent to formal approval of City Council. The City of Sidney also contracts
with Sidney City Board of Education for payments in lieu of taxes when required by Section 5709.82 of the
Ohio Revised Code.

The City has also granted a manufacturing company a four-year Municipal Income Tax Job Retention Tax
Credit. As long as over the next eight years they maintain a Sidney labor force of at least 1,126 full-time
equivalents and annual payroll of $80.9 million, they will receive an annual tax credit of $125,000 for four
years. This tax credit may be used to reduce their Sidney net profits’ tax which began in 2019.

Below is the information relevant to the disclosure of those programs for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Total Amount of Taxes
Abated (Incentives
Abated) Forthe Year
2022 (In Actual Dollars)

Community Reinvestment Area (CRA)

-Lodging $63,371

-Restaurant $4,376
Enterprise Zone Abatement

-Manufacturing $88,688

Income Tax Abatement
-Manufacturing $125,000
Pursuant to Section 5709.82 of the Ohio Revised Code, the City of Sidney and the Sidney City Board of
Education entered into Compensation Agreements, whereas the City of Sidney agreed to annually pay to
the Sidney City Schools the lesser of 75% of income tax attributable to new employees or the school’s
portion of the property tax abated. Compensation paid to the Sidney City Schools for the year ended
December 31, 2022 included the following:

-Manufacturing $ 5,773
-Lodging $ 7,096
-Restaurant $ 2,899
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19.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans:

Net Pension Liability

The net pension liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to employees for
pensions. Pensions are a component of exchange transactions—between an employer and its employees—of
salaries and benefits for employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment
basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an employer for employee services each financial
period. The obligation to sacrifice resources for pensions is a present obligation because it was created as a
result of employment exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the City’s proportionate share of each pension plan’s collective actuarial
present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each pension plan’s
fiduciary net position. The net pension liability calculation is dependent on critical long-term variables,
including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost of living adjustments and others.
While these estimates use the best information available, unknowable future events require adjusting this
estimate annually.

Ohio Revised Code (ORC) limits the City’s obligation for this liability to annual required payments. The City
cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; however, the City does receive
the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for compensation including pension.

GASB Statement No. 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they
benefit from employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these employers. All
contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also includes costs paid in the form of
withholdings from employees). State statute requires the pension plans to amortize unfunded liabilities within
30 years. If the amortization period exceeds 30 years, each pension plan’s board must propose corrective
action to the State legislature. Any resulting legislative change to benefits or funding could significantly
affect the net pension liability. Resulting adjustments to the net pension liability would be effective when the
changes are legally enforceable.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net pension liability on
the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for the contractually-required pension contribution outstanding
at the end of the year is included in salaries and benefits payable on both the accrual and modified accrual
bases of accounting.

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

Plan Description—City employees, other than full-time police and firefighters, participate in the Ohio Public
Employees Retirement System (OPERS). OPERS administers three separate pension plans. The traditional
pension plan is a cost-share, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. The member-directed plan is a
defined contribution plan and the combined plan is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plan
with defined contribution features. Effective January 1, 2022, members may no longer select the combined
plan. While members (e.g., City employees) may elect the member-directed plan and the combined plan, the
majority of employee members are in OPERS’ traditional plan; therefore, the following disclosure focuses on
the traditional pension plan.

OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits, and annual cost of living adjustments to
members of the traditional plan. Authority to establish and amend benefits is provided by Chapter 145 of the
ORC. OPERS issues a stand-alone financial report that includes financial statements, required supplementary
information and detailed information about OPERS’s fiduciary net position that may be obtained by visiting
www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System, 277
East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling 800-222-7377.
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Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with an effective date of January 7, 2013. In the legislation,
members were categorized into three groups with varying provisions of the law applicable to each group. The
following table provides age and service requirements for retirement and the retirement formula applied to
final average salary (FAS) for the three-member groups under the traditional plan as per the reduced benefits
adopted by SB 343 (see OPERS’ ACFR referenced above for additional information):

Group A Group B Group C
Eligible to retire prior to 20 years of service credit prior to Members not in other Groups
January 7, 2013 or five years January 7, 2013 or eligible to retire and members hired on or after
after January 7, 2013 ten years after January 7, 2013 January 7, 2013
State and Local State and Local State and Local
Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 5 years of service Age 60 with 5 years of service Age 57 with 25 years of service
credit or Age 55 with 25 years of credit or Age 55 with 25 years of credit or Age 62 with 5 years of
service credit service credit service credit
Formula: Formula: Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 30 years and service for the first 30 years and service for the first 35 years and
2.5% for service years in excess 2.5% for service years in excess 2.5% for service years in excess
of 30 years of 30 years of 35 years

Final average salary (FAS) represents the average of the three highest years of earnings over a member’s
career for Groups A and B. Group C is based on the average of the five highest years of earnings over a
member’s career.

Members who retire before meeting the age and years of service credit requirement for unreduced benefits
receive a percentage reduction in the benefit amount.

When a benefit recipient has received benefits for 12 months, an annual cost of living adjustment (COLA) is
provided. This COLA is calculated on the base retirement benefit at the date of retirement and is not
compounded. For those retiring prior to January 7, 2013, the COLA will continue to be a 3% simple annual
COLA. For those retiring subsequent to January 7, 2013, beginning in calendar year 2019, the COLA will be
based on the average percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index, capped at 3%.

Funding Policy—The ORC provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions. For 2022,
member contribution rates were 10% of salary and employer contribution rates were 14%. Employer
contribution rates are actuarially determined and are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll. The City’s
contractually required contribution was $1,178,281 for 2022. Of this amount, $141,421 is reported within
salaries and benefits payable.

Plan Description — Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund (OP&F)

City full-time police and firefighters participate in the Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund (OP&F), a cost-
sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered OP&F. OP&F provides retirement and
disability pension benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustment, and death benefits to plan members and
beneficiaries. Benefit provisions are established by the Ohio State Legislature and are codified in Chapter 742
of the ORC. OP&F issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements, required
supplementary information and detailed information about OP&F’s fiduciary net position. That report may be
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obtained by visiting https://www.op-f.org or by writing to the Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund, 140 East
Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-5164.

Upon attaining a qualifying age with sufficient years of service, a member of OP&F may retire and receive a
lifetime monthly pension. OP&F offers four types of service retirement: normal, service commuted,
age/service commuted and actuarially reduced. Each type has different eligibility guidelines and is calculated
using the member’s average annual salary. The following discussion of the pension formula relates to normal
service retirement.

For members hired after July 1, 2013, the minimum retirement age is 52 for normal service retirement with at
least 25 years of service credit. For members hired on or before July 1, 2013, the minimum retirement age is
48 for normal service retirement with at least 25 years of service credit.

The annual pension benefit for normal service retirement is equal to a percentage of the allowable average
annual salary. The percentage equals 2.5% for each of the first 20 years of service credit, 2.0% for each of the
next five years of service credit, and 1.5% for each year of service credit in excess of 25 years. The maximum
pension of 72% of the allowable average annual salary is paid after 33 years of service credit.

Under normal service retirement, retired members who are at least 55 years old and have been receiving
OP&F benefits for at least one year may be eligible for a cost-of-living allowance adjustment. The age 55
provision for receiving a COLA does not apply to those who are receiving a permanent and total disability
benefit and statutory survivors.

Members retiring under normal service retirement, with less than 15 years of service credit on July 1, 2013,
will receive a COLA equal to either 3% or the percent increase, if any, in the consumer price index (CPI)
over the 12-month period ending on September 30" of the immediately preceding year, whichever is less.
The COLA amount for members with at least 15 years of service credit as of July 1, 2013 is equal to 3% of
their base pension or disability benefit.

Funding Policy—The ORC provides statutory authority for member and employer contributions as follows:

Police Firefighters

2022 Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates
Employer 19.50% 24.00%
Employee 12.25% 12.25%
2022 Actual Contribution Rates
Employer

Pension 19.00% 23.50%

Post-employment Health Care Benefits 0.50% 0.50%
Total Employer 19.50% 24.00%
Employee 12.25% 12.25%

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of covered payroll. The City’s contractually
required contribution was $1,380,944 for 2022. Of this amount, $183,060 is reported with salaries and
benefits payable.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred QOutflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

The net pension liability for OPERS was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. OP&F’s
total pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2021, and was determined by rolling forward the
total pension liability as of January 1, 2021, to December 31, 2021. The City’s proportion of the net pension
liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected
contributions of all participating entities. Following is information related to the proportionate share:

OPERS OP&F Total

Proportionate share of the net

pension liability $ 4,624,761 $ 15,252,121 $ 19,876,882
Proportion of the net pension liability

Current measurement date 0.053156% 0.244135%

Prior measurement date 0.052960% 0.247593%

Change in proportionate share 0.000196% -0.003458%
Pension expense $ (671,658) $ 678,630 $ 6,972

At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:

OPERS OP&F Total
Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Differences between expected and
actual experience $ 235,763 $ 439,782 $ 675,545
Change in assumptions 578,322 2,787,433 3,365,755
Change in City's proportionate share and
difference in employer contributions 74,484 81,457 155,941
City contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,178,281 1,380,944 2,559,225
Total $ 2,066,850 $§ 4,689,616 $ 6,756,466
Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Differences between expected and
actual experience $ 101,432 $ 792,902 $ 894,334
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments 5,500,986 3,998,872 9,499,858
Change in City's proportionate share and
difference in employer contributions - 950,289 950,289
Total § 5,602,418 $§ 5,742,063 $ 11,344,481

$2,559,225 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from City contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year
ending December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:
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OPERS OP&F Total

Fiscal Year Ending December 31:
2023 $ (662,840) $ (282,979) $ (945,819)

2024 (1,882,426) (1,325,519) (3,207,945)
2025 (1,293,504) (649,725) (1,943,229)
2026 (875,079) (448,311) (1,323,390)
2027 - 273,143 273,143

$ (4,713,849) S (2433,391) $  (7,147,240)

Actuarial Assumptions — OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the values of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review or
modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the
future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as
understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of
each valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2021, actuarial valuation was determined
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Wage inflation:
Current measurement period ~ 2.75%
Prior measurerment period  3.25%
Future salary increases,
including inflation:
Current measurement period ~ 2.75% to 10.75%
Prior measurerment period  3.25% to 10.75%
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA Pre 1/7/2013 retirees: 3% simple
Post 1/7/2013 retirees: 0.5% simple through 2021,
then 2.15% simple
Investment rate of return:
Current measurement period ~ 6.90%
Prior measurement period ~ 7.20%
Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on 130% of the Pub-2010 General Employee Mortality tables (males
and females) for State and Local Government divisions and 170% of the Pub-2010 Safety Employee
Mortality tables (males and females) for the Public Safety and Law Enforcement divisions. Post-retirement
mortality rates are based on 115% of the PubG-2010 Retiree Mortality Tables (males and females) for all
divisions. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree
Mortality Tables (males and females) for all divisions. For all of the previous described tables, the base year
is 2010 and mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-2020 mortality
improvement scales (males and females) to all of these tables.

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2020.

During 2021, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio, the
Health Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Defined Benefit portfolio contains the
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investment assets of the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined benefit component of the Combined Plan and
the annuitized accounts of the Member-Directed Plan. Within the Defined Benefit portfolio, contributions
into the plans are all recorded at the same time, and benefit payments all occur on the first of the month.
Accordingly, the money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio.
The annual money-weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses
and adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Defined Benefit portfolio was a gain of
15.3% for 2021.

The allocation of investment assets within the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees
in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective of
achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the defined benefit pension
plans. The long-term expected rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for inflation. Best
estimates of arithmetic rates of return were provided by the Board’s investment consultant. For each major
asset class that is included in the Defined Benefit portfolio’s target asset allocation as of December 31, 2021,
these best estimates are summarized in the following table:

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected
Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)

Fixed Income 24.00% 1.03%
Domestic Equities 21.00% 3.78%
Real Estate 11.00% 3.66%
Private Equity 12.00% 7.43%
International Equities 23.00% 4.88%
Risk Parity 5.00% 2.92%
Other Investments 4.00% 2.85%
Total 100.00% 4.21%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90% for the Traditional
Pension Plan. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions
from plan members and those of the contributing employers are made at the statutorily required rates. Based
on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate.
The following chart represents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability at the 6.90%
discount rate, as well as the sensitivity to a 1% increase and 1% decrease in the current discount rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
(5.90%) Rate 0of 6.90% (7.90%)

City's proportionate share of
the net pension liability/(asset) $ 12,193,953 $ 4,624,761 $ (1,673,419)
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Actuarial Assumptions — OP&F

OP&F’s total pension liability as of December 31, 2021 is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date
of January 1, 2021, and rolled forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The total pension
liability is determined by OP&F’s actuaries in accordance with GASB Statement No. 67, as part of their
annual valuation. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of reported amounts and
assumptions about probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions
about future employment mortality, salary increases, disabilities, retirements and employment terminations.
Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as actual results
are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Key methods and assumptions used in calculating the total pension liability in the latest actuarial valuation,
prepared as of January 1, 2021, are presented below:

Valuation date January 1, 2021 with actuarial liabilities rolled
forward to December 31, 2021
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Investment rate of return:
Current measurement period ~ 7.50%
Prior measurement period ~ 8.00%

Projected salary increases 3.75% to 10.50%

Payroll growth 2.75% plus productivity increase rate of 0.5%
Inflation assumptions 2.75%

Cost of living adjustments 2.2% simple per year

Mortality for non-disabled participants is based on the RP-2014 Total Employee and Healthy Annuitant
Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006, adjusted and projected with the Buck Modified 2016 Improvement
Scale. Rates for surviving beneficiaries are adjusted by 120%.

Age Police Fire
67 or less 77% 68%
68-77 105% 87%
78 and up 115% 120%

Mortality for disabled retirees is based on the RP-2014 Disabled Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006,
adjusted according to the rates in the following table, and projected with the Buck Modified 2016
Improvement Scale.

Age Police Fire
59 or less 35% 35%
60-69 60% 45%
70-79 75% 70%
80 and up 100% 90%

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determine using a building-block
approach and assumes a time horizon, as defined in OP&F’s Statement of Investment Policy. A forecasted
rate of inflation serves as the baseline for the return expected. Various real return premiums over the baseline
inflation rate have been established for each asset class. The long-term expected nominal rate of return has
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been determined by calculating a weighted average of expected real return premiums for each asset class,
adding the projected inflation rate and adding the expected return from rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes.

Best estimates of the long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class included in OP&F’s
target asset allocation as of December 31, 2021 are summarized below:

Long-Term

Expected

Target Real Rate

Asset Class Allocation of Return
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 0.00%
Domestic equity 21.00% 3.60%
Non-U.S. equity 14.00% 4.40%
Private markets 8.00% 6.80%
Core fixed income* 23.00% 1.10%
High yield fixed income 7.00% 3.00%
Private credit 5.00% 4.50%
U.S. inflation linked bonds* 17.00% 0.80%
Midstream energy infrastructure 5.00% 5.00%
Real assets 8.00% 5.90%
Gold 5.00% 2.40%
Private real estate 12.00% 4.80%

Total 125.00%

Note: Assumptions are geometric. * Levered 2.0x

OP&F’s Board of Trustees has incorporated the risk parity concept into OP&F’s asset liability valuation with
the goal of reducing equity risk exposure, which reduces overall Total Portfolio risk without sacrificing
return and creating a more risk-balanced portfolio based on their relationship between asset classes and
economic environments. From the notional portfolio perspective above, the Total Portfolio may be levered up
to 1.25 times due to the application of leverage in certain fixed income asset classes.

Discount Rate. The total pension liability was calculated using the discount rate of 7.5%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions from employers and from the
members would be computed based on contribution requirements as stipulated by State statute. Projected
inflows from investment earnings were calculated using the longer-term assumed investment rate of return of
7.5%. Based on those assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, a long-term expected rate of return on pension
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefits to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate.
Net pension liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate, and to illustrate the potential impact, the
following table presents the net pension liability calculated using a discount rate of 6.5%, as well as what the
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower
(6.5%), or one percentage point higher (8.5%) than the current rate:
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December 31, 2022
Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
(6.50%) Rate of 7.50% (8.50%)
City's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 22,618,682 $ 15,252,121 $ 9,117,594

Defined Other Postemployment Benefits Plans:

Net OPEB Asset/Liability

The net OPEB liability/(asset) represents the City’s proportionate share of each OPEB plan’s collective
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service, net of each OPEB
plan’s fiduciary net position. The net OPEB liability/(asset) calculation is dependent on critical long-term
variables, including estimated average life expectancies, earnings on investments, cost-of-living adjustments
and others. While these estimates use the best information available, unknowable future events require
adjusting these estimates annually.

ORC limits the City’s obligation for this liability to annual required payments. The City cannot control
benefit terms or the manner in which OPEB are financed; however, the City’s does receive the benefit of
employees’ services in exchange for compensation, including OPEB.

GASB Statement No. 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because they benefit
from employee services. OPEB contributions come from these employers and health care plan enrollees
which pay a portion of the health care costs in the form of a monthly premium. The ORC permits, but does
not require, the retirement systems to provide health care to eligible benefit recipients. Any change to benefits
or funding could significantly affect the net OPEB liability/(asset). Resulting adjustments to the net OPEB
liability would be effective when the changes are legally enforceable. The retirement systems may allocate a
portion of the employer contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The proportionate share of each plan’s funded or unfunded benefits are presented as either a long-term net
OPERB asset or net OPEB liability on the accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for contractually-required
OPEB contributions outstanding at the end of the year is included in salaries and benefits payable on both the
accrual and modified accrual bases of accounting.

Plan Description—Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

The OPERS administers three separate pension plans: the traditional pension plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan; the member-directed plan, a defined contribution plan; and the
combined plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that has elements of both a
defined benefit and defined contribution plan.

OPERS maintains a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit post-employment health care trust,
which funds multiple health care plans including medical coverage, prescription drug coverage and deposits
to a Health Reimbursement Arrangement to qualifying benefit recipients of both the traditional pension and
the combined plans. This trust is also used to fund health care for member-directed plan participants, in the
form of a Retiree Medical Account (RMA). At retirement or refund, member directed plan participants may
be eligible for reimbursement of qualified medical expenses from their vested RMA balance.

Effective January 1, 2022, OPERS discontinued the group plans currently offered to non-Medicare retirees
and re-employed retirees. Instead, eligible non-Medicare retirees will select an individual medical plan.
OPERS will provide a subsidy or allowance via an Health Reimbursement Arrangement allowance to those
retirees who meet health care eligibility requirements. Retirees will be able to seek reimbursement for plan
premiums and other qualified medical expenses.
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In order to qualify for postemployment health care coverage, age and service retirees under the traditional
pension and combined plans must have twenty or more years of qualifying Ohio service credit. Health care
coverage for disability benefit recipients and qualified survivor benefit recipients is available. The health care
coverage provided by OPERS meets the definition of an Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) as
described in GASB Statement 75. See OPERS’ ACFR referenced below for additional information.

The ORC permits but does not require OPERS to provide health care to its eligible benefit recipients.
Authority to establish and amend health care coverage is provided to the Board in Chapter 145 of the ORC.

Disclosures for the health care plan are presented separately in the OPERS financial report. Interested parties
may obtain a copy by visiting www.opers.org/financial/reports.shtml, by writing to OPERS, 277 East Town
Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by calling (614) 222-5601 or 800-222-7377.

Funding Policy—The ORC provides the statutory authority requiring public employers to fund
postemployment health care through their contributions to OPERS. When funding is approved by OPERS’
Board of Trustees, a portion of each employer’s contribution to OPERS is set aside to fund OPERS health
care plans. Beginning in 2018, health care is not being funded.

Employer contribution rates are expressed as a percentage of the earnable salary of active members. In 2022,
state and local employers contributed at a rate of 14.0% of earnable salary and public safety and law
enforcement employers contributed at 18.1%. These are the maximum employer contribution rates permitted
by the ORC. Active member contributions do not fund health care.

Each year, the OPERS Board determines the portion of the employer contribution rate that will be set aside to
fund health care. The portion of employer contributions allocated to health care for members in the
Traditional Pension Plan was 0% during calendar year 2022. For the Combined Plan, the portion of the
employer contributions allocated to health care was 0% from January 1, 2022 to June 30, 2022, and was 2%
from July 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.

As recommended by OPERS’ actuary, the portion of employer contributions allocated to health care
beginning January 1, 2023 remains at 0% for the Traditional Pension Plan and 2% for the Combined Plan.
The OPERS Board is also authorized to establish rules for the retiree or their surviving beneficiaries to pay a
portion of the health care provided. Payment amounts vary depending on the number of covered dependents
and the coverage selected. The employer contribution as a percentage of covered payroll deposited into the
RMA for participants in the Member-Directed Plan for 2022 was 4.0%.

The City’s contractually required contribution to OPERS was $7,093 for 2022. Of this amount, $101 is
reported within salaries and benefits payable.

Plan Description—Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund (OP&F)

The City contributes to the OP&F stipend funded via the Health Care Stabilization Fund. This benefit is
available to eligible members through a Health Reimbursement Arrangement and can be used to reimburse
retirees for qualified health care expenses. The stipend model allows eligible members the option of choosing
an appropriate health care plan on the exchange. This program is not guaranteed and is subject to change at
any time upon action of the Board of Trustees.

OP&F provides access to postretirement health care coverage for any person who receives or is eligible to

receive a monthly service, disability, or statutory survivor benefit, or is a spouse or eligible dependent child
of such person. The health care coverage provided by OP&F meets the definition of an Other Post
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Employment Benefit (OPEB) as described in Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 75.

The ORC allows, but does not mandate, OP&F to provide OPEB benefits. Authority for the OP&F Board of
Trustees to provide health care coverage to eligible participants and to establish and amend benefits is
codified in Chapter 742 of the ORC.

OP&F issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial information and required
supplementary information for the plan. The report may be obtained by visiting the OP&F website at
www.op-f.org or by writing to the Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund, 140 East Town Street, Columbus,
Ohio 43215-5164.

Funding Policy—The ORC provides for contribution requirements of the participating employers and of plan
members to the OP&F defined benefit pension plan. Participating employers are required to contribute to the
pension plan at rates expressed as percentages of the payroll of active pension plan members, currently 19.5%
and 24.0% of covered payroll for police and fire employer units. The ORC states that the employer
contribution may not exceed 19.5% of covered payroll for police employer units and 24% of covered payroll
for fire employer units. Active members do not make contributions to the OPEB Plan.

OP&F maintains funds for health care in two separate accounts. There is one account for health care benefits
and one account for Medicare Part B reimbursements. A separate health care trust accrual account is
maintained for health care benefits under IRS Code Section 115 trust. An IRS Code Section 401(h) account is
maintained for Medicare Part B reimbursements.

The Board of Trustees is authorized to allocate a portion of the total employer contributions made into the
pension plan to the Section 115 trust and the Section 401(h) account as the employer contribution for retiree
health care benefits. For 2022, the portion of the employer contributions allocated to health care was 0.5% of
covered payroll. The amount of employer contributions allocated to the health care plan each year is subject
to the Trustees’ primary responsibility to ensure that pension benefits are adequately funded and is limited by
the provisions of Section 115 and 401(h).

The OP&F Board of Trustees is also authorized to establish requirements for contributions to the health care
plan by retirees and their eligible dependents or their surviving beneficiaries. Payment amounts vary
depending on the number of covered dependents and the coverage selected.

The City’s contractually required contribution to OP&F was $32,471 for 2022. Of this amount, $4,305 is
reported within salaries and benefits payable.

OPEB Assets and Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to
OPEB

The net OPEB asset and total OPEB liability for OPERS were determined by an actuarial valuation as of
December 31, 2020, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2021, by incorporating the
expected value of health care cost accruals, the actual health care payment, and interest accruals during the
year. OP&F’s total OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2021, and was determined by rolling
forward the total OPEB liability as of January 1, 2021, to December 31, 2021. The City's proportion of the
net OPEB liability/(asset) was based on the City's share of contributions to the retirement plan relative to the
contributions of all participating entities. Following is information related to the proportionate share:
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OPERS OP&F Total

Proportionate share of the net OPEB:

Asset $ 1,628,444 $ - $ 1,628,444

Liability - 2,675,925 2,675,925
Proportion of the net OPEB asset/liability

Current measurement date 0.051991% 0.244135%

Prior measurement date 0.052432% 0.247593%

Change in proportionate share -0.000441% -0.003458%
OPEB expense $  (1,365,754) $ 203,088 $  (1,162,666)

At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB from the following sources:

OPERS OP&F Total
Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Differences between expected and
actual experience $ - $ 121,735 $ 121,735
Change in assumptions - 1,184,447 1,184,447
Change in City's proportionate share and
difference in employer contributions 9,039 115,001 124,040
City contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 7,093 32,471 39,564
Total $ 16,132 $ 1,453,654 $ 1,469,786
Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Differences between expected and
actual experience $ 247,010 $ 353,661 $ 600,671
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments 776,326 241,725 1,018,051
Change in assumptions 659,175 310,792 969,967
Change in City's proportionate share and
difference in employer contributions 7,611 207,037 214,648
Total $ 1,690,122 $ 1,113,215 $ 2,803,337

$39,564 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability or an increase
of the net OPEB asset in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
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OPERS OP&F Total

Fiscal Year Ending December 31:
2023 $ (1,036,159) § 94,599 $ (941,560)

2024 (363,808) 58,713 (305,095)
2025 (169,623) 65,569 (104,054)
2026 (111,493) 4,834 (106,659)
2027 - 42,280 42,280
Thereafter - 41,973 41,973

$ (1,681,083) $ 307968 $  (1,373,115)

Actuarial Assumptions—OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review or
modification as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the
future.

Projections of health care costs for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan and include
the types of coverages provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of costs
between OPERS and plan members. The total OBEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
December 31, 2020, rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2021. The actuarial valuation
used the following actuarial assumptions applied to all prior periods included in the measurement in
accordance with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 74:

Wage inflation:
Current measurement period — 2.75%
Prior measurement period ~ 3.25%
Projected salary increase:
Current measurement period  2.75% to 10.75%, including wage inflation
Prior measurement period ~ 3.25% to 10.75%, including wage inflation
Single discount rate 6.00%
Investment rate of return 6.00%
Municipal bond rate:
Current measurement period  1.84%
Prior measurement period ~ 2.00%
Health care cost trend rate:
Current measurement period  5.5% initial, 3.50% ultimate in 2034
Prior measurement period  8.5% initial, 3.50% ultimate in 2035
Actuarial cost method Individual entry age

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on 130% of the Pub-2010 General Employee Mortality tables (males
and females) for State and Local Government divisions and 170% of the Pub-2010 Safety Employee
Mortality tables (males and females) for the Public Safety and Law Enforcement divisions. Post-retirement
mortality rates are based on 115% of the PubG-2010 Retiree Mortality Tables (males and females) for all
divisions. Post-retirement mortality rates for disabled retirees are based on the PubNS-2010 Disabled Retiree
Mortality Tables (males and females) for all divisions. For all of the previous described tables, the base year
is 2010 and mortality rates for a particular calendar year are determined by applying the MP-2020 mortality
improvement scales (males and females) to all of these tables.
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The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2020.

During 2021, OPERS managed investments in three investment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolio, the
Health Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution portfolio. The Defined Benefit portfolio contains the
investment assets of the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined benefit component of the Combined Plan and
the annuitized accounts of the Member-Directed Plan. Within the Health Care portfolio, contributions into the
plans are assumed to be received continuously throughout the year based on the actual payroll payable at the
time contributions are made, and health care-related payments are assumed to occur mid-year. Accordingly,
the money-weighted rate of return is considered to be the same for all plans within the portfolio. The annual
money-weighted rate of return expressing investment performance, net of investment expenses and adjusted
for the changing amounts actually invested, for the Health Care portfolio was a gain of 14.3% for 2021.

The allocation of investment assets within the Defined Benefit portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustees
in the annual investment plan. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with a long-term objective of
achieving and maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the defined benefit pension
plans. The long-term expected rate of return on defined benefit investment assets was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adjusted for inflation. Best
estimates of arithmetic rates of return were provided by the Board’s investment consultant. For each major
asset class that is included in the Defined Benefit portfolio’s target asset allocation as of December 31, 2021,
these best estimates are summarized in the following table:

Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected
Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)

Fixed Income 34.00% 0.91%
Domestic Equities 25.00% 3.78%
REITs 7.00% 3.71%
International Equities 25.00% 4.88%
Risk Parity 2.00% 2.92%
Other Investments 7.00% 1.93%
Total 100.00% 3.45%

Discount Rate. A single discount rate of 6.00% was used to measure the OPEB liability on the measurement
date of December 31, 2021. Projected benefit payments are required to be discounted to their actuarial
present value using a single discount rate that reflects (1) a long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan
investments (to the extent that the health care fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay
benefits), and (2) tax-exempt municipal bond rate based on an index of 20-year general obligation bonds with
an average AA credit rating as of the measurement date (to the extent that the contributions for use with the
long-term expected rate are not met). This single discount rate was based on the actuarial assumed rate of
return on the health care investment portfolio of 6.00% and a municipal bond rate of 1.84%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be made at
rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rate. Based on these assumptions, the health care
fiduciary net position and future contributions were sufficient to finance health care costs through 2121. As a
result, the actuarial assumed long-term expected rate of return on health care investments was applied to
projected costs through the year 2121, the duration of the projection period through which projected health
care payments are fully funded.
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Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate. The
following table presents the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB asset calculated using the single
discount rate of 6.00%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB asset if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1.0% point lower (5.00%) or 1.0% point higher (7.00%) than the
current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
(5.00%) Rate of 6.00% (7.00%)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB asset $ 957,724 $ 1,628,444 $ 2,185,296

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Health Care Cost
Trend Rate. Changes in the health care cost trend rate may also have a significant impact on the net OPEB
asset. The following table presents the net OPEB asset calculated using the assumed trend rates, and the
expected net OPEB asset if it were calculated using a health care cost trend rate that is 1.0% lower or 1.0%
higher than the current rate.

Retiree health care valuations use a health care cost-trend assumption that changes over several years built
into the assumption. The near-term rates reflect increases in the current cost of health care; the trend starting
in 2022 is 5.50%. If this trend continues for future years, the projection indicates that years from now
virtually all expenditures will be for health care. A more reasonable alternative is that in the not-too-distant
future, the health plan cost trend will decrease to a level at, or near, wage inflation. On this basis, the
actuaries project premium rate increases will continue to exceed wage inflation for approximately the next
decade, but by less each year, until leveling off at an ultimate rate, assumed to be 3.50% in the most recent
valuation.

Current Health Care

Cost Trend Rate
1% Decrease Assumption 1% Increase
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB asset $ 1,646,121 $ 1,628,444 $ 1,607,646

Actuarial Assumptions—OP&F

OP&F’s total OPEB liability as of December 31, 2021 is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of
January 1, 2021 and rolled forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The total OPEB liability is
determined by OP&F’s actuaries in accordance with GASB Statement No. 74, as part of their annual
valuation. Actuarial valuations of an ongoing retirement plan involve estimates of the value of reported
amounts and assumptions about probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment mortality, salary increases, disabilities, retirements and employment
terminations. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefit for financial purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historical pattern of sharing benefit costs between the employers and plan members to that point. The
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of
legal or contractual funding limitations.
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Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. For a newly hired employee, actuarial calculations will
take into account the employee’s entire career with the employer and also take into consideration the benefits,
if any, paid to the employee after termination of employment until the death of the employee and applicable
contingent annuitant. In many cases, actuarial calculations reflect several decades of service with the
employer and the payment of benefits after termination.

Key Methods and assumptions used in calculating the total OPEB liability in the latest actuarial valuation are

presented below:
Actuarial valuation date

Actuarial cost method

Investment rate of return:
Current measurement rate
Prior measurement rate

Projected salary increases

Payroll growth

Single discount rate:
Current measurement rate
Prior measurement rate

Municipal bond rate:
Current measurement rate
Prior measurement rate

Cost of living adjustments

January 1, 2021, with actuarial liabilities rolled

forward to December 31, 2021
Entry age normal

7.50%
8.00%

3.75% to 10.50%
3.25%

2.84%
2.96%

2.05%
2.12%

2.2% simple per year

Mortality for non-disabled participants is based on the RP-2014 Total Employee and Healthy Annuitant
Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006, adjusted according to the rates in the following table, and projected
with the Buck Modified 2016 Improvement Scale. Rates for surviving beneficiaries are adjusted by 120%.

Age Police Fire
67 or less 77% 68%
68-77 105% 87%
78 and up 115% 120%

Mortality for disabled retirees is based on the RP-2014 Disabled Mortality Tables rolled back to 2006,
adjusted according to the rates in the following table, and projected with the Buck Modified 2016

Improvement Scale.

Age Police Fire
59 or less 35% 35%
60-69 60% 45%
70-79 75% 70%
80 and up 100% 90%

The most recent experience study was completed for the five-year period ended December 31, 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block
approach and assumes a time horizon, as defined in OP&F’s Statement of Investment Policy. A forecasted
rate of inflation serves as a baseline for the return expected. Various real return premiums over the baseline
inflation rate have been established for each asset class. The long-term expected nominal rate of return has
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been determined by calculating a weighted average of the expected real return premiums for each asset class,
adding the projected inflation rate and adding the expected return from rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes.
Best estimates of the long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class included in OP&F’s
target asset allocation as of December 31, 2021 are summarized below:

Long-Term

Expected

Target Real Rate

Asset Class Allocation of Return
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 0.00%
Domestic equity 21.00% 3.60%
Non-U.S. equity 14.00% 4.40%
Private markets 8.00% 6.80%
Core fixed income* 23.00% 1.10%
High yield fixed income 7.00% 3.00%
Private credit 5.00% 4.50%
U.S. inflation linked bonds* 17.00% 0.80%
Master limited partnerships 5.00% 5.00%
Real assets 8.00% 5.90%
Gold 5.00% 2.40%
Private real estate 12.00% 4.80%

Total 125.00%

Note: Assumptions are geometric. * Levered 2.0x

OP&F’s Board of Trustees has incorporated the risk parity concept into OP&F’s asset liability valuation with
the goal of reducing equity risk exposure, which reduces overall Total Portfolio risk without sacrificing
return and creating a more risk-balanced portfolio based on their relationship between asset classes and
economic environments. From the notional portfolio perspective above, the Total Portfolio may be levered up
to 1.25 times due to the application of leverage in certain fixed income asset classes.

Discount Rate. Total OPEB liability was calculated using the discount rate of 2.84%. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions from employers and from members
would be computed based on contribution requirements as stipulated by state statute. Projected inflows from
investment earnings were calculated using the longer-term assumed investment rate of return of 7.5%. Based
on those assumptions, OP&F’s fiduciary net position was projected to not be able to make all future benefit
payment of current plan members. Therefore, a municipal bond rate of 2.05% at December 31, 2021 was
blended with the long-term rate of 7.5%, which resulted in a blended discount rate of 2.84%.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate.
Net OPEB liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate, and to illustrate the potential impact, the
following table presents the net OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.84%, as well as what
the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point lower (1.84%) and
1% point higher (3.84%) than the current discount rate.

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
(1.84%) Rate 0f 2.84% (3.84%)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $ 3,363,697 $ 2,675,925 $ 2,110,575
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Original Final Including from Final
Budget Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Local taxes $ 13,533,206 $ 16,178,716 $ 16,733,759 $ 555,043
Intergovernmental revenues 674,316 732,366 895,920 163,554
Special assessments 313,240 313,240 385,837 72,597
Charges for services 1,271,430 1,271,430 1,178,514 (92,916)
Fines, licenses and permits 452,443 452,443 418,051 (34,392)
Investment income 36,000 36,000 293,687 257,687
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 1,762,415 2,015,237 2,086,511 71,274
Total revenues 18,043,050 20,999,432 21,992,279 992,847
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development 445,689 413,198 391,829 21,369
Community environment 724,644 705,633 656,600 49,033
Fire 5,650,811 5,910,630 5,742,185 168,445
General government 3,078,165 3,544,097 3,370,439 173,658
Judicial 1,601,954 1,581,962 1,551,588 30,374
Parks and recreation 1,452,930 1,511,007 1,472,359 38,648
Police 6,815,194 6,927,123 6,627,643 299,480
Capital outlay 22,450 32,043 - 32,043
Total expenditures 19,791,837 20,625,693 19,812,643 813,050
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (1,748,787) 373,739 2,179,636 1,805,897
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in - 441,262 441,262 -
Transfers out (422,804) (487,804) (487,804) -
Total other financing uses (422,804) (46,542) (46,542) -
Net change in fund balance (2,171,591) 327,197 2,133,094 1,805,897
Fund Balances, beginning of year 12,402,787 12,402,787 12,402,787 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 432,020 432,020 432,020 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 10,663,216 $ 13,162,004 $ 14,967,901 $ 1,805,897

See Notes to the Required Supplementary Information.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

STREET REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Original Final Including from Final
Budget Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ 1,361,298 $ 1,251,298 $ 1,257,364 $ 6,066
Investment Income 1,260 1,260 2,454 1,194
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 119,670 137,005 29,188 (107,817)
Total revenues 1,482,228 1,389,563 1,289,006 (100,557)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Street repair & maintanence 1,994,213 2,018,842 1,875,408 143,434
Total expenditures 1,994,213 2,018,842 1,875,408 143,434
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (511,985) (629,279) (586,402) 42,877
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 175,000 237,000 237,000 -
Total other financing sources 175,000 237,000 237,000 -
Net change in fund balance (336,985) (392,279) (349,402) 42,877
Fund Balances, beginning of year 535,549 535,549 535,549 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 9,389 9,389 9,389 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 207,953 $ 152,659 $ 195,536 $ 42,877

See Notes to the Required Supplementary Information.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Basis of Budgeting

Basis of budgeting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts. The City of
Sidney’s budget for all funds is prepared on a cash-encumbrance basis by which transactions are recorded when cash is
received or disbursed, or when a commitment has been recorded as an encumbrance against an applicable appropriation.
All annual appropriations lapse at year-end to the extent they have not been expended or lawfully encumbered. Fund
balances shown are unencumbered cash balances. This basis is utilized for all interim financial statements issued during
the year.

The basis of budgeting differs from the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP)
used for the City’s year-end financial statements contained in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR).
Under that basis of accounting, revenues are generally recognized when the obligation to the City arises; the budget basis,
however, recognizes revenue only when cash has been received. In the ACFR, expenditures are generally recognized in
the period in which they are incurred. Under the budget basis, expenditures are recognized when cash has been disbursed
or when an encumbrance has been placed against an appropriation.

Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year end. State law provides that, generally, no contract, agreement or other
obligation involving the expenditure of money shall be entered into unless the Finance Officer first certifies that the
money required for such contract, agreement, obligation or expenditure is in the treasury, or is anticipated to come into the
treasury, before the maturity of such contract. (O.R.C. 5705.41)

Budget Process
The policy of the City is to have the annual operating and capital budgets approved prior to January 1 of each year.

The City follows procedures prescribed by State law and local policy in establishing its budgets as follows:

1. About January 1, the City must submit to the County Budget Commission a statement, classified by fund, of
estimated cash receipts for the year and beginning-of-year unencumbered fund balances. The County Budget
Commission certifies these estimates and issues an Official Certificate of Estimated Resources, (the
“Certificate”) limiting the maximum amount the City may expend from a given fund during the year to the
estimated resources available. The City may, from time to time throughout the year, request an amended
Certificate to reflect updated resource estimates.

2. The five-year financial plan is updated on an annual basis, usually in September. The plan is prepared after
receiving input from all departments. The plan shall include all major operating funds and all capital
improvement funds of the City. The purpose of this plan is to:

Identify major policy issues for City Council consideration prior to the preparation of the annual budget;

b.  establish capital project priorities and make advance preparation for the funding of projects within the five-
year horizon;

c. make conservative financial projections for all major operating funds and all capital improvements to
provide assurance that adequate funding exists for proposed projects and services;

d. identify financial trends in advance or in the early stages so that timely corrective action can be taken, if
needed;

e. communicate the City’s intermediate plans to the public and provide an opportunity for the public to offer
input.

3. The operating budget is recommended to Council based upon the City Manager-approved requests submitted by
each department. The City Manager acts as budget officer for the City and submits a proposed operating budget
to the City Council on an annual basis. Public hearings are held to obtain taxpayer input. The Council enacts the
budget through passage of an ordinance. All funds of the City have annual budgets legally adopted by the City
Council except CDBG, Justice Reinvestment Grant, Law Enforcement Diversion Grant, and Probation Grant.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

4. Modifications to the budget may be made from time to time during the budget year. The Statement of Financial
Policies provides the permissible methods of amending the budget.

Reconciliation of Budget Basis to GAAP Basis
The adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022, from the GAAP
basis to the budget basis are as follows:

Street Repair &

General Fund Maintenance Fund
Net change in fund balance - Budget Basis $ 2,133,094 $ (349,402)
Increase / (decrease):
Due to revenues (1,802,704) (9,078)
Due to expenditures 1,720,089 16,465
Net change in fund balance - GAAP Basis $ 2,050,479 $ (342,015)

79



SUPPLEMENTAL
SECTION



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Fund Descriptions - Non-major Governmental Funds

Non-major Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted to expenditure for
particular purposes.

C.D.B.G. Fund. To account for state funds and federal funds passed through state agencies for
community development activities.

C.D.B.G. Program Income Fund. To account for the income generated from C.D.B.G. grant programs.
Funds must be used for grant-eligible activities.

C.D.B.G. Revolving Loan Fund. To account for loans and repayment of loans for businesses who
qualify for low interest loans for economic development.

Cemetery Fund. To account for the operation and maintenance of the cemetery facilities.

Cemetery Maintenance Fund. To account for that portion of cemetery sales revenue committed by City
policy to be held for the perpetual care of Graceland Cemetery.

Convention and Visitors’ Bureau Fund. To account for 25% of the funds received from the 6%
lodging tax for the operation of a convention and visitors’ bureau. The remaining 75% of the tax
proceeds are accounted for in the General Fund.

County Auto License Fund. To account for county-levied motor vehicle registration fees restricted for
street construction, maintenance and repair.

CRA Fund. To account for the annual fees paid by owners benefiting Community Reinvestment Area
(CRA) tax abatement. This fee may be used to pay for expenses incurred in preparing the CRA annual
report or expenses incurred by the tax incentive review committee.

Drug Law Enforcement Fund. To account for mandatory fines collected for drug offenses.

E-911 Wireless Fund. To account for funds collected by the State of Ohio from cell phone users and
redistributed back to Ohio counties for use in implementation and maintenance of wireless 9-1-1 systems.
The County is distributing 50% of those receipts to the City for the upkeep and maintenance of the
wireless 9-1-1 system.

Enforcement & Education Fund. To account for financial resources used to educate and treat persons
with alcohol related problems and to enhance law enforcement activities as a deterrent to the operation of
motor vehicles while under the influence of alcohol.

Fire Loss Security Fund. To account for the holding of a portion of insurance proceeds from fire loss of
private property, held as security against the cost of removing, securing or repairing the damaged
structure.

Health Department Building Lease Fund. To account for the operation and maintenance of the
building that is leased to the county health department.

H.O.MLE. Program Income Fund. To account for income generated from HOME grant programs,
primarily loans and repayments of loans made in HOME-funded housing projects. Funds must be used
for grant-eligible activities.

Indigent Driver Alcohol Treatment Fund. To account for mandatory fines for DUI arrests that are used
to treat drivers who cannot afford the rehabilitation.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Non-major Special Revenue Funds (continued)

Indigent Driver Interlock and Alcohol Monitoring Fund (Municipal Court). To account for
additional court fees levied in accordance with Ohio Revised Code for the purpose of providing alcohol
monitoring equipment for those cases that cannot afford to purchase it.

Justice Reinvestment Incentive Grant Fund - To account for funds received from the Ohio Department
of Rehabilitation and Corrections for the reduction of recidivism and a change in probationers’ cognizant
behavior.

Law Enforcement Fund. To account for the proceeds from the confiscation of contraband.

Law Enforcement Diversion Grant Fund. To account for funds received from the Ohio Attorney
General Office for law enforcement diversion programs to address the opioid epidemic.

Local Fiscal Recovery (ARP) Fund. The Local Fiscal Recovery Fund accounts for financial assistance
received as a result of the federal American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) to spend on COVID-19 recovery
based on four criteria. Funds must be spent by December 31, 2024.

Mausoleum Maintenance Fund. To account for that portion of cemetery sales revenue committed by
City policy to be held for the perpetual maintenance and repair of the mausoleum at Graceland Cemetery.

Municipal Court Computer Fund. To account for additional court fees levied in accordance with Ohio
Revised Code for the sole purpose of procuring and maintaining computer systems for the office of the
clerk of courts.

Municipal Court Special Projects Fund. To account for additional court fees levied in accordance with
Ohio Revised Code for the purpose to acquire and pay for special projects of the court.

Opioid Settlement Fund. To account for the OneOhio Opiod Distributor Settlement for eligible expenses
including community recovery, statewide innovation and recovery, and sustainability.

Parking Enforcement Fund. Accounts for the operation of the parking system and related expenditures.
The operating expenditures and capital improvements are supported by fines, customer charges, and
additional funding, as necessary, from the General Fund.

Permissive License Fee Fund. To account for $5 permissive license fee designated for street curb &
gutter construction, maintenance and repair.

Probation Grant Fund. To account for funds received from the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and
Corrections for the operation of the Municipal Court’s probation department.

Probation Services Fee Fund. To account for additional court fees levied in accordance with Ohio
Revised Code for the purpose to acquire and pay for probation services of the court.

State Highway Fund. To account for the portion of the state gasoline tax and motor vehicle registration
fees restricted for street maintenance and repair of state highways within the City.

TIF — Echo Fund. To account for the financial resources and expenditures related to the development of
the Echo Business Center subdivision.

TIF — Kuther Rd Fund. To account for the financial resources and expenditures related to the
development of the water and sewer infrastructure along Kuther Road.

TIF — Menards Fund. To account for the financial resources and expenditures related to the
development of the southwest sanitary sewer.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Fund Descriptions — Non-Major Debt Service

Debt service funds are used to account for the payment of principal and interest on outstanding debt.

Bond Retirement. To account for the payment of principal and interest on outstanding debt.

Fund Descriptions — Non-Major Capital Project Fund

Capital funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities, other than those
financed by proprietary funds and trust funds.

Capital for Fire Station # 3 Fund. To account for the development and construction of a
Fire Station at the north end of City.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2022

ASSETS

Pooled cash and equivalents
Cash held by outside agent
Pooled investments
Receivables:

Property taxes

Other taxes

Interest

Lease

Loans

Other
Receivables from other governments
Prepaid items

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Salaries and benefits payable
Advances from other funds
Unearned revenue

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Lease
Unavailable revenue
Total deferred inflows of resources

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable

Restricted
Committed
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances

Non-major Capital
Special for Fire Total Non-major
Revenue Bond Station #3 Governmental
Funds Retirement Fund Funds

1,616,904  $ 57,748 $ 18,775  § 1,693,427
26,172 - - 26,172
3,321,903 119,152 38,739 3,479,794
70,230 - - 70,230

9,269 - - 9,269

2,082 - - 2,082

62,672 - - 62,672
561,799 - - 561,799
41,768 - - 41,768
218,144 - - 218,144
9,426 - - 9,426
5,940,369 $ 176,900 $ 57,514 $ 6,174,783
262,868 $ - $ - $ 262,868
19,695 - - 19,695
30,000 - - 30,000
1,748,170 - - 1,748,170
2,060,733 - - 2,060,733
60,666 - - 60,666
824,828 - - 824,828
885,494 - - 885,494
11,432 - - 11,432
2,815,212 - - 2,815,212
207,863 176,900 57,514 442,277
(40,365) - - (40,365)
2,994,142 176,900 57,514 3,228,556
5,940,369 $ 176,900 $ 57,514 $ 6,174,783
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Local taxes

Intergovernmental revenues

Charges for services

Fines, licenses and permits

Investment income

Miscellaneous receipts and reimbursements

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Community development
Community environment

Fire

Health
Judicial
Police

Street repairs and maintenance

Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal

Interest

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

Total expenditures

over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Transfers out
Transfers in

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

Non-major Capital
Special for Fire Total Non-major
Revenue Bond Station #3 Governmental
Funds Retirement Fund Funds

431,366 $ - - $ 431,366
1,410,648 - - 1,410,648
331,026 - - 331,026
78,601 - - 78,601

7,103 - - 7,103
134,425 - - 134,425
2,393,169 - - 2,393,169
356,631 - - 356,631
4,351 - - 4,351

91,691 - - 91,691
288,923 - - 288,923
410,395 - - 410,395
107,822 - - 107,822
110,337 - - 110,337
1,208,418 - - 1,208,418
60,000 - - 60,000

7,100 - - 7,100
2,645,668 - - 2,645,668
(252,499) - - (252,499)
(618,162) - - (618,162)
48,000 176,900 - 224,900
(570,162) 176,900 - (393,262)
(822,661) 176,900 - (645,761)
3,816,803 - 57,514 3,874,317
2,994,142 $ 176,900 57,514 $ 3,228,556
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Fund Descriptions — Non-major Enterprise Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises for which 1) the intent of the government’s legislative body is that goods or services provided
to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges or 2) the
government’s legislative body has decided that periodic determination of net income is appropriate for
accountability purposes.

Airport Fund. Accounts for the operation of the airport facility and related expenses, including capital
improvement. The operating expenses and capital improvements are supported by customer charges and a
subsidy, as necessary, from the General Fund.

Concession Stand Fund. Accounts for the operations of the concession stand and related expenses,
including capital improvements.

Sidney Water Park Fund. Accounts for the operation of the public swimming pool and related
expenses, including capital improvements. The operating expenses are financed through user charges
while the capital improvements are subsidized by the General Fund.

Solid Waste Fund. Accounts for the operation of the solid waste collection system and related expenses,
including capital improvements. The operations are financed through user charges.

Transportation Fund. Accounts for the operation and maintenance of the Shelby Public Transit
(formerly Dial-A-Ride) service, and related expenses, including capital improvement. The operating
expenses and capital improvements are supported by customer charges and governmental grants. Any
remaining funding is split 65% subsidy from the General Fund and 35% subsidy from Shelby County.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
NON-MAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2022
Concession Sidney Solid Enterprise
Airport Stand Water Park Waste Transportation Funds Totals
ASSETS
Current assets:
Pooled cash and equivalents $ 214212 § 4,123  $ 33,914 161,066  $ 84,498 $ 497,813
Pooled investments 441,981 8,508 69,973 332,325 174,344 1,027,131
Receivables:

Accounts 16,466 - - 112,750 2,624 131,840
Receivables from other governments 61,674 - - - 233,550 295,224
Lease Receivable 8,559 - - - - 8,559
Inventory 46,552 - - - - 46,552
Prepaid items 2,690 94 68 - 1,637 4,489

Total current assets 792,134 12,725 103,955 606,141 496,653 2,011,608
Noncurrent assets:
Lease Receivable 161,954 - - - - 161,954
Net OPEB asset 738 1,561 - 1,147 80,053 83,499
Capital assets:
Capital assets not subject to depreciation:
Land 1,004,352 - - - 55,000 1,059,352
Construction in progress 489,563 - - - - 489,563
Capital assets net of
accumulated depreciation 4,090,767 2,412 650,519 - 1,326,321 6,070,019
Total noncurrent assets 5,747,374 3,973 650,519 1,147 1,461,374 7,864,387
Total assets $ 6,539,508 $ 16,698 $ 754,474 607,288 $§ 1,958,027 § 9,875,995
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 937 1,981 - 1,455 101,605 105,978
OPEB 7 16 - 12 794 829
Total deferred outflows of resources 944 1,997 - 1,467 102,399 106,807
Total assets & deferred outflows
of resources and net position $ 6,540,452 $ 18,695 $ 754,474 608,755 § 2,060,426 $ 9,982,802
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 66,809 $ 44 3 1,052 151,211 $ 4475 $ 223,591
Salaries and benefits payable 120 2 - 338 25,568 26,028
Compensated absences 30 - - 24 2,442 2,496
Refundable deposits 145 - - - - 145
Unearned revenue 9,145 - - 243,899 - 253,044
Total current liabilities 76,249 46 1,052 395,472 32,485 505,304
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net Pension liability 2,095 4,433 - 3,257 227,350 237,135
Compensated absences 67 - - 781 45,916 46,764
Total noncurrent liabilities 2,162 4,433 - 4,038 273,266 283,899
Total liabilities 78,411 4,479 1,052 399,510 305,751 789,203
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Lease 168,480 - - - - 168,480
Pension 2,540 5,371 - 3,946 275,409 287,266
OPEB 766 1,620 - 1,190 83,084 86,660
Total deferred inflows of resources 171,786 6,991 - 5,136 358,493 542,406
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 5,560,974 2,412 650,519 - 1,381,321 7,595,226
Unrestricted 729,281 4,813 102,903 204,109 14,861 1,055,967
Total net position 6,290,255 7,225 753,422 204,109 1,396,182 8,651,193
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and net position $ 6,540,452 $ 18,695 § 754,474 608,755 § 2,060,426 $ 9,982,802
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN

NET POSITION - NON-MAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services
Other revenue

Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal services
Operations and maintenance
Depreciation
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
NONOPERATING REVENUE:
Interest Income
Intergovernmental
Lease income

Contributions

Total nonoperating revenue

Income (loss) before capital grants,
contributions and transfers

Capital grants & contributions
Transfers in

Change in net position
Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

Non-major
Concession Sidney Solid Enterprise
Airport Stand Water Park Waste Transportation Funds Totals

$ 462,834 § 20,983 $ 59,345 § 2,012,811 § 89,312 § 2,645,285
25,024 11 1,314 1,254 13,176 40,779
487,858 20,994 60,659 2,014,065 102,488 2,686,064
2,741 7,688 - 5,858 360,517 376,804
522,529 13,622 198,608 1,983,425 322,606 3,040,790
236,526 167 31,967 - 154,780 423,440
761,796 21,477 230,575 1,989,283 837,903 3,841,034
(273,938) (483) (169,916) 24,782 (735,415) (1,154,970)
2,355 - - - - 2,355
13,000 - - 22,766 615,650 651,416
10,478 10,478

- - 7,200 - - 7,200

25,833 - 7,200 22,766 615,650 671,449
(248,105) (483) (162,716) 47,548 (119,765) (483,521)
393,120 - - - 243,115 636,235
339,695 2,804 140,000 - - 482,499
484,710 2,321 (22,716) 47,548 123,350 635,213
5,805,545 4,904 776,138 156,561 1,272,832 8,015,980
$ 6,290,255 § 7,225 $ 753422 $§ 204,109 $§ 1,396,182 § 8,651,193
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - NON-MAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Payments for interfund services provided (used)

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Transfers in
Intergovernmental
Contributions

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and

related financing activities:
Acquisition of capital assets
Capital contributions
Interest Income
Lease payments received

Net cash provided by (used by) capital
and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments

Purchase of investments

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities

Net increase in pooled cash and equivalents

Pooled cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Pooled cash and equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to

net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation

Change in assets and deferred outflows:

Accounts receivable

Other receivables

Prepaid items

Inventory

Net OPEB asset

Deferred outflows - Pension
Deferred outflows - OPEB

Change in liabilities and deferred inflows:

Accounts payable

Salaries and benefits payable and
compensated absences

Unearned revenue

Net pension liability

Deferred inflows - Pension

Deferred inflows - OPEB

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Noncash investing, capital and
related financing activities:
Purchase of equipment on account

Prior year purchase of equipment on account

Non-major

Concession Sidney Solid Enterprise

Airport Stand Water Park Waste Transportation ~ Funds Totals

§ 488,428 § 20,994 § 60,659 $§ 2,016,467 $ 108,924 § 2,695,472
(491,458) (10,833) (157,752) (1,814,990) (93,860) (2,568,893)
(4,378) (10,212) - (7,789) (520,922) (543,301)
(17,984) (2,804) (40,184) (161,617) (229,712) (452,301)
(25,392) (2,855) (137,277) 32,071 (735,570) (869,023)
339,695 2,804 140,000 - - 482,499
13,000 - - 9,770 413,700 436,470

- - 7,200 - - 7,200
352,695 2,804 147,200 9,770 413,700 926,169
(401,861) - - - (214,489) (616,350)
331,446 - - - 243,135 574,581
2,355 - - - - 2,355
8,445 - - - - 8,445
(59,615) - - - 28,646 (30,969)
(294,178) (1,786) (22,392) (102,410) 181,085 (239,681)
141,642 2,726 22,424 106,500 55,873 329,165
(152,536) 940 32 4,090 236,958 89,484
115,152 889 9,955 45,931 (56,266) 115,661
99,060 3,234 23,959 115,135 140,764 382,152

§ 214212 § 4,123 '$ 33914 § 161,066 $ 84,498 § 497,813
$ (273,938) $ (483) $ (169,916) $ 24783 § (735,415) $ (1,154,969)
236,526 167 31,967 - 154,780 423,440
687 - - (2,269) 6,915 5,333

- - - (479) (479)

- (19) 64 - (982) (937)
(16,262) - - - - (16,262)
(315) (712) - (492) (33,955) (35,474)
(385) (875) - (603) (41,541) (43,404)

220 440 - 340 23,960 24,960
30,022 4 608 6,817 16 37,467
(180) 5) - 300 204 319
(790) - - 4,671 - 3,881
(1,456) (2,693) - (2,239) (159,665) (166,053)
1,006 2,294 - 1,573 108,356 113,229

(527) (973) - (810) (57,764) (60,074)

$  (25392) $ (2,855) $§ (137,277) $ 32,071 § (735,570) $§  (869,023)
§ 23,708 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 23,708
$ 38,817 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 38,817

97



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Fund Descriptions — Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or
agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to other government units, on a cost
reimbursement basis.

Garage/Fleet Operations Fund. To account for the operation of the municipal garage. This activity is
funded by charges to City departments that use this service.

Information Technology Fund. To account for the costs of purchasing and maintaining the City’s
computer and phone systems and the allocation of those costs to the using departments on a cost-
reimbursement basis.

Revenue Collections Fund. To account for the operation of the City’s centralized income tax and utility
billing and collections department. This activity is funded by charges to the City departments for which
the monies are collected.

Self-Insurance Fund. To account for the employees' health insurance plan, including the payment of
insurance premiums and claims. The fund is exclusively financed by premiums paid by City employees
and from various operating funds of the City.

Service Center Building Fund. To account for the operation of the Service Center building. This
activity is funded by charges to City departments that use these services.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2022
Garage/ Service Internal
Fleet Information Revenue Self Center Service
Operations Technology Collections Insurance Building Totals
ASSETS
Current assets:
Pooled cash and equivalents $ 9,327 $ 96,046 $ 46,988 - $ 75,042 227,403
Cash - - - 1,026,208 - 1,026,208
Pooled investments 19,244 198,169 96,950 - 154,834 469,197
Inventory 16,850 312 - - - 17,162
Prepaid items 2,571 158,452 1,237 - 897 163,157
Total current assets 47,992 452,979 145,175 1,026,208 230,773 1,903,127
Noncurrent assets:
Net OPEB Asset 39,185 64,009 72,097 - 2,864 178,155
Capital assets not subject to depreciation:
Construction in Progress - 18,596 - - - 18,596
Capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation 49,509 263,000 6,343 - 308,059 626,911
Total noncurrent assets 88,694 345,605 78,440 - 310,923 823,662
Total assets $ 136,686 $ 798,584 $ 223,615 1,026,208 $ 541,696 2,726,789
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 49,734 81,241 91,507 - 3,635 226,117
OPEB 388 634 713 - 28 1,763
Total deferred outflows of resources $ 50,122 $ 81,875 $ 92,220 - $ 3,663 227,880
Total assets & deferred outflows
of resources and net position $ 186,808 $ 880,459 $ 315,835 1,026,208  $ 545,359 2,954,669
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 22,887 $ 46,113  $ 9,022 - $ 29,592 107,614
Salaries and benefits payable 11,332 20,738 20,295 - 830 53,195
Claims payable - - - 193,982 - 193,982
Compensated absences 1,265 1,490 4,787 - 15 7,557
Total current liabilities 35,484 68,341 34,104 193,982 30,437 362,348
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability 111,286 181,784 204,756 - 8,133 505,959
Compensated absences 48,480 91,030 39,180 - 1,068 179,758
Total noncurrent liabilities 159,766 272,814 243,936 - 9,201 685,717
Total liabilities 195,250 341,155 278,040 193,982 39,638 1,048,065
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension 134,812 220,213 248,038 - 9,852 612,915
OPEB 40,669 66,433 74,827 - 2,972 184,901
Total deferred inflows of resources 175,481 286,646 322,865 - 12,824 797,816
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 49,509 273,179 6,343 - 308,059 637,090
Unrestricted (233,432) (20,521) (291,413) 832,226 184,838 471,698
Total net position (183,923) 252,658 (285,070) 832,226 492,897 1,108,788
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and net position $ 186,808 $ 880,459 §$ 315,835 1,026,208  $ 545,359 2,954,669
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN

NET POSITION
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services
Other revenue

Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal services
Operations and maintenance

Claims
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES:
Investment income
Intergovernmental

Total nonoperating revenues

Income (loss) before capital grants, contributions
and transfers

Capital contributions

Change in net position

Net position - beginning

Net position - ending

Internal
Garage/Fleet Information Revenue Self Service Service
Operations Technology Collections Insurance Center Building Totals

$ 880,652 § 1,110,854 $§ 675500 $ 2,936,515 $ 180,000 5,783,521
2,696 361 1,712 - 5,498 10,267
883,348 1,111,215 677,212 2,936,515 185,498 5,793,788
235,103 407,939 411,908 - 15,909 1,070,859
628,546 509,653 171,344 648,833 92,180 2,050,556
- - - 1,735,936 - 1,735,936
14,457 72,657 1,801 - 65,610 154,525
878,106 990,249 585,053 2,384,769 173,699 5,011,876
5,242 120,966 92,159 551,746 11,799 781,912
R - - 6,475 - 6,475
1,582 - - - - 1,582
1,582 - - 6,475 - 8,057
6,824 120,966 92,159 558,221 11,799 789,969
- 18,596 - - - 18,596
6,824 139,562 92,159 558,221 11,799 808,565
(190,747) 113,096 (377,229) 274,005 481,098 300,223
$ (183923) § 252,658 $§ (285,070) $ 832,226 $§ 492,897 1,108,788

100



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users
Receipts from interfund services
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments for claims
Payments for interfund services used

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Intergovernmental

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Acquisition of capital assets

Net cash used for capital and
related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments

Purchase of investments

Interest on investments
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Net increase (decrease) in pooled cash and equivalents
Pooled cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Pooled cash and equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to
net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income
(loss) to net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities:

Depreciation
Change in assets and deferred outflows:
Prepaid items
Inventory
Net OPEB asset
Deferred outflows - Pension
Deferred outflows - OPEB
Change in liabilities and deferred inflows:
Accounts & claims payable
Salaries and benefits payable and
compensated absences
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows - Pension

Deferred inflows - OPEB

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

Noncash investing, capital and
related financing activities:
Purchase of equipment on account
Contributions of capital assets from governmental activities
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Garage/ Service Internal

Fleet Information Revenue Self Center Service

Operations Technology  Collections Insurance Building Totals
2,696 § 143315 § 1,713 § - $ 5498 § 153222
880,652 967,900 675,500 2,936,515 180,000 5,640,567
(573,709) (464,846) (110,377) (648,833) (59,321) (1,857,086)
(303,699) (441,028) (533,135) - (22,691) (1,300,553)
- - - (1,804,556) - (1,804,556)
(48,268) (1,663) (60,091) - (11,071) (121,093)
(42,328) 203,678 (26,390) 483,126 92,415 710,501
1,582 - - - - 1,582
1,582 - - - - 1,582
- (147,343) - - (16,528) (163,871)
- (147,343) - - (16,528) (163,871)
26,232 (84,451) (1,121) - (89,728) (149,068)
6,167 63,508 31,069 - 49,619 150,363
- - - 6,475 - 6,475
32,399 (20,943) 29,948 6,475 (40,109) 7,770
(8,347) 35,392 3,558 489,601 35,778 555,982
17,674 60,654 43,430 536,607 39,264 697,629
9,327 § 96,046 $ 46,988 $§ 1,026208 $§ 75042 § 1,253,611
5242 $ 120966 $ 92,159 § 551,746  $ 11,799 $ 781,912
14,457 72,657 1,801 - 65,610 154,525
(26) 16,492 (408) - (346) 15,712
(541) 516 - - - (25)
(16,971) (31,879) (32,595) - (1,077) (82,522)
(20,791) (39,377) (40,038) - (1,306) (101,512)
11,540 16,619 20,497 - 931 49,587
7,136 26,136 1,285 (68,620) 22,135 (11,928)
5,732 37,472 (1,236) - 651 42,619
(75,212) (87,963) (126,879) - (6,870) (296,924)
54,310 103,777 104,890 - 3,376 266,353
(27,204) (31,738) (45,866) - (2,488) (107,296)
(42,328) $§ 203,678 $ (26,390) $ 483,126 § 92415 $§ 710,501
- $ 8417 §$ - $ - $ - $ 8,417
- $ 1859 $ - $ - $ - $ 18,596



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Fund Descriptions — Fiduciary Funds

Custodial Funds

Custodial funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of other parties.

Municipal Court Fund. To account for assets received and disbursed by the Municipal Court as agent
and custodian relative to civil or criminal court matters.

Port Jefferson Fund. To account for funds collected on behalf of the Village of Port Jefferson. These
funds are collected with sewer bills from residents of the Village.

River Clean Up Fund. To account for funds collected and disbursed on behalf of the Upper Great
Miami River Watershed Protection Project.

Private-Purpose Trust Funds

Private purpose funds are used to account for a trust arrangement where specific benefits accrue to specific
individuals.

B. Slonkosky Flower Trust Fund. To account for the purchase and placement of flowers upon the
monument of stated Grantor's for specific holidays at the Graceland Cemetery until distribution amount is
exhausted.

C. Truster Flower Trust Fund. To account for the purchase and placement of flowers upon the
monument of Grantor and Grantor's sister at Memorial Day at the Graceland Cemetery until distribution
amount is exhausted.

Ike Family Mausoleum Fund. To account for the disbursement to the Ike family for maintenance and
repairs to their private mausoleum.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
CUSTODIAL FUNDS

DECEMBER 31, 2022

ASSETS
Pooled cash and equivalents
Cash held by outside agent
Pooled investments
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Expenses

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Payable to other governments

Total liabilities

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Individuals & organizations & other governments

Total Net position

Custodial
Municipal Port River Funds
Court Jefferson Clean-Up Totals
- 2,659 § 10,039  § 12,698
364,180 - - 364,180
- 5,487 20,713 26,200
- 10,185 - 10,185
- - 898 898
364,180 18,331  § 31,650 § 414,161
- 5,528  $ - $ 5,528
306,539 - - 306,539
306,539 5,528 §$ - $§ 312,067
57,641 12,803  § 31,650  § 102,094
57,641 12,803  § 31,650  $ 102,094
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
CUSTODIAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Custodial
Municipal Port River Funds
Court Jefferson Clean-Up Totals
ADDITIONS
Charges for services $ - $ 81,725  § - $ 81,725
Court costs & fines 2,087,069 - - 2,087,069
Contributions - - 16,947 16,947
Total Additions 2,087,069 81,725 16,947 2,185,741
DEDUCTIONS
Judgement costs & bond reimbursements 1,061,494 - - 1,061,494
Payments to other governments 1,088,420 80,821 - 1,169,241
Clean-up expenses - - 10,004 10,004
Total Deductions 2,149,914 80,821 10,004 2,240,739
Change in net position (62,845) 904 6,943 (54,998)
Net position, beginning of year 120,486 11,899 24,707 157,092
Net position, end of year $ 57,641  $ 12,803 $ 31,650 $ 102,094
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PRIVATE-PURPOSE TRUST FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2022

ASSETS
Pooled cash and equivalents
Pooled investments
Interest receivable

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Total liabilities

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Individuals & organization
& other governments
Total Net position

Private-Purpose

B. Slonkosky C.Truster Tke Family Trust Funds
Flower Trust Flower Trust Mausoleum Trust Totals

$ 8,150 $ 903 $ 1,531 $ 10,584
16,502 1,829 3,101 21,432

46 5 9 60

24,698 2,737 4,641 32,076

24,698 2,737 4,641 32,076

$ 24,698 $ 2,737 $ 4,641 $ 32,076
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PRIVATE-PURPOSE TRUST FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Private-Purpose

B. Slonkosky C. Truster Ike Family Trust Funds
Flower Trust Flower Trust Mausoleum Trust Totals
ADDITIONS
Investment income $ 171 $ 19 $ 31 $ 221
Total Additions 171 19 31 221
DEDUCTIONS
Purchase of flowers 500 45 - 545
Total Deductions 500 45 - 545
Change in net position (329) (26) 31 (324)
Net position, beginning of year 25,027 2,763 4,610 32,400
Net position, end of year $ 24,698 $ 2,737 $ 4,641 $ 32,076
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Local taxes 16,178,716 16,733,759 $ 555,043
Intergovernmental revenues 732,366 895,920 163,554
Special assessments 313,240 385,837 72,597
Charges for services 1,271,430 1,178,514 (92,916)
Fines, licenses and permits 452,443 418,051 (34,392)
Investment income 36,000 293,687 257,687
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 2,015,237 2,086,511 71,274
Total revenues 20,999,432 21,992,279 992,847
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community Development
Community Planning & Development
Personal services 260,900 256,176 4,724
Contractual, materials and other 32,851 25,271 7,580
Community Service Program
Personal services 101,570 100,979 591
Contractual, materials and other 14,127 8,235 5,892
Miscellaneous
Contractual, materials and other 3,750 1,168 2,582
Total community development 413,198 391,829 21,369
Community Environment
Building Inspection
Personal services 101,570 99,221 2,349
Contractual, materials and other 21,502 13,999 7,503
Code Enforcement
Personal services 84,320 83,037 1,283
Contractual, materials and other 106,427 103,847 2,580
Engineering
Personal services 280,860 271,678 9,182
Contractual, materials and other 110,954 84,818 26,136
Total community environment 705,633 656,600 49,033
Fire
Fire Services
Personal services 4,984,370 4,836,308 148,062
Contractual, materials and other 940,877 905,877 35,000
Total fire 5,925,247 5,742,185 183,062
(continued)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
General Government

City Administration

Personal services 308,360 304,351 4,009

Contractual, materials and other 33,676 28,890 4,786
City Council

Personal services 85,031 83,982 1,049

Contractual, materials and other 71,640 69,670 1,970
City Hall

Personal services 33,185 32,436 749

Contractual, materials and other 127,122 125,474 1,648
County Auditor Deductions

Contractual, materials and other 134,086 120,519 13,567
Finance

Personal services 403,150 398,613 4,537

Contractual, materials and other 157,430 155,737 1,693
Law Director

Personal services 118,165 116,284 1,881

Contractual, materials and other 73,337 72,049 1,288
Miscellaneous

Personal services 400,000 325,309 74,691

Contractual, materials and other 1,196,737 1,158,060 38,677
Personnel

Personal services 196,610 194,250 2,360

Contractual, materials and other 169,679 149,903 19,776
Purchasing

Personal services 23,605 23,298 307

Contractual, materials and other 12,284 11,614 670

Total general government 3,544,097 3,370,439 173,658
Judicial

Municipal Court

Personal services 1,227,937 1,204,052 23,885

Contractual, materials and other 354,227 347,536 6,691

Total judicial 1,582,164 1,551,588 30,576
(continued)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Parks and Recreation

Parks - Administration

Personal services

Contractual, materials and other
Parks - Grounds Maintenance

Personal services

Contractual, materials and other
Parks - Recreation Programs

Personal services

Contractual, materials and other
Senior Center

Contractual, materials and other
Urban Forest

Contractual, materials and other

Total parks and recreation
Police
Police Services
Personal services
Contractual, materials and other
Street Lighting Department
Contractual, materials and other

Total police
Total expenditures
Excess of revenues over expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing uses
Net change in fund balance
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Prior Year Encumbrances
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
133,070 130,918 2,152
36,191 34,555 1,636
696,100 694,168 1,932
367,949 351,736 16,213
119,770 117,723 2,047
67,528 60,978 6,550
30,953 26,090 4,863
65,746 56,191 9,555
1,517,307 1,472,359 44,948
5,709,309 5,497,639 211,670
1,007,238 908,504 98,734
221,500 221,500 -
6,938,047 6,627,643 310,404
20,625,693 19,812,643 813,050
373,739 2,179,636 1,805,897
441,262 441,262 -
(487,804) (487,804) -
(46,542) (46,542) -
327,197 2,133,094 1,805,897
12,402,787 12,402,787 -
432,020 432,020 -
13,162,004 $ 14,967,901 $ 1,805,897
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

STREET REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ 1,251,298 $ 1,257,364 $ 6,066
Investment Income 1,260 2,454 1,194
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 137,005 29,188 (107,817)
Total revenues 1,389,563 1,289,006 (100,557)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Street repair & maintenance
Personal services 807,277 777,264 30,013
Contractual, materials and other 1,211,565 1,098,144 113,421
Total expenditures 2,018,842 1,875,408 143,434
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (629,279) (586,402) 42,877
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in 237,000 237,000 -
Total other financing sources 237,000 237,000 -
Net change in fund balance (392,279) (349,402) 42,877
Fund Balances, beginning of year 535,549 535,549 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 9,389 9,389 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 152,659 $ 195,536 $ 42,877
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

C.D.B.G. FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenue
Investment income

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development

Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Prior Year Encumbrances
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

C.D.B.G. REVOLVING LOAN FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Investment income

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development

Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 1,014,616 $ 320,671 $ (693,945)
- 2,770 2,770
1,014,616 323,441 (691,175)
1,072,086 685,739 386,347
1,072,086 685,739 386,347
(57,470) (362,298) (304,828)
134,177 134,177 -
55,624 55,624 -
$ 132,331 $ (172,497) $ (304,828)
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 226 $ 363 $ 137
226 363 137
20,736 20,561 175
20,736 20,561 175
(20,510) (20,198) 312
20,511 20,511 -
$ 1 $ 313 $ 312
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

C.D.B.G. PROGRAM INCOME FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES: $ 1 $ 1 $ -
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development
Contractual, materials and other 13 - 13
Total expenditures 13 - 13
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (12) 1 13
Fund Balances, beginning of year 13 13 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 1 $ 14 $ 13

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

CEMETERY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Charges for services $ 175,000 $ 158,220 $ (16,780)
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 3,048 2,975 (73)
Total revenues 178,048 161,195 (16,853)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Health
Personal services 215,430 211,146 4,284
Contractual, materials and other 82,836 76,674 6,162
Total expenditures 298,266 287,820 10,446
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (120,218) (126,625) (6,407)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfers in 45,000 45,000 -
Total other financing sources 45,000 45,000 -
Net change in fund balance (75,218) (81,625) (6,407)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 260,420 260,420 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 1,692 1,692 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 186,894 $ 180,487 $ (6,407)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

CEMETERY MAINTENANCE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Investment income 1,200 $ 14,422 $ 13,222
Total revenues 1,200 14,422 13,222
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Health
Contractual, materials and other 610 602 8
Total expenditures 610 602 8
Excess of revenues over expenditures 590 13,820 13,230
Fund Balances, beginning of year 816,432 816,432 -
Fund Balances, end of year 817,022 $ 830,252 $ 13,230
CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
CONVENTION AND VISITORS' BUREAU FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Local taxes 90,212 $ 116,281 $ 26,069
Total revenues 90,212 116,281 26,069
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development
Contractual, materials and other 90,000 90,000 -
Total expenditures 90,000 90,000 -
Excess of revenues over expenditures 212 26,281 26,069
Fund Balances, beginning of year 20,015 20,015 -
Fund Balances, end of year 20,227 $ 46,296 $ 26,069

113



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

COUNTY AUTO LICENSE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenue

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Street repair & maintenance

Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

CRA FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:

Special assessments
Total Revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development
Personal services
Contractual, materials and other
Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 125,370 $ 125,371 $ 1
125,370 125,371 1
108,979 108,979 -
108,979 108,979 -
16,391 16,392 1
68,572 68,572 -
$ 84,963 $ 84,964 $ 1
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 2,000 $ - $ (2,000)
2,000 - (2,000)
1,175 1,000 175
1,800 1,751 49
2,975 2,751 224
975) (2,751) (1,776)
8,484 8,484 -
$ 7,509 $ 5,733 $ (1,776)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

DRUG LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Fines, licenses and permits $ 9,600 $ 7,804 $ (1,796)
Total revenues 9,600 7,804 (1,796)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Police
Contractual, materials and other 12,000 10,802 1,198
Total expenditures 12,000 10,802 1,198
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (2,400) (2,998) (598)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 18,312 18,312 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 15,912 $ 15314 $ (598)

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

E-911 WIRELESS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ 50,000 $ 49,608 $ (392)
Total revenues 50,000 49,608 (392)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Police
Contractual, materials and other 80,316 60,562 19,754
Total expenditures 80,316 60,562 19,754
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (30,316) (10,954) 19,362
Fund Balances, beginning of year 155,180 155,180 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 124,864 $ 144,226 $ 19,362
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

ENFORCEMENT & EDUCATION FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Fines, licenses and permits $ 1,600 $ 1,283 $ (317)
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 500 440 (60)
Total revenues 2,100 1,723 (377)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Police
Personal services 4,000 314 3,686
Contractual, materials and other 500 - 500
Total expenditures 4,500 314 4,186
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (2,400) 1,409 3,809
Fund Balances, beginning of year 13,954 13,954 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 11,554 $ 15,363 $ 3,809
CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
FIRE LOSS SECURITY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements $ 119,600 $ 65,252 $ (54,348)
Total revenues 119,600 65,252 (54,348)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Fire Services
Contractual, materials and other 159,383 127,335 32,048
Total expenditures 159,383 127,335 32,048
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (39,783) (62,083) (22,300)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 10,400 10,400 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 64,803 64,803 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 35,420 $ 13,120 $ (22,300)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
HEALTH DEPARTMENT BUILDING LEASE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements
Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Health

Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

H.O.M.E. PROGRAM INCOME FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues
Investment income

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development

Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 27,364 $ 27,363 $ (1)
27,364 27,363 (1)
8,040 2,731 5,309
8,040 2,731 5,309
19,324 24,632 5,308
72,795 72,795 -
$ 92,119 $ 97,427 $ 5,308
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 5,777 $ 12,007 $ 6,230
12,050 20,255 8,205
17,827 32,262 14,435
108,824 75,604 33,220
108,824 75,604 33,220
(90,997) (43,342) 47,655
90,997 90,997 -
$ - $ 47,655 $ 47,655
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
INDIGENT DRIVER ALCOHOL TREATMENT FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Fines, licenses and permits $ 13,000 $ 13,462 $ 462
Total revenues 13,000 13,462 462
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Contractual, materials and other 18,000 111 17,889
Total expenditures 18,000 111 17,889
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (5,000) 13,351 18,351
Fund Balances, beginning of year 62,822 62,822 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 57,822 $ 76,173 $ 18,351
CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
INDIGENT DRIVER INTERLOCK & ALCOHOL MONITORING FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Charges for Services $ 20,000 $ 10,120 $ (9,880)
Total revenues 20,000 10,120 (9,880)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Contractual, materials and other 16,000 4,550 11,450
Total expenditures 16,000 4,550 11,450
Excess of revenues over expenditures 4,000 5,570 1,570
Fund Balances, beginning of year 36,929 36,929 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 40,929 $ 42,499 $ 1,570
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

JUSTICE REINVESTMENT INCENTIVE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ 240,740 $ 240,740 $ -
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements - 166 166
Total revenues 240,740 240,906 166
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Personal services 224,200 183,762 40,438
Contractual, materials and other 25,132 25,129 3
Total expenditures 249,332 208,891 40,441
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (8,592) 32,015 40,607
Fund Balances, beginning of year 29,324 29,324 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 4,840 4,840 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 25,572 $ 66,179 $ 40,607

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ - $ 10,261 $ 10,261
Fines, licenses and permits 5,000 40,939 35,939
Total revenues 5,000 51,200 46,200
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Police
Contractual, materials and other 80,573 52,338 28,235
Total expenditures 80,573 52,338 28,235
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (75,573) (1,138) 74,435
Fund Balances, beginning of year 256,462 256,462 -
Prior Year Encumbrances 1,723 1,723 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 182,612 $ 257,047 $ 74,435
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
LAW ENFORCEMENT DIVERSION GRANT FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues

Miscellaneous receipts and

reimbursements
Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Police

Personal services

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY (ARP) FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community Development
Contractual, materials and other
Fire
Contractual, materials and other
Police
Contractual, materials and other
Parks
Contractual, materials and other
Street
Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 27,180 $ 8,506 $ (18,674)
- 15 15
27,180 8,521 (18,659)
27,180 13,505 13,675
27,180 13,505 13,675
- (4,984) (4,984)
27,393 27,393 -
$ 27,393 $ 22,409 $ (4,984)
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 1,079,579 $ 1,079,579 $ -
1,079,579 1,079,579 -
341,950 359,950 (18,000)
258,000 251,368 6,632
27,500 27,500 -
315,825 312,671 3,154
382,725 63,954 318,771
1,326,000 1,015,443 310,557
(246,421) 64,136 (310,557)
1,071,027 1,071,027 -
$ 824,606 $ 1,135,163 $ (310,557)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
MAUSOLEUM MAINTENANCE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Charges for services
Investment income
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Health
Contractual, materials and other
Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget

800 $ 976 $ 176
148 990 842
10,892 10,893 1
11,840 12,859 1,019
880 872 8
880 872 8
10,960 11,987 1,027

48,012 48,012 -
58,972 $ 59,999 $ 1,027

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
MUNICIPAL COURT COMPUTER FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Charges for services

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Contractual, materials and other
Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget

30,000 $ 32,965 $ 2,965
30,000 32,965 2,965
46,963 45,998 965
46,963 45,998 965
(16,963) (13,033) 3,930

47,531 47,531 -
30,568 $ 34,498 $ 3,930
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
MUNICIPAL COURT SPECIAL PROJECTS FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Charges for Services

Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Personal services
Contractual, materials and other
Total expenditures
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Prior Year Encumbrances
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
OPIOID SETTLEMENT FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:

Excess of revenues over expenditures

Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 111,878 $ 109,599 $ (2,279)
18,322 18,217 (105)
130,200 127,816 (2,384)
80,170 77,372 2,798
232,575 231,629 946
312,745 309,001 3,744
(182,545) (181,185) 1,360
441,902 441,902 -
5,265 5,265 -
$ 264,622 $ 265,982 $ 1,360
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 6,638 $ 6,638 $ -
6,638 6,638 -
6,638 6,638 -
$ 6,038 $ 6,638 $ -
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

PARKING ENFORCEMENT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Fines, licenses and permits $ 19,979 $ 14,129 $ (5,850)
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements 180 - (180)
Total revenues 20,159 14,129 (6,030)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community Environment
Personal services 3,910 - 3,910
Contractual, materials and other 5,686 5,118 568
Total expenditures 9,596 5,118 4,478
Excess of revenues over expenditures 10,563 9,011 (1,552)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 101,245 101,245 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 111,808 $ 110,256 $ (1,552)
CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
PERMISSIVE LICENSE FEE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Local taxes $ 112,000 $ 106,807 $ (5,193)
Total revenues 112,000 106,807 (5,193)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Street repair & maintenance
Contractual, materials and other 112,000 112,000 -
Total expenditures 112,000 112,000 -
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures - (5,193) (5,193)
Fund Balances, beginning of year 185,764 185,764 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 185,764 $ 180,571 $ (5,193)
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

PROBATION GRANT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ 77,868 $ 77,868 $ -
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements - 79 79
Total revenues 77,868 77,947 79
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Personal services 75,851 75,210 641
Total expenditures 75,851 75,210 641
Excess of revenues over expenditures 2,017 2,737 720
Fund Balances, beginning of year 4,756 4,756 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 6,773 $ 7,493 $ 720

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

PROBATION SERVICES FEE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Charges for Services $ 10,000 $ 16,739 $ 6,739
Total revenues 10,000 16,739 6,739
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Judicial
Contractual, materials and other 8,000 1,673 6,327
Total expenditures 8,000 1,673 6,327
Excess of revenues over expenditures 2,000 15,066 13,066
Fund Balances, beginning of year 2,972 2,972 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 4,972 $ 18,038 $ 13,066
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

STATE HIGHWAY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $ 103,243 $ 101,949 $ (1,294)
Investment income 35 1,038 1,003
Total revenues 103,278 102,987 (291)
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Street repair & maintenance
Contractual, materials and other 110,337 110,337 -
Total expenditures 110,337 110,337 -
Deficiency of revenues under expenditures (7,059) (7,350) (291)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfers in - 3,000 3,000
Total other financing sources - 3,000 3,000
Net change in fund balance (7,059) (4,350) 2,709
Fund Balances, beginning of year 7,059 7,059 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ - $ 2,709 $ 2,709
CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS
AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
TIF - ECHO FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
REVENUES:
Local Taxes $ 8,300 $ 14,104 $ 5,804
Total revenues 8,300 14,104 5,804
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development
Contractual, materials and other 3,843 3,452 391
Total expenditures 3,843 3,452 391
Excess of revenues over expenditures 4,457 10,652 6,195
Fund Balances, beginning of year 45,365 45,365 -
Fund Balances, end of year $ 49,822 $ 56,017 $ 6,195
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

TIF -KUTHER ROAD FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Local taxes

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development

Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

TIF -MENARDS FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Local Taxes

Total revenues
EXPENDITURES:
Current:
Community development
Contractual, materials and other
Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over expenditures

OTHER FINANCING USES:
Transfers out

Total other financing uses
Net change in fund balance

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
60,600 $ 60,560 $ (40)
60,600 60,560 (40)
178,700 110,349 68,351
178,700 110,349 68,351
(118,100) (49,789) 68,311
151,743 151,743 -
33,643 $ 101,954 $ 68,311
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
130,669 $ 130,669 $ -
130,669 130,669 -
80,517 80,517 -
80,517 80,517 -
50,152 50,152 -
(618,162) (618,162) -
(618,162) (618,162) -
(568,010) (568,010) -
568,010 568,010 -
- $ _ $ -
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL
BOND RETIREMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
EXPENDITURES:

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in

Total other financing sources

Net change in fund balance

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
- $ - -
176,900 176,900 -
176,900 176,900 -
176,900 176,900 -
176,900 $ 176,900 -
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Local taxes
Intergovernmental revenues
Special assessments
Charges for services
Miscellaneous receipts and
reimbursements

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:
Capital Outlay:
Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Sale of asset
Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance
Fund Balances, beginning of year

Prior Year Encumbrances
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
3,103,535 $ 3,559,508 $ 455,973
2,846,500 1,712,552 (1,133,948)
116,000 145,814 29,814
- 24,750 24,750
493,790 213,968 (279,822)
6,559,825 5,656,592 (903,233)
9,330,558 7,572,360 1,758,198
9,330,558 7,572,360 1,758,198
(2,770,733) (1,915,768) 854,965
15,000 28,906 13,906
(279,695) (279,695) -
(264,695) (250,789) 13,906
(3,035,428) (2,166,557) 868,871
2,926,123 2,926,123 -
1,176,224 1,176,224 -
1,066,919 $ 1,935,790 $ 868,871
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

MUNICIPAL EARNED INCOME TAX FOR STREET CAPITAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
Local taxes

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:

Capital Outlay:
Contractual, materials and other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Prior Year Encumbrances

Fund Balances, end of year

CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - BUDGETARY (NON-GAAP) BASIS

AT LEGAL LEVEL OF BUDGETARY CONTROL

CAPITAL FOR FIRE STATION #3 FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

REVENUES:
EXPENDITURES:

Net change in fund balance

Fund Balances, beginning of year
Fund Balances, end of year

Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ 1,519,796 $ 1,855,923 $ 336,127
1,519,796 1,855,923 336,127
1,833,092 1,510,920 322,172
1,833,092 1,510,920 322,172
(313,296) 345,003 658,299
1,218,099 1,218,099 -
33,092 33,092 -
$ 937,895 $ 1,596,194 $ 658,299
Actual Variance
Final Including from Final
Budget Encumbrances Budget
$ - $ - $ -
$ - $ - $ -
57,514 57,514 -
$ 57,514 $ 57,514 $ -
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STATISTICAL SECTION



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
Statistical Section
December 31, 2022

This part of the City of Sidney’s annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information
says about the City’s overall financial health.

Contents Page

Financial Trends (Schedules 1 — 4)

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader

understand how the City’s financial performance and well-being have

changed over time. 132 -136
Revenue Capacity (Schedules 5 — 6)

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the

City’s most significant local revenue source, the municipal income

tax. 137 -138
Debt Capacity (Schedules 7 - 10)

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the

affordability of the City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the

City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 139- 142
Economic and Demographic Information (Schedules 11 — 12)

These schedules offer economic and demographic indicators to help

the reader understand the environment within which the City’s

financial activities take place. 143 — 144
Operating Information (Schedules 13 — 15)

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the

reader understand how the information in the City’s financial report

relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs. 145 -147

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual comprehensive financial
reports for the relevant year.

131



433

PAILISAI USIQ 10U IARY SI0OUR[EQ TeIA J01Id - ‘pUN,] [BISUID) (IIM PIIBPI[OSUOD MOU
puny Areronpy e Kjsnoiaaid spuny pawrejoun 105 djdioutid Jununoode ur a3uey)) -
PAIBISAI UD9Q JOU AR sooue[eq 18aK J011d - </ 107 10F G/ "ON JudwdelS gSyo Jo odrourid Sununoosoe ur oSuey)) --

10T 10F 89 "ON WUSWIEIS FSVD JO UOHIILIOD -

Pa1LISAT USIQ 10U dARY SoUR[eq 18K 1011d - ‘417 10] 89 "ON JudWAIRIS SO Jo ddiourid Jununoooe ur a3uey)) -

*€10¢ Ul Isa10yul pazifeides 10Mas JO UONILI0)--

:9[NPAYDS JAOGE Y UL PIIOI[JAI dIB SadUR[RQ ,SI1BIA 10LId JO SJUaWAL)SAI FUIMO[[O] Y], :ION

ot

uonisod jou [e10], @
uonisod jou sanianoe odA)-ssoursnq [elo ] o
uonisod 10U SONTAIIOE [RJUIWUISAOS [210 ] 8

parejsar paje)sal
se se

PaIL)SAIPAILISAI
pareisar - se se

120T ‘0T0T 610T 8I0T °LIOT 910T SI0OT ‘PI0T ‘€10T

il
<
Exlin
[

08$
0018

0zIs

[U48Y

0918

SISE(q [eNJ120€) UonIsod 9N

OIIIAL

=
7]

K1) oY) Aq pajoeud s1 uone[SIo] Jurjqeud (7) Jo ‘pasn oq ABL SIIINOSAT AY) MOY UO UONILISAI B Sade[d JUIWUIOA0T [B10pa) 10 2)e)s 2y Sk yons ‘Ajred [euIo)xo ue (1) udym

PAIOLISAI PAIOPISU0D ST uonIsod JON "PIIOLISIIUN PUB {PAJOLNSAI (S)OSSE [EJIARO UT SJUSUISIAUT JOU ISJUSWAIL]S [RIOUBUIL} A} UT sjuduodwiod aa1y) ut papiodar oq uonisod jou oy et onnbai spiepuels Sununoooy :9JoN

TLSBEVOYT § STSSTHSEL § OIL'SILOIT S 8LOFTIFIT § L09°0L9°00T § +98°S8ES6 $ PLT 166801 § L8TPIS66 $ E€LOVIET6 $ T06TI8TOI §
8€0°986°61 $SE'€E80°01 [(STE) 9€L°LT1°D) (L1TH97°6) (8L¥966°L) 18€°8€L°6 S€0°SET9 YEETET'E YLEOLLST
8YELYP9 £€8°6v6°9 €SELYIY 669°LEL'Y STE0TS'S 00L°65t°S 112129 TW6°0L09 1SY°TT6°E 0€L°1TSE
981°600°€T1 8EETOE ST 79912011 SILYIS 601 667719701 T9°TT6'L6 789°1€0°€6 01£°805°L8 88C6S 118 86L VIS8
1SSPETHL 10L°TL6'89 GS89LTTY PS0°TE8°6S 9P19PL9S $80°€TE S €61°THS €S 8ST69€° 61 6L EIT v TS8P
LOS796°0T €EITRSLT SIESI6TL €PPLOL0T 0LVTOITT 1TLELOET PIT9R0ET 9PET]TOL €TY'STL9 €IL°8S8°S
PH0°0LT'ES 895°06€°1S 0FS T9€°0S 119°€€0°6 9L9°€SS S €9€°6VT 1t 6L0°96%° 01 T16°980°6€ 95T°889°LE 6£1°98C°9¢
120°70T°SL YT8TSH99 SS888Y S YT9'E6T TS 19V ¥T6°er 08LT90°T¥ 180°671°SS 620°SPH0S $6£°006°9F 050°899°09
(697°8L6) (6LL'86Y°L) (0T9781€°ST) (6L1°sT6'TD)  (£89°959°00) (661°0L0°17)  (€€L°L0E°E) (I1ELY0) (680°€6¥°€) 199°L16°6
8YELYP9 £€8°676°9 €SELYIY 669°LEL'Y STE0TS'S 00L°65t°S 112129 TW6°0L09 1SY°TT6°E 0€L°1TSE
TH1°SEL69 0LLT00°L9 TTI°099°€9 P01 18509 £28°090°6S 6LT'ELI9S £€09°5€5°TS 86€°1TH8Y TEO' 1LY 9 659°8TT LY
7207 1202 paje)saL 6107 8107 [ 9102 PAEISALGIOT  PAIEISAL SE 0T Ppajersal
e 070T Se ‘LT0T Se ‘€107
‘1€ 19qUIdI( pIpuy I X
1 9npayds

uonisod jou [e10],
PpajoLnsoIuN)
sosodnd 1otpQ
110J PAIILNSY
sjosse [ej1ded ur SJUSUISIAUT JON
18101

uonisod jou soniAnoe odA)-ssoursnq [ejo [
pajoLnsatun
paInsay
syosse [eyrdes ur syuaunSaAur JON
san1Anoe ad4£)-ssaursng

uonisod 19U SONIAIIOR [RIUSWUIIACST €10,
PpaLIsaIun)
sosodind 10y10
210J PAOLNSTY
$19ss® [e11deo Ul SHUOUNSIAUT JON
SONIATIOR [BJUDWILLIDAOD)

SUVHA TVOSIA NAL LSVT
AYODALYD A4 NOILLISOd LIN
OIHO ‘AANUIS 40 ALID




€el

8EH6YT 61 T0T°LTY'81 618°SOT"LI TSLT68LT $L0°086°ST 8LLTSL'ST SPI0SH'ST TSSTPEST 068°€S6°Y1 PECETTST
LEO'ST6T S8TE0S'T LYTTES'T T10°62t'1 €SSLLET S8T08T'T €LYTEST TSSLOY'T SECTOV T 9TCr9SE
88LT9L'L €00°T6L°L 8€1°9L8°9 0€5°708°9 LLYTIE9 6TS'1E%°9 SYL'€00°9 £€8°G19°S 88€°886'1 868°8Y 1Y
TET'€86 675°006 £€1°%S8 €65 SLI'T TEE9LY £87°701 |82 7a4 T6TT8¢ 8¢8°8LE £29°05€
LLS'SE0'T TS8°LEGT 08L'S8LT LEL'OLLT 6T1'969°1 9L6'679°1 166°95S°T STELSY'T 766'88€°T PIESTET
$06°€55°9 3% 73] 1TS°LS0°9 188°S0L°9 €80°L16°S S09°801°9 S65°TE6'S 0ST'€6€°9 SEF90L’9 ELTYTL'S
08¥°S9L°L L9S°9%T 6 87970006 ELOTOY'S YLT806Y TLLOST9 006°6¥C9 LE0BLSY T0ES9TY 61876609
061°€60°7 L9S°6TH'S 09Z°658°€ TTL'SO6°T S90°L6S°T 896°9€T°€ 19T°€9T°E T667LS'T 60S°LYS'T TIL68T°E
6LETEY L TYL SYTLYI'T 85€°999 9L9°6LE 60L°6EY $99°95¢ £S¥°TSE Tr8see 0€TPEY
9¥8°8LE 90$°8LT SPSTE9 L9¥°96€ T61°8T1 1€6°08 800°€€T €L6°€T1 61%°€LI 6¥9°611
£69°686 LET'S90°T €7L°988 L8ET60°T TOL'QLI‘T 891°9L8 0LT°¢88 800°7€6 156916 006°926
98+°8LI 6¥€°STE 88€81Y 10S°LTT LLT'L61 €19°CST THE9ST €0€°SH1 TLITel 208°CS1
TI58¢ - LYET - - €LTY - - - -
816°S0L ¥€8°6€6 08+'70T° 1 16S79L L9¥0T8 €86 7L 96L°LIL Ty ToL L09°00L 106°SSS
855°50T LY6IST 00€°01C LLYLYT 9TsITI T00°€TT PLIPLT SIL96 SST6L 098°L8
8€9°9%S 98€I€ 09€°0%9 0LT'SLE 60T°S8% $T1°209 P8E°SLS 1S1°08€ L¥S68€ $T8°T€9
68€°69L°8€ 688°€LL'TE 1LY P06 Ty TLL'868°0€ 905°986°6¢ 9L9°TTO°LE 8S6°067 7€ 9L6°L09°TE 168°LT9°T€ 816°0SH° 1€
90L°0€8"11 978°679°C1 €V ELTST €10°799°ST YEP'E6T Y1 LYOPSLET 9071071 1LS°T8H 11 STEE6ETT TIF9pTTT
€87°8¢€8'T ST89EE’T SE8°69S°T 6SY'TLOT 0SH'€01°T LOL'6T8°T 619°089°T LST'609°T 890°9LS°T 8ETPSS'T
9I8°LY9°S 785°998°t 9$8°8%0°9 81L°TS0°9 066°90T°S 9ET'ILLY £78°786°€ ¥8S'EIL'E 009°T6L°E 18€°8€8°¢
029°9TS 698°6Y9 $09°959 0T8°86¢€ LOT'EE9 679°€€9 £50°88S SOVPLS 14SpTS 16€° 161
€70°SL61 08€°908°T 699°€T8°1 €YTET9°T SIL769°T 206°€T9°1 8KT6¥S'T 0€9°1TH' T 900°T9€°T YLLOYET
Pr6°THSY 89T°0L6'E 86bYLIS €LLITS'S 691°5$8°Y €LT968°Y eIy SEL'EITY OIT'6ETY LTL'ST6E
£89°8€6°€C €90°v¥1°0T 800°1€9°9C 6SLYETST TLO'E6Y'ST 620°89T°€T ¥68°9LY TT SO¥STITT 995°7€T°0T LOSF0E°0T
€99°%1 TI8°ST 1SS°IS YTEY6 $69°S01 €20°0C1 YLTYET L66LY1 €50°191 S00°16T
- - $S0°rS - - - - - - PETYI
€91°919'F £0¥'SEEY 798°08%'t 0rS61¥'y 6L0°001°1 ELECIL'E 9€€°695°¢ 860°9€T°€ €LSEET'E 86L°105°€
- - - - - 8LLY 6051 - - -
168°685°9 L¥¥'66T°9 S80°TSE’L 9€L°195°C €81°T6v°L L¥9°9€6°9 L86'18€°9 126761°9 476909 916°8L8°S
STSSTST 80Z°200°T 120°829°1 LEETES'T S6E 18T 198°659°1 L99°TLS'T 081°€8¥°1 SSTPOr'T 956°€SH'1
L8E°EILT TSYSIET 99T PrrT 1€5°69%°C 661'SLE'T PISPS8T 60L°TS8°T T91°TSY°T T6L°TOL'T POTHP9°T
SEETLT LTE6TT SS8°L6Y 9L0'7LE 09t°s5€ 780°91¢ 8%0°67C €2E91C 8LETIT YEITIT
820°79T°1 689°TY1 080°60L°T LOS'ESS'T 859°18T°1 €6V vOr'T T66'TIT'T TT0°SET°T €€5°TTT’T T65°08T°1
1LS°LS6'S L9T'688°S 107°28€°9 LLS'PTT 690°69%°9 606°T9L°S S8LTIL'S S65°EYS'S SIL'8T0°S 170 1€8Y
£€5° 19¢ 009°16€ 887708 657788 786°TSL 0LTT99 SET°0T9 122°89¢ 8SHTLS LSS TTS
1S6'71H°1 809°1S¥ TWEISTT £57°506 £09°956 1€°0LL $T6°S00°T 3 439Y L88°L9Y 0TT%L9
9€9°69 0S0°T9 £00°0L 61T°LT 0St'€T 8€L°T9 LTS 6YT v p8e 785°101 -

0T 1202 PajeIsaI se ‘0707 6107 8107 PaIEISAT S “L10T 910z PIILISAI SE ‘LT PIILISAI SE “pI(T PIIEISAI SE “E1(T

‘L€ 19quIdII( PIpUY IedX

7ompayds

sonuaaal wedoxd sanianoe adA1-ssoursnq ejo ],

soniAnoe od£)-ssoursng 10710
RESTEYN
I0JEMULIO}S
dse M\ PLOS
JoMag
:son1Anoe adA)-ssoursng

59NUSAI WeIF01d SINIATIOR [BIUSWUIIA0S 810,

doueudurew 29 Jedar 10on0S

9104

UOIBAIDAI PUE SYIBJ

[erorpag

resH

«EQEEQ.\/OM [erouan)

g

JUSWUOIIAUD %ﬁ::&EOU

JuawdojoAdp Ajunwwo))

SONIANOR [RJUSWUIAOD)

SINUIAIY WeIF01g

sasuadxg [ej0],
sasuadxa sanianoe adAj-ssoursng [e10],
saniAnoe adAy-ssauisng 1210
101 A\
191MULI0)S
AISeM pLOS
10M3S
:sonianoe adKy-ssoursng

SosUAdXa SANIATIOR [RJUSWILLIIAOS [B)0 ],

1qop WLIL)-SUO] UO JSAIU]

1800 dduenssi puog

doueuurew 29 Jedar 10onS

uoneuodsuen orqng

Kyayes arqng

9104

UONBAIDAI PUE SYIBJ

[erorpag

YiesH

«EQEEQ.\/OM [erouan)

g

JUSWUOIIAUD \AamE:EEOU

JuawdojoAdp Ajunuwwo))

S91AI0S AJIjiin o1seq
SONIALOR [BJUSWIIOAOD)

sasuadxyg

SUVAA TVOSIA NAL LSVT
NOILISOd LAN NI SHONVHD
OIHO ‘AANIS 40 AL



el

*5sUadXd 19A00 0] JUSIDJNS UBY) DIOW 2IOM SANUIAST weiFoid jey) ueaw
sasayjared noyim sioquiny “werSoid Jo UONoUN Jey) 2OURUL] 0} PIPIIU AIIM SINUGARI [BIOUST 210Ja1aY) pue sanuaaal wesFoxd uey) 101eaId a1om sasuadxa jey) ajeoIpur sasayuated Ul SIGGUINN "SINUIAI [BIUSWIIIAOS IO PUE SIXE) WOLj Surpuny

uodn doueIfa1 $)1 SnsIoA sjueid oygroads-weidold pue saay umo sit £q partoddns st weiSoxd 1o uonouny B yorym 01 92139p a1y sajeotpur )] ‘werdoid 10 uonouny e Jo sonuaAdl weidord pue sasuadxs ) UIMIOQ SIUSIJIP ) ST ONUIAAI/(Isuadxa) N ()
LYO€10p1 SI8°659°81 126'709°C 1L0VSPEl EPLY8T'S 817°70T°€ L869LT'6 ¥12°00S°8 0LET609 961°19%°L [BI0L
058°19T°S 9¥8°69°9 108°SH1'T 806'780°C 790°€TH'T ¥8€°5$S°T SE6TLTY 6LS'SS6'Y SO81LTY €0S'8YLY santanoe adfy-ssoursng
L6T'ISL'S 696°€96°T1 0T1°6ST £91°69€°01 189°198°C YE8°9Y9 750%00°S SE9'PPS'E §95°0T8°1 €69°TILT SANIANIE [BJUSWUIA0D)
uonIsod JAN ur dguey)
8IS°LILST SE6°655°ET S§T6TOV 81 8117996 0C 100°€8€ T 969056 81 006°L96'1C 109°¢81°1C 690° 10581 106869°LT eoL
811°¢r8 0L¥'869 Sryel9 691°LS8 wr9co €STLSS 7S8°9¢L 86S160°1 orClIL 08S18L sonianoe odA)-ssoursng [ero,
66781 vCroLy 1¥8°69 a8ILIE 000°LEY 919°60C LS9TLT 860°STY §S6'19C 1LT61T SIojsuel],
STT6 $99°C 200°69 (6¥9°F) S0T'S £20'vT LLE€ET $86°8T 7$S°T (AN s10s5€ [E31dE0 JO [ESOdSIP/O[ES UO Uren)
YOT'SET SP1'81 ELYTIT Y0£601 86T°THE 601°50T T81°0p1 196°621 691°1T1 10¥°LT1 s3urues JusunsaAuf
06Z°€1T 9€5°L0T 6T1°€9€¢ TEESEL 616181 SOT'8TI 8€9°00€ $65°L0S 795°92¢ 6TLIEY SNOSUB[[OSIA
:sanianoe odA)-ssoursng
00¥' 726 vC So¥'198°CC 08%°68L°LT 676 '801°0C 6LS OV €T ey e6e 8l 90 1EC T £007C60°0C 6C8°68L LT 1CEL1691 SOLIAIOR [BIUSWUISA0S [BI0,
(66¥°T8Y) wTrocy) (I78°69) (@8I°LTE) (000°LEY) (919°600) (LS97TLD (850°STY) ($S6'190) (ILT610) sigjsuel]
€61°L€8 TOLYYS 81€TEI°T 995°98L S88°T6L 16T°L8I°T LLLTTS 8LELYE ELT'YSY 98L°6SY SNOJUEBT[IISTA
906°'8C YTy £20°C¢E 00T°0¥ 11s°L1 88€°91 9€€°8L 0vS‘8T 187 1¢ 08€°€ s10s5e [e31de0 Jo [esodsip/a[es uo (sso]) uren
861°9 998°€8 0vT'sst S06°€SY 989°98T $99°€1T 65T°18 $61°T8 L80°88 T60°901 SBUILIED JUSUISIAU]
£66°€€8 686°LyL 0%9°559 98L°899 206°€SS 8L9°€TS 6SL°€SS 1+2°08S 8€1°065 LOV'T8S Foxd o1y10ads 01 PajoLISI JOU SUOHINGLIUOD PUE SIUEID)
- - (182) 01T 99L 850°1 09Tt pES'T S98°1 8€0°L08 SOXE} 1YIO
09LSLY 150°€8¢€ TIEYIT 880°9¢t 66T 1Y TLS'80Y 169°€8€ T09°LLE rEP'16T - soxe) SuIgpoy
£€€°50T 1ST'561 955°861 95€ ST LLY'IST 198°161 TTEIsT PITIST 189°1€1 - SOXE} JO 131 Ul SJdWAe]
166'80T°T 8TETITT 886°L90°T 6LL'LIOT 710801 69L°010°T 95101 €8€°920°1 6%0°820°1 €8€°910°T soxey Aadolg
STS0I8'IT 8T1°0T1°0C STSE06°ET 17T'81891 6€7°585°0T LLL6SO'ST €6 VTL'ST SLOTSS'LT 9L8V6EST 90S 191°%1 S9XE) dWOodU[
SOXB],

ISONIATIOR [BJUSWILIDAOL)
uonIsoq JAN Ul SIZULY)) JIY)() PUE SINUIAIY [EIIUID)

[V2ZEZIAIN) (021°006%) (#00786L°ST) v0TISD) (8ST860°61) (LTT6ITST) (€T6°06LCT) (Z8€7€89°CI) (669°807C1) (SOLLETOT) w01
TELBIVY 9LEL66'S 95€TERT 6EL°LTTT 0r9°98%°T T€1°866°T 180°9¢t°€ 186°€98°¢ §95°095°€ £26°996°€ san1Anoe ddAj-ssoursng [ejo ],

¥SLOL 09¥°991 (885°L€) (8¥1°Er9) (L68°sTL) (TTST6v9) OpT8YD) (COETID (€€8%3) 880°010C sanIAnoe adAy-ssouisng YO
TLOEITT 61$4T6'T T8T°LT8 TISISL L89°SOT°T £6£099°1 TT6'810°T 6¥T°T06°1 88L961°1 LIS01€ RSN
TIS9SY 099°0ST 8TS'L6T €LL9LL STT'EY Op1I'1€0) (TIL'eon (8€€°6£0°T) (€oL'sy1) (1S1°966) 19)EMULI0NS
PES09 LY IEL (688°LE) P6EEST 1L YLO9 SYLL 098788 886°9C £26°¢€8 AIse M pIjos
096°01L°T S9TTST £20°¢88 801°681°1 P16 T90°T TEETITT PLTTTLT SIS6TT'T STEL9S'T 975°808°T Iomoag

:soniAnoe adK)-ssoursng

() ANUIAY (asuadxyy) 3oON

(€0T°€L191) (96+°L68°01) (09€°0€9°L1) (98L°6€L°6) (86878500 (8STLITLD) (¥66°9TT91) (89€°L¥S91) (¥97°696°S1) (829°70T+1) SOIATIOR [JUSWILLIDAOS [B10],

(€99°1) (Z18°50) (1$5°19) (FTer6) (¥69°501) (gzo'0Tn) (PLTYED) (L66°LYT) (€50°191) (500°167) 199p wId}-3U0[ O 3S2I3UL
- - #S0°tS) - - - - - - FeTyD) 1500 QOUBNSSI PUOE
(€L9°TTs) P91¥60°1 (209°129) (818°€15°7) (¥10°€05°7) (S0¥9LS) (SL0°ZOY) (901°19¢°T) (¥90°989°T) (980°C1€) QoueuduIEwW 2% 1edor 10ons
- - - - - (8LLY) (60S°T¥) - - - uoneyodsuen oqng
(T15°€56°S) (90L°L§S*S) 0¥8°70T°9) (8LE°568°T) (LOS'TTTL) (8€6°96%°9) (TTe'sTo'9) (891°TH8°S) (665°€€L°S) (989°t11°S) 21104
(6L9°9K1°T) (zoL'eTL) (9L°$66) (0L8°sErT) (€0T°€St 1) (0£6°8LS°T) (659°6€€°T) (LOT6SET) (9€L°06T°T) (LOgPEET) UOIEDIOAI PUE SYIE]
(peL'LLL) (S1¥°057) (EPS°LSST) (PP1°8LET) (LEL'96T'T) (97€°8L6) (6£+°896) (FsT°0TL) (0¥8°¥8L) (POE°LTL) [eroipng
(6¥8°C6) 72096 (L9t'6L) (SLS'9¥T) (€81°851) (697°€91) (90L°TL) (0z0°101) (907°68) (z€€°68) yresq
915°€TT D) (689°Tr1) (€€L°LOLT) (L08°€SS°T) (859°18T°1) (0ZZ°00%°1) (T66°TITT) (110°S€T°T) (ggszee’n) (zss°08T°1) JUOUILIDAOS [BIoUSD)
(€59°15T°9) (€E¥°616h) (1T6°LLT*S) #10°0S9 (209°8+9°6) (926°L10°S) (686°€t6°1) (ESTT1H8%) (801°8Z€"t) (Ov1°SLTY) EME|
(SL6°550) (£59°6£7) (881°6S) (T8s°v1L) (9$¥°1€9) (89T°6¥S) (196°508) (90$°1LY) (€0T°¢61) (L69°vED) JUSWUOIAUS APUNWIIO)
(€1€°898) (zeeLen) (286°S1¢) (€81°0€¢) (F6€£°1LY) (L1T°891) [§40(32] (z8T°¢81) (0v€'8L) (S8T°1¥) Judwdofpdp Ajrunwitio))
(9€9°69) (0S0°19) (€00°0L) 611°LD) (0s¥°€0) (8€L°29) (LTS 6¥T) (Y9¥°¥8¢€) (z8s°101) - $O01A108 Ay[nn orseq

1SOUIATIOR [EJUOWILIOAOD)

() ANUIAY (asuadxy) 3oN

0T 1202 PajeIsaI se ‘0707 6107 8107 PaIEISAT S “L10T 910z PIILISAI SE ‘LT PIILISAI SE “pI(T PIIEISAI SE “E1(T

L€ 1qUIII( papuy IBIX
SUVHA TVISIA NAL LSV'T

NOILISOd LAN NI SHONVHD

7 dIMpaYds OIHO ‘AANAIS 40 ALID



Ggel

"PaILISaI U00q JOU dARY SIedA Jolid {puny [eIouan) oy} YIm PIJEPI[OSu0d sem punj Areronpiy e A[snoradid spunj pawrejoun 0z0g uJ --

90EV66'6  § SSSTE66  § PLSLEE'Y  § SEE99€'8 €SSOP8’L  § ¥8LOES'L § L8TISYL $§ 6SI°0T99 § SLED06'S § S0E'STOY $ SpUny [B)USLILIOAOS JOYIO [[ [EJO,
(S9¢°0t) (9L6°0) (LzT10) (€01°0) - - - - pousisseun)
SL6Y6S Y €0LYI0Y 0V TL6'T TLOTIST 981°8T1°¢ 6£9°166°C S61°TLYT P68 T6L 1 pousissy
LLTThY L8L0ET 610°T€T S¥0°20T L€8°T61 S99°0S T LOTOET L91°98T papIwo))
898°708 't P8E9IS'S €68°CTI6'Y TLI'T8E'S 018°09¢'% 89°1¥9'% LIS TILY 8SH SIH'Y papLIsay
1SSv61 $  LS9ELI $  L8PIVT $ 6v1Tee 0TL'8ST $ 86LTS $ 8IFL8 $ 0¥99CI $ s[qepuadsuoN
:saduefed punj
Spuny [BJUAWILIIACL) J3YIQ [V
PSSO0F P  § SLO'9SETI  § I9IWTLOL  $ ¥ILL6LOT €60°€06°01 § LOS0L98 § PILLYS'6 $§ 1L9VST'S § 0SET199 § puny [e10Ud3 [2)0 ],
S¥6°006°01 TH0°9LE'8 T99°18L°L 169°6S9°L €86°01S°8 Tv9°LT99 LTI L S6£°65E9 pousisseun)
0r9°6¥1°C 6SS1TLT 88L9LY°I 91L°966°1 €50°01+°1 9IS SIT'T €98°18L°1 980 T#S‘1 pousissy
10¥°S¥T°1 €60°TST°1 ISEP9T°T 0TS°866 €T1°6€8 6€€°169 S10°L8Y 9L0°€8T papIwwo)
- - - - - - - - paloLgsay
89G°011 $  T8€901 $ 09€°101 $ L8LTHI Pe6'TPT $ TIT9ET  § +TIL9T  $ PII°SOI $ s[qepuadsuoN
:saduefed punj
puny [BIRUIDH
70T 1207 0202 610 810 L10T 9107 S10T
‘1€ QU

SAVAA TVOSIA NAL LSV'T

NANWNITAOD ‘SAINVIVE ANNA

€ dMpPayds OIHO ‘AANAIS 40 ALID



o€l

*90TAIOS 1QOP WO PAJOLNQNS UG SARY FUIPUNOI JUSLIND ) J0J PANSSI SPUOq Y} 0ZOT X £10T 10

%9°CT %€ %Ibl %I°¢ %It %EY %EY %t %St « %E€ soxmjIpuadxo
[endesuou jo o3ejusorad e se 991A10S 199
0€TTITT S68°9TT’e  $ (9Tr'8El)  § covock  § Ss€9eTT  § (09L°166) S ITTH6ST SLYTEY'T  § L69°€E6T §  LSETIITT § SadUE[Eq PUN UT AFULYD JON
(€6S°ESh) (OFL8LE) CEI9S8T (I8€°9L7) 687°611) (8TT9) 6L9LT) (9LS8¢E¢E) S0°LST) 609 T8LY (sosn) $001M0S FUIdUBULY JOYIO [EJO],
(199°58€°T) (@TL’L90)  (TE6°8€8) (T81°TH9) (000°L69) (919°66€) (LS9°L8TT) (820°508) (8LT°LTH) (1L9°69¢€) MO SIOJSUBL],
906°8T 9L6'8L 9LT'LE 108°0% T1S°LT 88€°9F 998°56 L81°8C TANSY 898°L sjesse [enden jo ofeg
- - Ovmﬂoﬂ ~ - - - - - - - mUEOn— uo EEWEOHQ
- - THPTLLT - - 000°LST - - - TV LY6' Y PONSST SUBO/SPUOE
T91°€06 000°0T9 000°SLL 000°5T€ 000°09T 000°06T 000°STO°T S9T'8¢EY 000°STT 000°961 Ul SIJSUBL],
X(SASN) SHOUNOS ONIONVNIA YAHLO
€78°696°T 1$9°509°¢ (1957667 ¥8L°969 ¥18°559°T (T€s°s86) TIO'TLLT 1SO°0LL'T 15L°060°C (TLT'0T9D) sarmrpuadxa (1opun)
IOAO SONUAAAI JO (KOUDIDIJOP) SSIOXT
£90°9€5°6T 8€€1TI'9T 001°856°0€ 1TI°1TS°ST 669°7FE°ST TET610°9T STI'PE6'ST €6T08T°€T 9€ €861 989°881°9C sormyrpuadxa [elo,
SLL'9E 906°LY 806°18 L09°96 LOSTTIT LS0°9TT LOEOPT 786°€ST 786°991 L¥1°S0€ SOTIBYD JAYIO PUE JSAIU]
- - $S0%S - - - - - - 999°98 §1S09 QOUENSST PUOL
0$8°L9S 0$8°LSS T6T°0TEE 0$8°THS 0S8°TIL 0$8°T69 000°589 000°0L9 000°0S9 000°S0%°S [edoutg
190TAISS 199
T9v°0L0°8 LT8690°9 S08°T61°8 SIS'LIS'S ST6'01S°9 06T°€TS'L 00S°LS6°L ¥$9°98T°S 0LV PHS'T 118 T0€ Y Aepno rende)
961°06S°T €CETHS'T PSLTEYT €T9°L6Y'T 89€°€€ET 8STLETT COTPIET €TL'S6TT 9LV TET'T 0ST°S6E°T doueudjurew % nedor j0ong
- - - - - 8LLY 60S‘1¥ - - - uoneytodsuer] orqng
€01°289°9 8SE°LEY'D $86°65T°9 L00°88T'9 0ST°TIT9 S08°¥86°S TIEPH'S 126°889°S $0T'$99°S 89L°8bY'S 2d110g
00S°8SH°T CEPILTT 81€°69CT 110°8€€°T T6¥°69TT $0S0TE T SS6°L8TT YL6'OVT'T €L9°961°T 0LELSTT UONEAIIII PUE SYIBJ
815°986°T 61TP86°T 168°LT6°T L66°TI6T CY8YLLT 116°LbST LSO'6S9°T POE'LES'T €15°695°T £96°6€S°T [erorpng
£76°38C €18°98¢ YT IOV 60T°TST 011°0€T 8TSYIT 1L0°€ST LL9'9ST 6¥0°TLT €LOOLI WESH
¥SO°LOY'T 08LTLIT 0T8°611'T 6178811 86L°0TT'T L68°SITT 0L9°€T0°T $80°680°T T09°9L0°T 1L8°8T6 JUSWIUIBA0S [EIUD
968°€t6°S YT Tor'S 168°88T°S 810°€0Y'S 650°L86'Y LSL'STO'S ST'ES8 Y 1LT°010°S £€6°889° TTYISY EME|
920029 1L0°069 819°€79 7€ 489 082019 LLL¥8S 1L0'709 10L°59¢ 9LS'SLS 0S0°01S JUSUWUOIIAUD AJTUNUIWIO))
YTI'ESL PLE'LES LSS'LT9 009°TLL L9S*L¥S 780°8¢€S 816°S67 1L67SY 85€°98¢ SLT6LE Judwdofoasp Ajunuruio))
9€9°59 0S0°19 €00°0L 611°LT 0SteT 8€L°T9 LTOYL - - - S921A10S AJI[TIN dIseq
UEO\EDU
STANLIANAIXH
988°T0T°CE 6L6°9CL°6C 6€S€96°LT S06°LTT9C €7S°000°8C 009°€€0°SC LETS0L8T Y0€056+%C I8TFI6TC PI¥'89S7€C SANUIARI [EI0L
€16°TSO°T TEESR0°T SE0'6LET 6L9°9TT°T $69°TE0°T 799°6€8 6€9°LS6 9LE%99 SLYGTS 98L°S6L sjuawesIquIar pue s1draoar Snoaue[eosIN
(LY88) SSI°gl T8T9K1 L8509t SPE'ILT 12€°00T 8101 ¥80°€6 STSSII 100°€T1 SWOOUI JUIUNSIAU]
£€E°961 115%0S 9¢S 1T €17°708 020°T6Y 9P1°SSH €01°sTh 890°99% €61°¢81 088°L81 syuIad pue SaSuOdI| ‘Soul|
PO PLS T OTT°LYY'T 11LTT'1 979°959°1 9T IS9°T 08SP8Y°I 99L°8TH1 18T°61S°1 2667691 6897891 SOIAIDS I0J SaTIeYD)
9TL'S6Y 0S€199 T16°6TS L98°TTY TTLEsY 8E1°19¢ 126°11Y 869°LLT €88°7LT LES'S6T sjuswssasse [e10adg
8E0°EIL'S 90€°061°S 621°90€°L 8€L°T96°C ¥9v°958°C €61°681°F 61S°ISH Y SS9°198°C €S8°LSLT 0TL'SELY SINUIADI [BJUSUILIA0T IS U]
€89°818°CC S1T°079°0C $E6°LSL9T S66°€6L'81 TSOEITIT 09T°LOS'LT LYE8E6°0T TH1°8€0°61 990°€L0°91 108°SHL'ST SOXE] [90']
2SINUIAY
7707 120T 0202 6107 8107 L10T 9107 ST0T Y107 €10
‘L€ I19qUIdII( PIPUY B X 10
SUVAA TVOSIA NAL LSV'T
SANNA TVINANNITAOD ‘SAINVIVE ANNA NI SIONVHD
b AMpayds OIHO ‘AANAIS 40 ALID



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
INCOME TAX BY PAYER TYPE AND INCOME TAX RATE
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (cash basis of accounting -- excluding refunds)

Schedule 5

Individuals
Withheld by Paid by Income Tax

Year Employer Taxpayer Net Profits Total Rate

2022 $ 13,988,391 § 1,011,522 § 6,267,635 $ 21,267,548 1.65%
2021 $ 13,043,995 § 932,733 § 4,144818 § 18,121,546 1.65%
2020 $ 12,211,042 § 985,638 § 2,220,155 § 15,416,835 1.65%
2019 $ 13,557,603 $§ 1,219,303 § 3,553,659 § 18,330,565 1.75%
2018 $ 13,610,025 § 1,137,042 § 4,577,846 § 19,324912 1.75%
2017 $ 13,349,548 § 905940 § 2,973,156 $§ 17,228,644 1.75%
2016 $ 13,772,447 § 886,471 § 5,036,973 § 19,695,891 1.75%
2015 $ 12,495,175 § 676,820 § 4,627,748 $ 17,799,743 1.75%
2014 § 10,510,653 $§ 653,903 § 4,108423 § 15,272,979 1.50%
2013 § 10435949 § 661,638 § 2977321 § 14,074,908 1.50%

Source: City of Sidney, Ohio, Income Tax Department

This City levies an income tax on all wages, salaries, commissions and other compensation paid by
employers and the net profits from a business or professional person earned within the City, excluding
income from intangible personal property. In addition, City residents pay City income tax on income
earned outside the City, net of a credit for income taxes paid to other municipalities. Employers within the
City withhold income tax on employee compensation and remit at least quarterly.

Income Tax Receipts

$16

- $14

N i
-- _$102
N s S
HE N 2
= r . M

ALy e

A A B

2020 2021

2022

W Individuals Net Profits
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO Schedule 6
RANKING OF TOP TEN INCOME TAX WITHHOLDERS
CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO (cash basis of accounting)

[T 0 yTTTTTrT T T T T TS
’ . /
! 2022 ! ! 2013 !
!Rank Name ! !Rank Name !
| 1 Emerson Climate | | 1 Emerson Climate f
i 2 Wilson Health i i 2 Wilson Memorial Hospital i
/ . / / : : /
f 3 Cargill .Inc . . [ 3 Hon(?a of America Manufacturing, Inc. f
i 4 Honda if America Manufacturing Inc i i 4 Cargill, Inc i
' 5 Superior Metal o 5 NK Parts Industries, Inc. /
! 6 Advanced Composites ! ! 6 Superior Metal !
! 7 Sidney Board of Education ! ! 7 Sidney Board of Education !
e ounty Auditors Office e ounty Auditors Office
! 8 Shelby County Auditors Offi ! ! 8 Shelby County Auditors Offi !
ydro Extrusion reshway Foods
f 9 Hydro E ion USA LLC [ | 9 Fresh Food 1
i 10 Norcold i i 10 Advanced Composites i
' . ’
f [ f
' P /
!Combined percentage of ! !Combined percentage of !
! Total income taxes 24.48% ! ! Total income taxes 27.15% !
f || f
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO Schedule 10
COMPUTATION OF DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING
GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

DECEMBER 31, 2022
Estimated Estimated
Percentage Amount
Net Debt Applicable to Applicable to
Outstanding City of Sidney* City of Sidney
Sidney City School District $9,220,000 100% $9,220,000
Shelby County ) $0 43% @ $0
Subtotal, overlapping debt $9,220,000
City of Sidney direct debt $ 1,427,296
Total direct and overlapping debt $10,647,296

*The calculation of overlapping debt is based on the percentage of the population that is in Sidney.

M Source: Treasurer of Sidney City Schools
@ Source: Shelby County Auditor

® Source: Per the Sidney's 2022 estimated population (20,290) as a percent of Shelby County 2022 estimate
population (47,671) is equal to 43%.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

Schedule 11

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
Per
Capita

Fiscal Personal Median School Unemployment Total Assessed Estimated Actual

. (1) @ (O] 2) (©)] “) @
Year Population Income Age Enrollment Rate Property Value Property Value
2013 21,031 (1)@ $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,497 6.2% $355,259,920 $1,015,028,343
2014 21,006 (1)) $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,487 4.6% $352,538,170 $1,007,251,914
2015 20,905 (1)) $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,354 4.3% $356,048,730 $1,017,282,029
2016 20,858 (1)) $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,421 4.1% $360,708,070 $1,030,594,486
2017 20,564 (1)) $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,298 4.1% $373,693,340 $1,067,695,257
2018 20,614 (1)@ $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,313 3.8% $374,523,810 $1,070,068,029
2019 20,516  (1)@) $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,262 3.5% $378,223,960 $1,080,639,886
2020 20,449 (1)@ $18,628 (1)(b) 36.1 yrs 3,223 7.7% $419,419,200 $1,198,340,571
2021 20,589 (1)) $27,662 (1)(b) 38.8 yrs 3,149 4.2% $420,479,620 $1,201,370,343
2022 20,421 (1)@ $27,662 (1)(b) 38.8 yrs 3,107 3.5% $427,332,820 $1,220,950,914

M Source: “ U.S. Bureau of the Census - Population Estimates Program, Population Division;
' U.S. Bureau of the Census - 2020 Federal Census

@ Source: Sidney City Schools Board of Education

® Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Dept. of Labor

 Source: Shelby County Auditor

Note: Total personal income amounts are not available for the City of Sidney therefore, estimated actual value of taxable property is used instead.
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

Schedule 12

2022

Emplover

Emerson Climate Technologies
Wilson Health

NK Parts Industries

Freshway Foods

American Trim

Area Energy & Electric
Advanced Composites

Sidney Board of Education
Cargill

Ferguson Construction Company

R R RV I NI VERY R

S

Total

Approximate
Number of
Emplovees

1,414
795
555
400
325
321
301
305
305
292

5,013

Percentage
of Total Top 10
Employment

28.21%
15.86%
11.07%
7.98%
6.48%
6.40%
6.00%
6.08%
6.08%
5.82%

100.00%

2013

Employer

Emerson Climate (formerly Copeland Corp)
Wilson Memorial Hospital

NK Parts Industries

Superior Metal Products/American Trim
Cargill, Inc

Freshway Foods

Sidney Board of Education

MaMa Rosa's Pizza

Wal-Mart Super Center

Ross Casting & Innovation

o R T N T

S

Total

Approximate
Number of
Employees

1,595
613
574
441
430
412
410
308
286
249

5318

Percentage
of Total Top 10
Employment

29.99%
11.53%
10.79%
8.09%
7.75%
7.71%
8.29%
5.79%
5.38%
4.68%

100.00%

Source: Sidney Shelby Economic Partnership (SSEP)

Note: Total number of employees within the City of Sidney is not available.

144




CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO Schedule 13
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT EMPLOYEES AS OF DECEMBER 31,
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Function/program
General government 10.65 9.65 9.15 9.15 9.15 9.15 9.15 9.50 9.50 9.50
Police

Officers 35.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 38.00 38.00 38.00 36.00 36.00 38.00

Civilians 13.35 12.35 12.35 12.47 12.51 12.80 13.18 13.81 13.81 13.81
Fire

Firefighters and officers 35.00 35.00 35.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 37.00 35.00 35.00 38.00

Civilians 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Judicial 17.16 17.66 17.66 18.16 18.35 21.95 22.70 21.95 21.95 21.95
Health - cemetery 2.00 2.00 2.00 232 3.32 3.32 3.32 3.32 3.32 3.32
Street repair & maintenance 7.08 7.08 7.08 8.66 7.74 8.66 8.74 8.74 8.74 9.55
Community development 1.00 1.00 2.00 225 225 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 3.00
Community environment 5.75 5.75 5.25 5.54 5.54 6.54 6.54 6.25 6.25 6.25
Parks and recreation 13.94 11.70 11.70 12.95 12.91 12.91 12.91 13.08 13.08 14.08
Transportation 12.72 12.72 13.71 14.17 15.04 16.04 16.79 14.94 14.94 14.94
Stormwater 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.40 3.65 3.65 3.84
Water 15.88 15.88 15.88 16.88 17.19 17.86 18.17 18.31 18.31 18.31
Sewer 17.38 17.38 17.38 17.38 17.38 17.61 18.01 17.46 17.46 18.46
Solid waste 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05
Airport - - 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05
Swimming pool 4.38 4.46 4.24 4.24 4.24 4.24 4.24 - - -
Concession Stand - - 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 - 0.63 0.63
Revenue Collection 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.67 6.67 7.00 7.00 7.00
Service center including city garage 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.05 3.40 3.40 3.40
Information technology 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 5.00
Total 209.19 206.53 207.98 215.75 219.20 227.33 229.60 219.51 220.14 230.14

Source: City of Sidney, Ohio, Appropriation Budgets for applicable years
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CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Function/program
General Government
Accounts payable checks processed
Purchase orders issued
Police
Calls for service processed
9-1-1 calls processed
Adult & juvenile arrests
Traffic citations
Fire
Fire calls
EMS calls
Municipal Court
New cases filed
Cases completed
Prisoners transported by bailiff
Cemetery
Burials
Grave sales
Public Transportation
Total ridership
Streets and highways
Miles of street responsibility
Traffic signal intersections
Planning
Sign permits issued
Zoning occupancy permits issued
Building inspection
Building permits issued
Building inspections
Engineering
Sanitary sewer inspections
Parks and recreation
Free clinics organized and directed
Free clinics (attendance)
Park shelters maintained
Trees planted
Senior Center members
Water
Gallons of water processed (in millions)
Lime sludge processed/removed (dry tons)
Water main breaks
Sewer

Wastewater processed (million gallons per day’

Biosolids processed (dry tons)
Feet of sewer cleaned
Swimming Pool
Daily admissions
Season passes
Information Technology
Number of personal computers maintained
Service Center - Garage
Units in fleet
Revenue Collections
Tax returns processed
Monthly Utility Customers

For Year Ended December 31,

Schedule 14

Source: City of Sidney, Ohio, Appropriation Budgets for applicable years. Actual statistics for years 2013 - 2021. Estimated statistics for 2022.
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2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
4,595 4,650 4,266 4,557 4,344 4,590 4,451 4,060 4,109 4,195
1,342 1,372 1,386 1,464 1,440 1,396 1,472 1,392 1,384 1,650

26,853 32,812 28,451 28,722 29,679 29,679 33,894 30,378 23,514 24,000
17,000 15,846 7,500 15,846 10,437 10,412 9,662 9,982 n/a
1,428 1,214 1,102 1,045 1,200 1,218 1,098 842 751 760
1,346 1,661 1,476 1,506 1,498 1,842 1,594 1,322 1,658 2,000
719 809 878 931 1,121 1,013 1,144 1,094 1,103 1,092
2,407 2,784 2,977 3,151 3,142 3,053 3,016 3,094 2,936 2,960
7,864 7,875 7,819 7,287 7,482 8,851 8,582 5911 7,359 7,800
8,185 7,924 8,466 8,715 8,940 9,313 8,766 6,167 7,590 7,600
1,148 1,055 1,000 514 839 1,231 738 88 105 100
101 86 92 107 90 94 97 125 119 125
59 65 29 55 84 105 89 85 122 125
43,756 47,782 48,270 49,180 48,367 49,305 48,675 28,249 28,401 27,504
110.5 110.5 111.0 111 111 111 111 111 111 112.47
48 49 50 51 52 52 53 53 53 53
33 42 40 46 30 37 40 33 37 31
33 20 35 21 26 16 16 16 18 22
467 367 235 550 543 406 361 389 553 562
361 390 322 676 879 572 482 695 784 1,040
15 13 11 11 14 20 7 10 38 30
12 15 10 21 27 31 32 n/a 29 34
446 463 329 682 1,428 1,304 1,209 n/a 1,194 1,250
45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 46 47
- - 1 189 9 8 10 26 25 25
1,119 994 1,088 966 902 929 843 715 650 1,000
3,095 2,926 3,012 2,901 3,010 2,960 3,040 2,960 2.96 2.90
6,250 6,100 6,664 6,500 11,282 5,500 29,485 73,292 2,101 3,136
29 23 21 18 7 13 15 14 9 9
5.27 4.79 5.81 4.35 4.75 5.05 5.05 4.92 4.24 5
635 675 692 616 572 566 606 490 482 540
89,997 88,139 83,141 62,608 44,802 41,281 66,588 40,569 90,304 48,000
9,786 8,289 9,795 9,771 8,158 7,977 8,881 n/a 9,142 6,974
286 317 n/a n/a n/a n/a 4217 n/a 609 563
211 219 311 335 350 349 355 346 316 340
258 264 240 236 230 226 230 232 236 240
11,692 11,406 11,498 11,037 11,477 9,505 9,353 9,778 9,692 9,800
3,810 3,724 4,071 4,253 4,475 4,665 5,103 5,052 5,193 5,300



CITY OF SIDNEY, OHIO

CAPITAL ASSET AND INFRASTRUCTURE STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Function/Program

Police
Stations

Fire

Stations
Street Repair & Maintenance o
Miles of streets

Basic utility services - stormwater
1
management ")
Miles of storm sewers

L@
Parks and recreation ?

Acres of parks maintained
Acres of public grounds maintained
Neighborhood parks

Sewer

Miles of sanitary sewers

Water "
Miles of water mains

Year Ended December 31,

Schedule 15

) Source: City of Sidney, Ohio, Engineering Department.

@ Source: City of Sidney, Ohio, Appropriation Budgets for applicable years. Actual statistics for years

2013 - 2021. Estimated statistics for 2022.
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2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
109.99 110.72 110.72 110.72 110.72 110.72 110.72 110.72 111.68 141.67
76.77 77.07 77.07 77.07 77.11 77.36 78.00 78.55 79.10 79.69
456 456 456 456 456 456 456 456 506 506
250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250 250
16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 17 17
125.46 124.00 125.48 125.48 125.50 125.85 125.85 126.14 126.80 127.3
123.31 123.31 123.31 124.97 124.97 125.26 125.27 125.62 126.48 127.06
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14 East Main Street, Suite 500, Springfield, Ohio 45502
BUSINESS ADVISORS R 937.399.2000 | F 937.399.5433

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

City Council

City of Sidney, Ohio
201 West Poplar Street
Sidney, Ohio 45365

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial
statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Sidney, Ohio (the “City”), as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated July 31, 2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

cshco.com



Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Clark, faéaafe/g Hackett & Os,

Springfield, Ohio
July 31, 2023



14 East Main Street, Suite 500, Springfield, Ohio 45502
BUSINESS ADVISORS R 937.399.2000 | F 937.399.5433

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM; REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES
OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

City Council

City of Sidney, Ohio
201 West Poplar Street
Sidney, Ohio 45365

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited City of Sidney, Ohio’s (the “City”) compliance with the types of compliance requirements
identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2022. The City’s
major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City’s
federal programs.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an
opinion on the City’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material
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noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about
the City’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance, we

e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on
a test basis, evidence regarding the City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred
to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

e obtain an understanding of the City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses,
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over
compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.



Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon, dated July 31, 2023, which contained
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming
opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional
analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our
opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Clark, faéaafeﬁ, Hackett & Os,

Springfield, Ohio
July 31, 2023



CITY OF SIDNEY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

PASS-THROUGH ENTITY

FEDERAL GRANTOR/ ASSISTANCE IDENTIFYING NUMBER / TOTAL
SUB GRANTOR/ LISTING ADDITIONAL AWARD EXPENDITURES OF
PROGRAM TITLE NUMBER IDENTIFICATION FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Passed through the Ohio Department Of Education
Child Nutrition Cluster:
Summer Food Service Program for Children 10.559 N/A $ 32,855
Total Child Nutrition Cluster 32,855
Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 32,855
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Passed through the Office of Ohio Development Services Agency
Community Development Block Grant/State's Program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 A-C-19-2DR-1 31,518
Community Development Block Grant/State's Program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 A-C-21-2DR-1 160,346
Community Development Block Grant/State's Program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 A-F-21-2DR-1 140,796
Community Development Block Grant/State's Program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 14.228 A-D-21-2DR-1 9,636
Total Community Development Block Grant/State’s Program and Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 342,296
Passed through the Office of Ohio Development Services Agency
Home Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 A-C-19-2DR-2 3,780
Home Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 A-C-21-2DR-2 36,152
Total Home Investment Partnerships Program 39,932
Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 382,228
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
Passed through the Ohio Office of Criminal Justice Services
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 2021-JG-A03-6088E 10,125
Total U.S. Department of Justice 10,125
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Direct Award
Airport Improvement Program 20.106 3-39-0071-023-2020 34,594
Ariport Improvement Program 20.106 3-39-0071-026-2021 124,912
COVID-19 - Airport Coronavirus Reponse Grant Program 20.106 3-39-0071-025-2021 13,000
Total Airport Improvement Program 172,506
Passed through the Ohio Department Of Transportation
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 112179 1,040,203
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 113753 350,732
Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 1,390,935
Passed through the Ohio Department Of Transportation
Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal Transit Program 20.509 0OH-2020-005 407,433
COVID-19 - Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal Transit Program 20.509 OH-2020-064 204,049
Total Formula Grants for Rural Areas and Tribal Transit Program 611,482
Passed through the Ohio Department Of Transportation
Federal Transit Cluster:
Bus and Bus Faciliities Formula Program 20.526 OH-2020-010 68,845
Total Federal Transit Cluster 68,845
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 2,243,768
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY
Passed through the Office of Budget and Management
COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 ARPA-LFRF-NEU-2021 402,436
Passed through the office of Criminal Justice Services
COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027 2022-AR-LEP-1061 156,267
Total U.S. Department of Treasury 558,703
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES
Passed through the Area Agency on Aging, PSA 2
Aging Cluster:
Special Programs for the Aging Title Ill, Part B Grants for Supportive Services and Senior Centers 93.044 N/A 9,518
Total Aging Cluster 9,518
Passed through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
Medicaid Cluster:
Medical Assistance Program 93.778 N/A 694
Total Medicaid Cluster 694
Total U.S. Department of Health & Human Services 10,212
Total Federal Financial Assistance $ 3,237,891

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.



CITY OF SIDNEY
SHELBY COUNTY, OHIO

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
2 CFR 200.510(b)(6)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

NOTE 1 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes the federal
award activity of the City of Sidney (the “City”) under programs of the federal government for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The information on this Schedule is prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City, it is not intended to and does not present
the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the cash basis of accounting. Such expenditures
are recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles contained in in Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures may or may not be allowable or
may be limited as to reimbursement. The City has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect
cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

NOTE 3 - COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) REVOLVING LOAN PROGRAMS
WITHOUT CONTINUING COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS

The City has a revolving loan fund (RLF) program to provide low-interest loans to businesses to create
jobs for low to moderate income persons and also to lend money to eligible persons to rehabilitate
homes. The federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) grants money for these loans
to the City, passed through the Office of Ohio Development Services Agency. The City has no
outstanding loans as of December 31, 2022 and received $0 in principal repayments during 2022. The
Schedule reports loans made and administrative costs as disbursements on the Schedule. Subsequent
loans are subject to the same compliance requirements imposed by HUD as the initial loans.

These loans were collateralized by personal guarantees.
NOTE 4 - MATCHING REQUIREMENTS
Certain Federal programs require the City to contribute non-Federal funds (matching funds) to support the

Federally-funded programs. The City has met its matching requirements. The Schedule does not include
the expenditure of non-Federal matching funds.



City of Sidney

Shelby County, Ohio

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
December 31, 2022

Section | - Summary of Auditors’ Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified
Internal control over financial reporting:
e Material weakness(es) identified? No
¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified not

considered to be material weakness(es)? None reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

o Material weakness(es) identified? No
¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified not

considered to be material weakness(es)? None reported
Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? No

Identification of major programs:

Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:
ALN 20.205 — Highway Planning and Construction

Dollar threshold to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

None noted

Section lll - Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs

None noted
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